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CONG TY CO PHAN VNG CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM
VNG CORPORATION Déc 1ap - Ty do - Hanh phuc
------- THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
S6/No.: 28/2025/CBTT-VNG Independence - Freedom - Happiness
TP. H6 Chi Minh, ngdy 21 thdng 06 ndm 2023
Ho Chi Minh City, 21 june 2025

CONG BO THONG TIN BAT THUONG
EXTRAORDINARY INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

Kinh giri: Uy ban chitng khodn nha nwée
5S¢ giao dich chirng khoan Ha Noi
To: State Securities Commission of Vietnam
Hanoi Stock Exchange

38 Tén t6 chire: CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
Name of organization: VNG CORPORATION
- M3 chimg khoan: VNZ
Stock code: VNZ
- Diachi: Z06 Putmg sd 13, Phuémg Tan Thudn Déng, Quan 7, TP. H6 Chi Minh, Viét Nam
Address: Z06 Street 13, Tan Thuan Dong Ward, Districi 7, Ho Chi Minh City, Vieinam
- Bién thoai lién hé/Tel. - (028) 3962388 Fax: E-mail:

2, N6i dung théng tin cong bo/Information announcement:

Cong Ty Cé Phin VNG xin trdn trong thong bdo Bién Ban Hop va Nghi Quyét Dai Héi
Péng C6 Péng 2025 nhu dinh kém.

VNG Corporation would like fo announce Meeting minutes and Resolution 2025 AGM as
enclosed.

o, Théng tin ndy da duge cong bo trén trang théng tin dién tir ciia cdng ty tai dudmg din/This
h;fﬂrmmim:t was pubﬁ shed on the company 's weh-_.-;‘m as in the link:

a gm.html
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Ching ti xin cam két c¢ic thong tin cong bd trén déy 1a ding su thit va hoan toan chiu
trdch nhiém trude phap luat vé noi dung céc thong tin di cong bo.

We hereby undertake that the information provided is (rue and correct and we bear the full
responsibility to the laws.

Noi nhin/Recipients: PAI DIEN TO CHUC /IJ”’"
- Nhu trén/ds above; ORGANIZATION REPRESENTATIVE
- Luu véan thu/Filing/, NGUOI UY QUYEN CONG BO THONG TIN

AUTHORIZED PERSON TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION
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CONG TY CO PHAN VNG CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

VNG CORPORATION SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
CEED Poc Lap - T Do - Hanh Phue
S6: 01/2025/NQ-PHPCD Independence — Freedom — Happiness
(5]

TP. Ho Chi Minh, ngay 21 thang 06 nim 2025
Ho Chi Minh City, 21 June 2025

NGHI QUYET
CUA PAT HOI PONG €O PONG THUONG NIEN 2025
RESOLUTION
OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHODERS

Can cir:
Pursuant to:
e Ludt Doanh Nghiép 2020 v céc vin ban huéng dan thi hanh;
2020 Law on Enterprises and its guiding documents;
e Diéu Lé Cong Ty ngay 24 thang 06 nam 2022;
The Company Charter dated 24 June 2022;
e Bién Ban Hop Pai Hoi DPdng Cd Péng Thudmg Nién nam 2025 ngay 21/06/2025 cia
Céng Ty C6 Phén VNG.
The Minutes of 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders dated 21 June 2025 of
VNG Corporation.

PAT HOI PONG CO DONG CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
QUYET NGHI
THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF VNG CORPORATION
HEREBY RESOLVES

1. Théong qua Bdo cdo két qua hoat déng kinh doanh nim 2024 vi Du bdo kinh doanh theo
Té Trinh s6 01/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;
Approve the Report on 2024 Business performance resuft and the 2025 Business
Jorecast as per Proposal No. 01/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025,

2. Thong qua Ké hoach sir dung lgi nhuén giit lai theo T Trinh sb 02/2025/TTr-VNG
ngay 30/05/2025;

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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Approve the Plan for retained earnings as per Proposal No. 02/2025/TTr-VNG dated
30™ May, 2025;

Théng qua Bdo co tai chinh kiém todn nim 2024 theo T& Trinh s6 03/2025/TTr-VNG
ngdy 30/05/2025;

Approve 2024 Audited financial statements as per Proposal No. 03/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30™ May, 2025;

Théng qua Danh sach Cong ty kiém toan déc lap va Uy quyén quyét dinh cong ty kiém
toan doc 1ap cho Hoi Pbng Quén Tri theo To Trinh 56 04/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025;

Approve the List of independent auditing firms and Authorization to Board of Directors
fo appoint independent auditing firm as per Proposal No. 04/2025/TTr-VNG dated 3 i

May, 2025;

Thong qua Bédo céo ciia HDQT nam 2024 theo To Trinh s0 05/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025;
Approve the 2024 BOD's Report as per Proposal No. 05/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30"
May, 2025;

Théng qua Béo cao hoat déng nam 2024 cia Ban Kiém Sodt theo T& Trinh sb
06/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;

Approve 2024 Report of the Board of Supervisors as per Proposal No. 06/2025/TTr-
VNG dated 30™ May, 2025,

Théng qua:

Approve.

7.1  Béo cdo thuc hién phét hanh ¢é phiéu nim 2024 theo Chuong trinh phat hanh
¢b phidu cho Ngudi lao dong (“Chuong trinh ESOP”) theo Té Trinh sb
07/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;

Report on on the Implementation of the 2024 Share Issuance under the
Employee Stock Ownership Program (“"ESOP”) as per FProposal No.
07/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025;

7.2 K& hoach thuc hién Chuong trinh ESOP niim 2025 va viée iy quyén trién khai
cho HPQT theo Té Trinh sé 07/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;
2025 Plan on implementation of the ESOP and authorization to the BOD as per
Proposal No. 07/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30™ May, 2025;
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8. Thong qua viée quy dinh ty 1 s hiru nude ngodl 161 da ciia Cong Ty theo Té Trinh 56
08/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;
Approve the maximum foreign ownership limit of the Company as per Proposal
08/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025;

9. Théng qua viée diéu chinh nganh nghé kinh doanh ctia Cong Ty theo Té Trinh 50
09/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025;
Approve the amendment of Company's business lines as per Proposal 09/2025/TTr-
VNG dated 30" May, 2025,

10.  Thong qua viéc mién nhiém Thanh vién Hai Dbng Quan Tri va Ban Kiém Soét nhigm
ki 2020 — 2025 theo T&y Trinh s6 10/2025/TTr-VNG ngéy 30/05/2025, nhu sau:
Approve the removal of the members of the Board of Directors and Board of
Supervisors for office term of 2020 — 2025 as per Proposal No. 10/2025/TTr-VNG dated
30" May, 2023, as follows:

10.1  Mién nhiém Ong V& S¥ Nhién theo don tir nhiém chire danh thanh vién HDQT;
Remove Mr. Vo Sy Nhan from the BOD member position as per the resignation

letter;

10.2  Mién nhiém C}ng Pham Vin D6 La theo don tir nhiém chirc danh thanh vién

BKS.
Remove My, Pham Van Do La fiom the BOS member position as per the

resignation letter.

11.  Thong qua:
Approve:
11.1.  bhu thanh vién HDQT nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 theo Tér Trinh s6 11-01/2025/TTr-
VNG ngay 30/05/2025, nhur sau:
the election for the BOD members of office term 2025 — 2030 as per Proposal
No. 11-01/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 20235, as follows:

e Ong L& Hong Minh
Mr, Le Hong Minh
o Ong Vuong Quang Khai
Mr. Vuong Quang Khai
e Ba Christina Gaw
My, Christina Gaw
o Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat
Mr. Edphawin Jetjirawat
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11,2, vige thanh vién HDQT nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 khéng nhén thi lao theo Té Trinh
s0 11-01/2025/TTi-VNG ngay 30/05/2025,

no remuneration for the BOD member as per Proposal No. 11-01/2025/T1i-
VNG daied 30° May, 2025,

11.3. viéc bu thanh vién BKS nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 theo To Trinh sb 11-
02/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025, nhur sau:
the election for the BOS members of office term 2025 — 2030 as per Proposal
No. 11-02/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025, as follows:
e Ong Hoang Anh
My, Hoang Anh
e Ong Vi Thanh Long
Mr. Vu Thanh Long
o Ong Ngd Vi Hai Long
Mr. Ngo Vi Hai Long

11.4. wiée thanh vién BKS nhdn mic thii lao 240.000.000 VNP/nam theo T'& Trinh
50 11-02/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025.
the Board of Supervisors ' remuneration of VND240,000,000 per annum as per
Proposal No. 11-02/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025,

Thong qua viée stra dbi Didu Lé Céng Ty theo T Trinh sb 12/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025,

Approve the Company s Charter amendment as per Proposal 12/2025/TTr-VNG dated
30" May, 2025.

Théng qua viée stta déi Tén Cong Ty theo Té Trinh s 14/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025.

Approve the amendment of the Compant’s Name as per Proposal 14/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30th May, 2025.

Théng qua Quy ché ndi bd vé& Quan trj Cong Ty theo Té& Trinh sb 13/2025/TTr-VNG
ngay 30/05/2025.

Approve the Internal Corporate Governance Regulation as per Proposal 13/2025/TTr-
VNG dated 30" May, 2025.

Nghi quyét nay c6 hiéu Iyc ké tir ngay ky./.
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This resolution shall come into force from the date of signing./.
THAY MAT DAl HQI DONG CO DONG

ON BEHALF OF THE GSM

A CUQC HOP

IRMAN OF THE AGM

HONG MINH

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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CONG TY CO PHAN VNG CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM
VNG CORPORATION Déc ldp - Ty do - Hanh phiie
b SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

- Pl 6: 01/2025/BBH-DHDCB Independence-Freedom-Happiness
[€54:0]

BIEN BAN HQP PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN 2025
CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
MINUTES OF 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
VNG CORPORATION
—mees CROQED) ==---
PHAN 1: PHAN KHAI MAC
SESSION 1: OPENING

Hom nay, ngdy 21 thing 06 ndm 2025, tai VNG Campus, Z06 Dudng sb 13, Phuong Tén Thudn
Péng, Quan 7, TP. Hb Chi Minh, Céng Ty Cé Phin VNG c6 mi sb doanh nghiép 0303490096
(“Céng Ty”) tb chire Bai Hoi Bdng C6 Dong Thuémg Nién 2025 ("PHDPCD™ hoic “Dai Hji")
véi sy tham gia cta céc cd déng, trong do:
Today, on 21" June 2025, at VNG Campus, Z06 Street 13, Tan Thuan Dong Ward, District 7, Ho
Chi Minh City, Vietnam, VNG Corporation having business code (1303490096 ("' Company ") held
its 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders ("AGM™) with the attendance of shareholders,
in which:
»  Téng s6 b phin c6 quyén du hop l4: 28.736.000 ¢b phin theo Danh s4ch ¢b déng chét
ngay 27/05/2025 duge cung cdp boi Téng Cong ty Luu ky va Bl trir Ching khodn Vigt
MNam;
The total of eligible shares: 28,736,000 shares according to the final shareholder list on
27" May 2025 provided by the Viet Nam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation;
» 86 cb dong tham du tai thir diém két thic ding ky tham du (09 gity 26 phit) 12 cac ¢b dong
s& htru va dai dién 25.307.814 cb phin, chiém ty 1& 88,66% tdng s6 ¢d phén cd quyén biéu
quyét.
Upon the regisiration closing (09:26 AM), there are shareholders representing 25,307,814
shares, equivalent to 88.66% of total voting shares.

Can ctr Luét Doanh Nghiép va Diéu L& Cong Ty, cudc hop thudmg nién clia Dai Hoi Pdng Cé
Dong 2025 ctia Cong Ty 13 hop 1¢ va du didu kién tién hanh.
According to Law on Enterprises and the Company's Charter, the Company's 2025 AGM is duly

convened and gualified (o proceed.
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I Chii Toa Poan, Ban Thw Ky va Ban Kiém Phiéu:
The Meeting's Chairman, Secretary, and Vote Count Commifiee:

Chii Toa Poan/ The Meeling’s Chairman:

Cong bb viee Ong Lé Hong Minh — Chit Tich Hoi Péng Quan Tri (“HDQT”) lam Chi toa
cude hop theo quy dinh tai Dicu 146.2 Ludt Doanh Nghi¢p 2020 va Diédu 21.4 Diéu L&
Céng Ty ngay 24/6/2022.

Announce Mr. Le Hong Minh — Chairman of the Board of Directors ("BOD”), will aet as
the Chair of the meeting according to the provisions of Article 146.2 of the Enierprise Law
2020, and Article 21.4 of the Company Charier dated 24™ June 2022.

Theo dé, Chit Toa Doan gdm cd:
Accordingly, the Meeting's Presidency includes:

- Ong/Mp. 1.& Hong Minh Chut Tich HDQT — Chii Toa
Chairman of the BOD, acting as the Chairman of the
AGM

- Ong/Mr. Kelly Yin Hon Wong ~ Téng Gidm Déc
Chief Executive Officer

- Ong/Mr. Tan Wei Ming Phé Téng Giam Péc Tai Chinh
(Raymond Tan) Chief of Finance Officer

Thw Ky / Secretary:

- Ba/Ms. Dam Thi Thay - Thu ky Dai Héi/ the Secretary

Ban Kiém Phiéu bao gom/Vote Count Connittee:
- Ba/Ms. Nguyén Thi Huyén Linh - Truong Ban/Head of Vote Count Commiliee

- Ba/Ms. Nguyén Thi Thanh Thity - Thanh Vién/Member

- Bi/Ms. Cao My Huyén - Thanh Vién/Member

- Ba/Ms. Dam Thi Thiy - Thir k¥ Dai Hoi kiém Gidm sat kiém phiéu/
Secretary of the AGM cum Supervisor for the

voling count

11 Chuwong trinh Bai Hji/Agenda:
Dai Hai d& nghe dai di¢n Cong Ty trinh bay va thong qua chuong trinh Dai Hol.
The AGM has approved the agenda presented by the Company.

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD

NN

W ol



ANNUAL
u n G GENERAL
MEETING

111,

L

Phit bhiéu khai mac ciia Chi Toa cufe hop:
Opening speech by the Chairman of the meeting:

Ong L& Hong Minh — phét biéu khai mac.
My, Le Hong Minh — opening speech.

PHAN 2: DIEN BIEN DAI HOI
SESSION 2: PROGRESS OF THE MEETING

Trinh bay cic ndi dung chuwong trinh Dai Hgi:
Presentation of the proposals:

Ong Lé Héng Minh, Ong Kelly Yin Hon Wong va Ong Tan Wei Ming trinh bay Bio cdo
két qua hoat dong kinh doanh nam 2024 va Dy béo kinh doanh nam 2025;

My. Le Hong Minh, Mr. Kelly Yin Hon Wong, and Mr. Tan Wei Ming presenfed the 2024
Business performance report and the 2025 Business forecast;

Ba Dam Thij Thiy trinh bay Ké hoach sir dung lgi nhudn giit lai;
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Plan for refained earnings;

Ba Dam Thj Thiy trinh bay Béo céo tai chinh kiém todn nam 2024;
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the 2024 Audited Financial Statements,

Ba DPam Thj Thuy trinh bay T& trinh Danh sach cong ty kiém todn doc lap va Uy quyén
cho HDQT lya chon cong ty kiém toan;
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for approval of list of independent auditing

firms and authorization to the BOD for election of auditing firm,

Ba Dam Thi Thiy trinh bay Béo cdo cia HPQT nam 2024;
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the 2024 BOD's Report;

Ba Nguyén Vi Ngoc Han trinh bay B4o co hoat dong niim 2024 cia Ban Kiém Sodt;
Ms. Neuven Vi Neoc Han presented the 2024 Report of the Board of Supervisors;

Ba Dam Thi Thiy trinh bay:
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented:

7.1.  Béo cdo phat hanh ¢6 phiéu nam 2024 theo Chuong trinh phat hanh ¢b phiéu cho
Ngudi Lao Dong (“Churong trinh ESOP™); va
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12.

14.

Report of the Implementation of the 2024 share issnance under the Employee Stock
Option Plan (“ESOP"); and

7.2. K& hoach thyuc hién ESOP nim 2025 va viéc ity quyen trién khai cho HDQT.
2025 Plan on implementation of the ESOP and autharization fo the BOD.

Ba Dam Thi Thiy trinh bay Té trinh vé viée quy dinh ty 18 s& hitu nurée ngoai t6i da cia
Cang Ty;

Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for approval of the maximum foreign ownership
limit of the Company;

Ba Dam Thi Thiy trinh bay Té trinh vé vige diéu chinh nganh nghé kinh doanh;
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for approval of the amendment of Company’s

business lines;

Ba Pam Thj Thiy trinh biy T& trinh vé viée mién nhiém Thanh vién HDQT va Ban Kiém
Sodt nhiém ky 2020 - 2025;

Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for the remoaval of members of the BOD and
Board of Supervisors for the office term of 2020 - 2025;

B Dam Thi Thay trinth bay To trinh v& viée bau cir thanh vién HDQT va Ban Kiém Soat
nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 vé phé duyét thii lao cia HDQT va Ban Kiém Sodt .

Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Praposal for the election of BOD and Board of

Supervisors for the term of 2025 — 2030, and approving BOD's and Board of Supervisors'
remuneration.

Ba Pam Thi Thay trinh bay Té trinh vé viée sira doi Diéu Lé Cong Ty:
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for the amendment of the Company s Charfer,

Ba Dam Thi Thuy trinh bay Te trinh vé viée thong qua sira doi Tén Cong Ty.
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy presented the Proposal for appraval of amendment of the Company’s

Name.

Ba Cao My Huyén trinh biy To trinh v Quy ché ndi bd v& Quan tri Céng Ty.
Ms. Cao My Huyen presented the Proposal for approval of the Internal corporate

governance regulation.
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Théo lufin va biéu quyét:
Discussion and voting:

Dai Hdi tién hanh ldy y kién théng qua cdc vin dé sau diy:

The AGM proceeded 1o vote on the following matters:

A!

Y kién ¢ ding:
Shareholder’s opinion:
Theo danh mue hoi dap dinh kém./ decording fo the attached OdeA list.

Cich thive biéu quyét: Céc ¢b dong biéu quyét théng qua hé théng bidu quyét true tuyén
theo quy dinh.
Voting method: Shareholders vote through the Company's online voting system al the link:

hitps:agm.vng.com.vin within the prescribed voting time.

K&t qua biéu quyét va cic vin dé dwge thing qua:
Voting results and approved matters:

Théng qua Béo cdo két qua hoat dong kinh doanh ndm 2024 va Dy béo kinh doanh nam
2025 theo Tos Trinh sé 01/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025 voi ty 18 99,91% phiéu biéu
quyét nhét tri;

Approve the 2024 Business performence report and the 2025 Business forecast as per
Proposal No. 01/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.91% of affirmative vores,

Thong qua K& hoach sir dung loi nhudn giit lai theo T& Trinh 56 02/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025 véi ty 16 99,86% phiéu biéu quyét nhét tri;

Approve the Plan for retained earnings as per Proposal No. 02/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30"
May, 2025 with 99.86% of affirmative voies;

Théng qua Béo cdo tai chinh kiém to4n ndm 2024 theo T& Trinh 56 03/2025/TTr-VNG
ngay 30/05/2025 vai ty 18 99,92% phiéu biéu quyét nht tri;

Approve the 2024 Audited financial statements as per Proposal No. 03/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.92% of affirmative votes;

Théng qua Danh sdch cong ty kiém todn doc lip va Uy quyén cho HDQT lya chon cong
ty kiém toan theo Téx Trinh s 04/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025 véi 1y 18 99,92% phiéu
hiéu quyét nhét tri;
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Approve the List of independent auditing firms and Authorization to the BOD for selection
of auditing firm as per Proposal No. 04/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.92%

of affirmative votes;

Théng qua Béo cdo nam 2024 cha HPQT theo T& Trinh sé 05/2025/TTr-VNG npdy
30/05/2025 v ty 1é 99,92% phiéu hidu quyét nhét tri;

Approve the 2024 Report of BOD as per Proposal No. 05/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May,
2025 with 99.92% of affirmative votes;

Théng qua Bédo céo ndm 2024 cia Ban Kiém Sodt theo T& Trinh s8 06/2025/TTr-VNG
ngay 30/05/2025 vai (7 1& 99,92%phiéu biéu quyét nhit tf;

Approve 2024 Report of the Board of Supervisors as per Proposal No. 06/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.92% of affirmative voles;

Théng qua:

Approve:

7.1 Béo cdo thuc hién phat hanh cd phiéu nim 2024 theo Chuong trinh phat hanh eb
phidu cho ngudi lao dong (“Churong trinh ESOP”) theo Tér Trinh s6 07/2025/TTt-
VNG ngay 30/05/2025 véi ty 1& 99,82% phiéu bidu quyét nhit tri;
Report on the Implementation of the 2024 share issuance under the Employee Stock
Option Plan (“ESOP") as per Proposal No. 07/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May,
2025 with 99.82% of affirmative votes,;

72 Ké hoach thuc hién chuong trinh ESOP nam 2025 va viéc tiy quyén trién khai cho
HPQT theo Tér Trinh s6 07/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025 véi ty 1é 99,82%
phiv."::u bidu quyét nhét tri.

2025 implementation plan of the ESOP and authorvization to the BOD as per
Proposal No. 07/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.82% of affirmative
vofes,

Théng qua vigée quy dinh ty 1 s& hitu nude ngodi t6i da ciia Cong Ty theo T& Trinh s6
08/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025 véi ty 1 99,87% phiéu bidu quyét nhét u;

Approve the maximum foreign ownership limit of the Company as per Proposal
08/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.87% of affirmative votes;

Théng qua vige didu chinh nginh nghé kinh doanh ctia Cong Ty theo Tér Trinh sb
09/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025 véi ty 1& 99,92% phiéu biéu quyét nhét tr;

Approve the amendment of Company s business lines as per Proposal 09/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.92% of affirmative votes;
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10.  Théng qua viéc mién nhiém Thanh vién HDQT va Ban Kiém Sot nhiém ky 2020 — 2025
theo Téy Trinh s6 10/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025, nhur sau;
Approve the removal of members of BOD and Board of Supervisors for the office ferm of
2020 — 2025 as per Proposal No. 10/2025/TTr-VNG dated 30™ May, 2025, as follows:

10.1  Mién nhiém Ong V& S§ Nhén theo don tir nhiém chire danh thanh vién HDQT véi
ty 16 99,92% phiéu biéu quyét nhét tri;
The removal of Mr. Vo Sy Nhan from the BOD member position as per the
resignation letter with 99,92% of affirmative votes;

10.2  Mi&n nhiém Ong Pham Vian D6 La theo don tir nhiém chirc danh thanh vién Ban
Kiém Soat vai ty 1€ 99,92% phiéu biéu quyét nhat tri;
The removal of My. Pham Van Do La firom the Board of Supervisors member
position as per the resignation leiter with 99.92% of affirmative votes;

11.  Thoéng qua:
Approve:

11.1.  két qua bau cir thanh vién HPQT nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 nhu sau:
the election result for the BOD members of office term 2025 — 2030 as follows:

o Ong L& Hdng Minh, véi 25.286.958 phiéu tan thanh twong duong véi
99,92% sb phiéu biéu quyét cua tit ca cd déng tham du va biéu quyét tai
cudc hop.

Mr. Le Hong Minh, with 25,268,958 affirmative votes equivalent to 99.92%
of the total voting shares of participants.

e  Ong Vuong Quang Khai, véi 25.286.953 phiéu tin thinh tuong duong vai
99,92% sb phiéu bicu quyét cha tat ca cé dong tham dy va bidu quyét tai
cudc hop.

Mr. Vuong Quang Khai, with 25,286,953 affirmative vores equivalent fo
99.92% of the total voting shares of participants.

e Ba Christina Gaw, vdi 25.286.328 phiéu tin thanh twong duong v6i 99,92%
s phiéu bidu quyét ciia tit ca ¢d dong tham di va biéu quyét tai cude hop.
Ms. Christing Geaw, with 25,286,328 affirmative vores equivalent to 99.92%
of the total voting shares of participants.

e Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat, véi 25.286.328 phiéu tan thanh tuong duong voi
99,92% s6 phiéu biéu quyét cha tat ca ¢ déng tham dy va biéu quyét tai
cudc hop.

Mr. Edphawin Jetjirawat, with 25,286,328 affirmative votes equivalent to
99.92% of the total voting shares of participants.
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viéc thanh vién HDQT khéng nhan thi lao vdity 1€ biéu quyét thong qua 14 99,92%
téng s6 phiéu bidu quyét ciia tht ca b dong tham dyr va bidu quyét tai cude hop;
no remuneration for the BODwith affirmative rates of 99.92% total voting shares
of participants;

két qua bAu v bd nhiém thinh vién Ban Kiém Soat nhiégm ky 2025 — 2030 vai ty
& biéu quyét thong qua cy thé nhu sau:

the election result and appointment jor the Board of Supervisors members of office
term 2025 — 2030 as follows:

o Ong Hodng Anh, véi 25.286.924 phiéu tan thanh tuong duong véi 99,92%
56 phiéu bidu quyét cua it ca ¢b dong tham dy va biéu quyét tai cude hop.
My, Hoang Anh, with 25,286,924 affirmative votes equivalent to 99.92% of
the tolal vating shares of participants.

o Ong Vii Thanh Long, véi 25.286.958 phiéu tan thinh tuong duong vai
99,92% s6 phiéu biéu quyét ciia tit ca ¢d dong tham du va bifu quyét tai cude
hop.

M. Vi Thanh Long, with 25,286,958 affirmative votes equivalent o 99,.92%
of the total voting sharves of participants.

o Ong Ngb Vi Hai Long, vai 25.286.958 phiéu tén thanh twong dwong vai
99,92% s phiéu biéu quyét ciia tht ca b dong tham dyr va biéu quyét tai cude
hop.

Mr. Neo Vi Hai Long, with 23,286,958 affirmative votes equivalent to 99.92%
af the total vating shares of participants.

viéc thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt nhan mic thit lao 240,000,000 VNB/ndm véi ty 18
bidu quyét théng qua 1a 99,87% tdng sb phiéu bidu quyét cuia tét ca c6 déng tham
dur va bidu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve the Board of Supervisors' remuneration of VND240,000,000 per annum
with affirmative rates of 99.87% of total voting shaves of participants.

Thong qua viée stra déi Pidu Lé Cong Ty theo T& Trinh s6 12/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025 véi ty 18 99,87% phiéu biéu quyét nhét tri;
Approve the amendment fo the Company’s Charier as per Proposal 12/2025/TTr-VNG
dated 30" May, 2025 with 99.87% of affirmative votes;

Théng qua vide stra ddi Tén Céng Ty theo Té trinh s6 14/2025/TTr-VNG ngay 30/05/2025
voi ty 18 99,86% phiéu bidu quyét nhét trf.

Approve the amendment of the Compant’s Name as per Proposal 14/2025/TTr-VNG dated
30" May, 2025 with 99.86% of affirmative votes.
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Théng qua Quy ché ndi bo vé Quan trj Cong Ty theo Té Trinh sé 13/2025/TTr-VNG ngay
30/05/2025 véi ty 18 99,92% phiéu biéu quyét nhét tri.
Approve the Internal corporate governance regulations as per Proposal 13/2025/TTi-
VNG dated 30™ May, 2025 with 99.92% of affirmative votes.

PHAN 3: KET THUC DAT HOI
SESSION 3: CLOSING

Ba Nguyén Thj Huyén Linh dai dién Ban Kiém Phiéu doc bién ban kiém phiéu,
Ms. Nguven Thi Huyen Linh, on behalf of the Vote Count Committee, presenied the vote

count minlfes.

Ba Bam Thi Thay, Thu Ky Dai Héi doc bién ban hop Bai Hi trude toan thé Cd dong
tuyén b bé mac Pai Hoi.
Ms. Dam Thi Thuy, the Secretary, presenied the closing remarks meeting minutes to the

General Meeting of Shareholders.

[Phén con lai etia trang ndy duge bo trdng, Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is lefi blank intentionally / Signature page follows/
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Bién ban nay dugce Lip vao lae 12 gio 50 phit ngay 21/6/2025.
The Minutes of meeting was made at 12:50 PM on 21st June 2025.

THU KY DAI HQI THAY MAT PHDCD/ ON BEHALF OF AGM
T</7 _ CHU TQA/ CHAIRMAN
PAM THI THUY LI HONG MINH
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PHIEN THAO LUAN
DICUSSION

: VNG la cdng ty tiém nang véi 78 triéu ngueei diing tai Vigt Nam, nhung mang quang
céo trire luyén tang tredng cham, nguyén nhan do dau? Viéc phat trién Zalo OA va Mini App
con cham, trai nghiém doanh nghiép véi Zalo chua thuan tién, vi du muén mé Zalo OA doanh
nghiép phai gua nhiéu bude thi cong va hé trg khong kip the, gay khé khan cho doanh nghigp
nho, dac biét 14 vé& nang Iy cong nghé. Mac di co khodng 2-3 triéu tai khodn Zalo OA tiém
néng, zalo chi kich hoat diroc khodng 10%. Ngoai ra, cé khoang cach vé nhan thic va céng
nghé gilta cac thé hé GenX va GenY — nhém khach hang chinh clia Zalo. Cé déng mong
mudn VNG cai thién sur két hop gilra hd tro bang Al va con ngudi dé qua trinh st dung Zalo
dugc sudn sé va dang tin cay.

QUESTION: VNG is a promising company with 78 million users in Vietnam, but its online
advertising segment is growing sfowly. What are the reasons for this? The development of
Zalo OA and Mini Apps is still slow, and the husiness experiance with Zalo is not yet smooth.
For example, opening a business Zalo OA requires several manual steps, and support is not
timely, which causes difficulties for small businesses, especially those lacking fechnological
capacity. Although there are around 2-3 million potential Zalo OA accounts, Zalo has only
activated about 10% of them. Additionally, there is a gap in awareness and technology
adoption between Gen X and Gen Y, the main user grotps of Zalo. Shareholders would like
VNG lo improve the combination of Al and human support to make the Zalo experience
smoother and more reliable. ' '

Tré 1éi - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Chu tich HBQT

Chting tbi hoan toan ddng ¥ rang Zalo cén rat nhiéu du dia dé hd tro doanh nghiép Viét, dac
biét la cac doanh nghiép nhd chuwa c6 nang Iwc cong nghé cao. VNG nhan thire 1o digu nay
va dang né lirc rat ién.

Hién tai, Zalo tap trung phéat trién hé théng dai Iy va ddi thc bén ngoai dé phuc vy doanh
nghiép. Trong ddi ngQ hon 1.000 nhan sw, 70% |a k§ sw cong nghé&, 30% 1a van hanh Kinh
doanh, nhdm dam bao phat trién san phdm va hé tro tot nhéat cho khach hang doanh nghiép
théng qua cac dbi tac. V& doanh thu qudng céo, chién lroc cla VNG va Zalo 14 khdng tap
trung qua nhiéu véo quang céo trong Zalo nham dam bao tréi nghiém ngudi diing va quyén
rieng tur.

RESPONSE — Mr. Lé Hong Minh, Chairman of the Board:

We fully agree that Zalo still has a lot of room fo better support Viefnamese businesses,
especially small enterprises that do not yet have strong technological capacity. VNG is well
aware of this and is making great efforts.

Currently, Zalo is focused on developing its ecosystem of external agenits and pariners fo
serve businesses. Of our team of over 1,000 employees, 70% are engineers and 30% are in
business operations. This slructure ensures we can both develop the product and support
business customers effectively through our partner network. Regarding advertising revenue,
VNG and Zalo's strateqy is to not put too much emphasis on ads within Zalo itself, so that we
can preserve user experience and privacy.



CAU HOI: Viéc dbi tén co thay dbi mé hinh hoat déng khéng?
QUESTION: Will the name change also change the business model?

Tra lo7 - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Chti tich HDQT

V& cén ban, mo hinh hoat déng khéng thay ddi. Trudc day, Khi cac team san pham cida ching
t&i 1&n manh thi tré thanh cac mang kinh doanh (VNG hién c6 4 mang kinh doanh cét 15i).
Piém khac biét lén nhat ndm & cach sip xép va tb chire. Trirde day, nhiéu bé phan kinh
doanh nam rai rac trong céng ty me. Hién nay, hé théng dugc tai cau triic lai mot cach gon
gang hon dé cac khdi kinh doanh déu nam & cac céng ty thanh vién, Cong ty me chi git lai
moét s6 san pham con trong giai doan thi diém, va néu thanh céng thi co thé chuyén vé cty
con trong tuong lai.

N6i cach khac, khéng phai thay ddi mé hinh, ma 1a hoan thién cach t6 chire va van hanh dé
phit hop vévi dinh hweéng phét trién dai han: theo hwéng tach bach ré rang gitra 16 chire van
hanh va san xuét kinh deanh.

RESPONSE - Mr. Lé Héng Minh, Chairman of the Board:

Fundameantally, the husiness mode! itself will not change. Previously, whan our product teams
grew strong enough, they evolved into business segments (VNG currently has four core
business segments). The main difference lles in the way we organize and slructure. In the
pasl, many business unils were scallered across the parenl company, Now, we have
streamlined the system so that all business segments are housed within subsidiaries. The
parent company retains only a few products still in their pitot phase, which can later be moved
to a subsidiary if they prove successful,

In other words, it's not a change in the business model itself, but rather an optimization of our
structure and aperations to align with our long-term development goals — moving toward a
clearer separation belween business operations and business managemeril.

CAU HOI : Vi sao Cong ty déi tén thanh YNG Group? Biéu nay cé y nghia gi?
QUESTION: Why is the company changing its name to VNG Group? What is the sighfficance
of this change?

Tra loi - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Cha tich HDQT

Viéc st dung tén goi "VNG Group" phan anh dinh huéng phat trién dai han cla ching toi: tat
cd cac mang kinh doanh 16i déu sé tré thanh cac cong ty thanh vién, thay vi tap trung toan bé
hoat dong kinh doanh vao mét phap nhan duy nhat nhu hién tai. Hién nay, Zalopay da 1a mét
cong ty van hanh dbc 1ap. Trong trong lai, VNG sé& khdng truc tiép diéu hanh cac hoat dong
kinh doanh cu thé, ma vai trd nay sé do cac cong ty thanh vién dam nhan. Noéi cach khac, tén
goi mai thé hién dung tinh than va cau triic céng ty cho giai doan 10-20 nam téi day, phan
anh dung ban chat ctia cau tric hoat ddng va van hanh.

Thue té, VNG khéng dau tw qua nhigu vao viéc xay dung throng higu céng ty me, ma tap
trung vao cac thirong hiéu san pham. Nhiéu nguéi dung tham chi khong biét ai la don vi s&
hiru Zalo. Trude day, t&n goi Vinagame gén lién véi VB Lam Truyén Ky — sdn phadm dau tién
rét ndi tiéng — nén thwong hiéu céng ty va san pham gan nhu 12 mot. Nhung bay gicy didu do
da khac; thuong hiéu sdn phdm mdi 12 trong tam, mdi 13 didu xuét hién trude mét ngudi ding
hang ngay, hang gid.



Viéc thém "Group" mang y nghia kha quan trong vé chién luoc: ching t6i dang iirng budc
chuyén ddi sang mé hinh tap doan véi cac cBng ty con chuy&n trach tirng linh vue riéng biét,

RESPONSE — Mr, Lé Hong Minh, Chairman of the Board:

Using the name "VNG Group" reflects our long-term development strateqy: all core business
areas will become subsidiary companies rather than having all business operations
concentrated under a single legal entity as they are now. Currently, Zalopay is already an
independenily operaling company. Going forward, VNG itself will not direclly manage specific
business operations — this will be handled by our subsidiaries. In other words, the new name
accurately reflects our company's vision and structure for the next 10-20 years, representing
the true nature of our operations and arganizational structure.

In practice, VNG has never invested much into branding the parent company; our focus has
always been on product brands. Many users don't even know who owns Zalo. Previously, the
Vinagame name was closely tied to 6 Lam Truyén Ky — our first highly successful product
— so the company and product brand were almost one and the same. But that has changed,
these days, it's the product brands that matter most and that users see every day.

By adding "Group, " we're making a significant strategic shift: gradually transitioning to a group
model with specialized subsidiaries dedicated to each business area.

CAU HOL: Chién Iwoe dau tw cho Al clia VNG khac biét nhw thé nao so véi cac doanh nghiép
khac trén thj trveeng?

QUESTION: How is VNG’s Al investment strategy different from other companies on the
market?

Tra 1oi - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Chi tich HBQT

Sir khac biét [a VNG tap trung dau tur Al toan dién & ba I¢p: ha tang, nén téng va (ing dung.
Xét vé khoan dau tw thi I&n nhét 1a vao ha tang Al do chi phi mua chip cao.Tuy nhién day la
mang cé doanh thu va lgi nhuén ngay 1ap tire. Nam 2024-2025, déng luc phat trién cia VNG
chinh la ha tang Al - khi ra mat ha tAng Al Cloud GreenNode tai Bangkok thi chung téi da cé
dwoc hop dong Ién nhat ti triedc dén nay vai khach hang doanh nghiép.

Nén tang Al (vi dy nhir Zalo KiLM hay nhw hé théng GreenNode cung cép dich vu Al dira trén
cac mé hinh ngén ngd Ién) dwoe dau tu than trong hon vi chiva tao ra doanh thu ngay. Chiing
16i tiép can Al véi mt tinh than cén trong va thue chét, Hign tai, chi cé mot vai eong ty rat 1on
nhw OpenAl hay Microsoft bat dau ghi nhan doanh thu 1 mé hinh ngén ngir I&n (LLM), trong
khi ngay cé nhitng tén tudi nhu Google hay Meta cling chwa thé tao ra lgi nhuén du da dau
tu hang chyc ty dé la. Véi muc tiéu dam bao hidu qua tal chinh va co loi nhuan trd lai, VNG
s& khéng dau tw dan trai. Thay vao do, chiing téi (ru tién cdc linh vire cé thé ting dung ngay
trong san pham va van hanh, khuyen khich dgi ngl khai thac Al dé tang hiéu suat. Véi ching
t6i, digu quan trong khéng chi la dau tv — ma 1a dau tw dung chd, kién trl theo dubi va phat
huy thé manh céng nghé |6i ma VNG da xay ding sudt 20 ndm qua. Ching t6i tin v& 18u dai,
nguyén tic nay sé tao ra ket qua khac biét vai cac doanh nghiép khac trén thi trudng.

RESPONSE — Mr. Lé Héng Minh, Chairman of the Board:

%\\

(& <28\



The difference is that VNG invests in Al across all three layers: infrastricture, platforms, and
applications. The largest spending is on Al infrastructure because chip procurement is very
expensive but this area also yields immediate revenue and profif. In 2024-2025 Al
infrastructure is a key growth driver for VNG. For instance, after launching our Al Cloud
GreenNode in Bangkok, we secured the largest enterprise conlract in our company's history.

With Al platforms, such as Zalo KiLM or the Al services GreenNode provides through large
language models, we take a much more cautious and measured approach, as they do not
generale immediale income. Even major companies like Google or Meta have not yet seen
profits from LLMs despile investing tens of biflions of dollars. Only a few giants like OpenAl
and Microsoft have begun to eamn revenue from large language models. Our priority is
ensuring financial efficiency and relurn on investment, so we avoid spreading our capital foo
thin, Instead, we focus on areas that can be immediately applied fto our products and
operations to enhance performance.

For VNG, it's not just about investing; it's about investing in the right places, staying persistent,
and leveraging the core technology strengths we've builf up over the past 20 years. We believe
this principle will eventually creale a distinct competitive edge over other companies in the
markel.

CAU HOI ; Zalopay tang tredng manh nhung khi nao sé dat diém hoa vén, VNG sé co ké
hoach gi tiép theo?

QUESTION: Zalopay is growing strongly — when will it break even, and whal are VNG's next
plans?

Tra loi - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Cha tich HDQT

Bing 1a thi treding thanh toan sé canh tranh rat khéc liét nhung sau 7-8 ném, hién chi con lai
khéng nhidu DN tap trung vao thanh toan va dich vy tai chinh s8. Hién nay, Zalopay tu tin la
irng dung thanh toan Top 2 trén thi truérng, sau MoMo. Tam nhin clia chiing 16i 14 trong treng
lai, nguedri diing o thé ding Zalopay dé thanh toan dwgc khong chi & Viét Nam ma con & bat
¢l dau, boi nhu cau do that su rat lén,

Trai nghiém thanh toan clia Zalopay dugc danh gia thudc hang tét nhét thi trudng hién nay.
Su tién loi vAn ludn 1a yéu 16 thuyét phuc va gilr chan khach hang lau dai. Tir nam 2022 dén
nay, VNG da giam mrc dau tw cho Zalopay nhuwng Zalopay van duy tri tang triréng manh mé,
khéng phu thudc nhiéu vao von dau te méi. Digu nay cho thay sy tang truéng cia ZLP 1a bén
viing. Muc tiéu la Zalopay sé dat diém hoa vén sém la vao cudi ném 2026, néu cham thi mudn
nhét la 6 thang sau do.

RESPONSE — Mr. Lé Héng Minh, Chairman of the Board:

The digital payments and financial services sector is highly compelitive. After 7-8 years, only
a few companies remain focused on this field. Zalopay is now confidently one of the top two
payment apps on the market, alongside MoMo. Our long-term vision is for people to be able
to use Zalopay not only in Vietnam bul anywhere they travel, because that's what customers
truly need.

User experience on Zalopay is among the best in the market. Convenience is what keeps
customers loyal over time. Since 2022, VNG has reduced its investments inlo Zalopay, but



the platform has maintained sirong growth without relying on new capital. This proves
Zalopay's growth is suslainable. Our target is for Zalopay to reach its break-even point as
early as the end of 2026, or by mid-2027 at the latest.

CAU HOI: Tride xu hiréng nhidu doanh nghiép ap dung Al va cét gidm nhan si, VNG ¢b ké
hoach gl lién quan dén van de nay?

QUESTION: Given the current trend where many companies are adoplting Al and cutting jobs,
what is VING's plan on this issue?

Tra I&i - 6ng Lé Hong Minh, Chil tich HDQT

VNG khoéng ¢6 chién lvgc hay ké hoach cét gidm lao dong do ap dung Al Quan didm XKUYEN
sudt cla chiing tai la Al khéng thay thé con ngudi ma la cong cu hd trer tang hidu suat gitp
cbng viéc thue hién tdt hon, nhanh hon, higu qua hon va cai thién chat lwgng cude séng.

Chung t6i khong tin rang Al s& dan dén that nghiép hang loat. Piéu nay cé thé ding trong
pham vi nhé vi du nhuw cat gidm nhan sy & nhitng céng viéc 13p lai va dé tw déng héa. Vi du,
cach day 10 ndm, VNG co khoang 300 nhan vién phuc vy cho khach hang mang Game, dén
nay, dii s lwgng khach hang tang manh gép 5-6 lan, nhung bé phan chim séc khach hang
chi con vai chuc ngudi nher (rng dung viéc ty déng hoa.

Niem tin cia VNG 14 Al s& giap cho néng lyc [am viée clia con ngudi tré nén réng hon, tét
hon va nhirng céng viéc méi sé duge tao ra nhiéu hon.

RESPONSE — Mr. Lé Héng Minh, Chairman of the Board:

VNG has no strategy or plan to lay off due to Al adoption. Our consistent view is that Al is not
meant to replace humans but to help enhance efficiency, enabling work to be done better,
faster, more effectively, and improving quality of life.

We don't believe Al will cause mass unemployment. It may impact roles that involve highly
repetitive and easily automated fasks. For instance, 10 years ago, VNG had around 300
ctistomer service employees in our gaming segment. Even though our customer base is 5-6
times farger today, we only need a few dozen customer service staff thanks to automation.

VING firmly believes Al will broaden people’s capacity to work better, and that new types of
jobs will emerge as a result.

CAU HOL: Chi tiét vé chwong trinh ESOP ciia VNG?
QUESTION: Could you provide details about VNG's ESOP program?

Tré I6i — ba Bam Thj Thiy, Trudng Bé Phan Phap Ly

V& churang trinh ESOP hién nay, méi ndm ngudi lao déng sé& durgc cap quyén mua cb phidu
dira trén két qua cong viéc dat duoe. Quygn mua nay dugc cap sé thyc thitrong vang 3 nam,
1/3 56 quyén mua dugc thiec thi m8i ndm. Cang ty s& tdng hop s6 liong cb phiéu ma ngudi
lao déng da thue hign dé dang ky va cap cd phidu cho ngudi lao dong theo tirng nam.

Dé phii hgp hon véi thong 12 thi trieeng va gitip don gian héa quy trinh dang ky, quan Iy cé
phiéu phat hanh cho nguoi lao dong, Céang ty dang nghién ctru d& trinh HDQT phé duyét
Chinh sach ESOP mai, dw kién s& duge ban hanh va &p dung vao cudi ndm 2025. Theo de,



toan bd quyén mua cd phiéu sé& dugc cip va thire thi ngay. Sau d6, Cong Ty sé tién hanh Ia
viée voi Téng cong ty I ky va bl triv chirng khoan Viét Nam dé khéa giao dich sb chiing
khodn nay. M&i nam, sé gidi téa cho 1/3 sb chirng khoan, va sau 3 nam, toan b sb ching
khodn cap cho ngudi lao déng sé khong con bj han ché giao dich.

V&i nguréi lao dong nghi vie trong thoi gian s cb phiéu bi han ché giao dich, sb lwgng cb
phiéu dang bi han ché giao dich s& bi thu hdi (ban lai cho Céng Ty) véi gia mua bang gia
ngudi lao ddng da mua.

RESPONSE — Ms. Pam Thi Thuy, Head of Legal:

Under the current ESOP program, each year employees receive stock oplions based on their
performance. These options can be exercised over three years with one-third exercisable per
year. The company will consolidate exercised options annually and issue shares accordingly.

To align better with market practices and simplify the registration and management of shares
issued to employees, the company is preparing to present a new ESOP policy for approval by
the Board of Directors. The new policy is expected lo take effect by the end of 2025. Under
this plan, all stock aptions will be granted and exercised immediately. VNG will then work with
the Vielnam Securities Depository And Clearing Corporation to lock these shares so that one-
third is unlocked annually, fully releasing all restrictions after three years.

If an employee resigns during the lock-up period, any locked shares will be repurchased by
the company at the original purchase price.

CAU HOI: Chi tiét nhang diém stra dbi tai dieu 18 Cong ty?
QUESTION: Could you give more defails about the amendments to the company's Charter?

Tra loi — ba Bam Thi Thay, Trwrong Bé Phan Phap Ly

Céng ty da tién hanh ra soat va thuc hién chinh stra mot sé diém trong Piéu 1& nham dam bao
tinh théng nhat xuyén suét toan bd van ban, Cu thé, cd mét s6 diéu chinh nhé ddi véi phan
Pinh nghia, nhir don vj tién té cta Viét Nam duoc ghi 1a “Bong”, nhwng tai ban Bieu 1& mai,
Céng ty da théng nhat sir dung “VND", bd sung Iam rd hon dinh nghiia vé "Chuén muc ké toén
Viét Nam'.

Ngoai ra, Cang ty cling co cac diéu chinh quan trong nhw:

= Quy dinh vé& Ban Téng giam déc: Luat doanh nghiép hién hanh chwa cé quy dinh cu
thé v& quy&n va trach nhiém ctia Ban Téng giam déc; Tuy nhién, véi VNG, Ban Téng
giam déc dong vai tro quan trong trong Biéu hanh doanh nghiép, dong thévi trong thuc
tién Céng Ty da gap tinh hudng, Téng giam déc khong thé thure hién duoc dugc nhiém
vu, trong khi Diéu l& va Luat doanh khong co quy dinh dé giai quyét tinh hudng nay.
Vi vay, Cong Ty dé xuat stra ddi dé ghi nhan co ché xit Iy trong tinh huéng Téng giam
déc khong thé thye hién nhiém v thi Hoi déng quén tri cd thé lra chon mét trong cac
Phé téng giam déc hodc thanh vien HBQT dé tam thai thire hién cac nhiém vu cla
Téng giam déc.

« Céng ty ciing dé xudt mot sb van dé trudc day thude tham quyén cla DHBECB, Hol
dbng quén tri, sé dwoc phan cap cho cac cép thap hon, dé dam bao tinh linh hoat
trong viéc théng qua cac quyét dinh trong hoat ddng quan Iy hang ngay, ma van dam
bdo quy dinh ca phap luat. Vi du nhu mot sé giao dich M&A véi gia tri nhé, hoat déng
mua ban tai san ndi bo.



RESPONSE — Ms. Bam Thj Thay, Head of Legal:

The company conducted a review and made some updates fo its Charter to ensure
consistency throughout the document. Specifically, there were minor edits to the Definitions
seclion, for example, the Vietnamese currency is now uniformly referred to as "VND," and the
definition of “Vietnamese Accounting Standards” was further clarified.

Additionally, the company introduced mare significant amendments, including:

» Provisions regarding the Board of Management: Current enterprise law is sifent on the
rights and responsibilities of the Board of Management, However, at VNG, this body
plays a key role in operations. Given praclical situations where the CEO may be unable
to fulfill their duties with no clear mechanism under the existing Charfer, VNG proposed
allowing the Board of Directors to appoint one of the Vice Presidents or a Board
member fo temporarily assume the CEQ's duties.

* Delegating authority for some decisions: Certain matters thal previously required
approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders or the Board of Directors, for
example, small-value M&A lransactions or internal asset purchases and sales wifl now
be delegated to lower management levels. This ensures guicker decision-making in
day-to-day operatlions while remaining compliant with legal requirements.

Do théi gian co han, Cong ty sé giri kém bang so sanh chi tiét nhitng thay déi qua email dé
Quy Cd ddng thuan tién tham khao.

Due to time constraints, the company will also send a comparative table of the amendments
via emaif so that shareholders can review the detailed changes al their convenience.
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¥ CO PHAN VNG CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM

TORPORATION Bic lip - Tw do - Hanh phic
12025/BBKP-DHDCD SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
Independence-Freedom-Happiness
CFED

TP. Ho Chi Minh, ngay 21 thang 06 ndm 2025
Ho Chi Minh City, dated 21" June 2025

BIEN BAN KIEM PHIEU
THONG QUA CAC VAN BE TAI
PAI HOI PONG CO DONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
CUA CONG TY CO PHAN VNG

MINUTES OF VOTE COUNTING
APPROVAL ON MATTERS IN
2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF
VNG CORPORATION

Hém nay, ngay 21 thang 06 néim 2025 tai VNG Campus, 206 Dutmg s6 13, Phutmg T4n Thudn
E}ﬁng, Quén 7, TP. HO Chi Minh — Tru sér chmh cua Cong T}f Cé Phan VNG (“Cong Ty”) ¢6
Gifiy chimg nhan dang ky doanh nghiép 50 0303490096 to chire Dai Hoi Déng Cb Dong
Thudmg Nién nam 2025 (“Pai HHi”) theo Nghi quyel Hoi Boéng Quan Tri (“HPQT”) sb
04/2025/NQ-HPQT-VNG ngay 05/05/2025.

Today, on 217 June 20235, at the VNG Campus, Z06 Street 13, Tan Thuan Dong Ward, District
7, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, VNG Corporation (“Company”) having business code
0303490096 held Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2024 ("AGM”) by the Resolution
of the Board of Directors ("BOD") No 04/2025/NQ-HDQT-VNG dated May 03 2025.

Pai Hoi duoc t6 chic véi hinh thic hop tryc tiép va true tuyén tai dudng din
hmr-. /fagm.vng.com.vn, tt ca Cé Pdng du hop thue lue.n bidu qu 1 théng qua hé thﬁng truc
tuyen tai dudng dén htips Hagm vng.com.vn. Céc phlf:u biu quyet duoe kiém bai Ban Kiém
Phiu va Giam sat kiem phi¢u theo chap thuin ciia Pai Hoi Dong C6 Déng (“DHDPCD™). Theo
do, cic thanh vién lién quan va chiu trach nhiém trong viée dam bao tinh trung thue, chinh xéc
clia qué trinh va két qua kiém phiéu Pai Hoi bao gdbm nhu sau:

The AGM is held as a physical and online meeting at the link https.//agm.vng.com.vn, and all
Shareholders shall exercise their voting right through the online system at the link
https:agm.vng.comvn. The voting slips are counted by the Vote Count Committee for the
voting couni as designated by the General Meeting of Shareholders (“GMS"). Accordingly,
the members involved and responsible for ensuring the honesty and accuracy of the process
and results of vote counting at the AGM include the following:

1. Céc thanh vién HPQT Cong Ty:
Members of the Company’s BOD:

- Ong L& Hong Minh — Cha Tjch HPQT;
My Le Hong Minh — Chairman of the BOD;

- Ong Vuong Quang Khai — Thanh Vién HDQT;
Mr Vuong Quang Khai — member of the BOD;

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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- Ba Christina Gaw — Thanh Vién HPQT Ddc Lip;
Ms Christinag Gaw — independent member of the BOD;

- Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat — Thanh Vién HDQT Bgc Lap.
My Edphawin Jetjirawat — independent member of the BOD;

Céc thanh vién Ban Kiém Phiéu;
Vote Count Comntittee members:

- Ba Nguyén Thi Huyén Linh — Truémg Ban Kiém Phiéu;
Ms. Nguyen Thi Huyen Linh — Head of Vote Count Committee,
- BaNguyén Thi Thanh Thily — Thanh vién Ban Kiém Phiéu;
Ms. Neuyen Thi Thanh Thuy — Member,
- Ba Cao My Huyén — Thanh vién Ban Kiém Phiéu.
Ms. Cao My Huyen — Member.

Nguoi Gidm sat kiém phiéu: Ba Dam Thi Thiy — Thu ki Dai Hoi kiém Gidm sat kiém
phiéu.

Supervisor for the voting count; Ms. Dam Thi Thuy — Secretary of the AGM cum
Supervisor for the voting count,

THONG TIN CHUNG VE KET QUA KIEM PHIEU
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT VOTE COUNTING RESULTS

Tong sb cb dong tai ngy ding ky « cubi cting (27/05/2025) dé tham gia Dgi Hoi duge t

chirc ngay 21/06/2025 la: 2.267 cb dong sé hitu va dai dign s& hitu 28.736.000 ¢b phin
trrong (mg véi vén diéu 18 clia VNG 14 287.360.000.000 dong. Trong dé:
The itotal number of shareholders at the last regisiration date (27" May, 2023) to
participate in the AGM held on 21" June, 2023 is: 2,267 Shareholders owned
28,736,000 voiing shares and equivalent to VNG's charter capital is VND
287,360,000,000. In which:

- Sb cb dong co quycn blcu quym 2.267 ¢b dong so hitu va dai dién s¢ hiu
28.736.000 co phan co quyen bidu quyét cia Cong Ty (01 ¢ phin c6 quyén biéu
qu}fe’t =01 phiéu biéu quyét);

Number of shareholders with voting rights: 2,267 shareholders own 28,736,000
voting shares of the Company (01 voting share = 01 vote);

- Sb cb phin khong c6 quyén bidu quyét: 0 c6 phan,
Number of shares without voting rights: (0 share.

Phuong thiic biéu quy::t duoe thyuc hién théng qua hé théng bo phiéu trirc tu:.ff:-n cla
Cong Ty tai dudng dan: hitps://agm.vng.com.vn trong khoang thoi gian lay y kién ¢d
dong theo quy dinh.

Method of voting: through the online voting system of the Company af the link:
hitps:/aem.vag.com.vn within the time period for collecting shareholder commients
according to regulations determined.

Sau qua trinh biéu quyét hé thong bidu quyet trye m}ren cua Cong Ty ghi nhén: Ton g
$6 ¢b dong da tham gia blcu quyet 1a 134 b dong, s hitu va dai dign 25.307.814 cd
phiin chiém 1 18 88,66% tong s6 c6 phin ¢6 quyén biéu quyét.
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After the voting process, the Company's online voting system recorded: Total number
of shareholders voting is. 134 shareholders owned 25,307,814 voling shares
accownting for 88.66% total voting shares.

(Chi tiet Danh séch cé dong tham gia bicu quyét dinh kém Bién ban nay)
(The list of shareholders participating in voting is attached fo this Minute)

II. KET QUA KIEM PHIEU POI VOI TUNG NQI DUNG

VOTING RESULTS

I; Thing qua Béo cio két qua hoat dong kinh doanh niim 2024 vi Dy béoe kinh doanh

nam 2025.

Approve the 2024 Business performance report and the 2025 Business forecast.

Két qud bidu quyét nhw sau:
Voting resuft:

- Téng s6 phidu biéu quyét:
Total votes:
- S84 phiéu hop 1é:
Number of valid votes:
- 86 phiéu khong hop 1¢:
Number of invalid vofes:
- 86 phiéu tan thanh:
Number of affirmative votes:
- S0 phiéu khong tan thanh:
Number of dissenting votes:
- 86 phiéu khéng c6 ¥ kién:

Number of votes with no
apinion:

25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phmu dat ty 1&¢ 100% trén tcmg; 56 1_:-hreu
biéu quyét ciia cb dong du hop

25,307 814 votes, accounting for 100% of tolal voting
shares of participants

0 phidu, dat tj 1& 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét
clia cb dong dwr hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

25.286.089 phiéu, dat ty 1& 99,91% trén tbng s6 phiu
biéu quyét cia cb dong du hop

25,286,089 vofes, accounting for 99.91% of fotal voting
shares of participanis

0 ph!cu dat ty 1& 0,00% trén téng s6 phiéu biéu quyét
cua cd ddng du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

21.725 phmu, dat ty 1& 0,09% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét cia eb dong du hop

21,725 vates, accounting for 0.09% of total voting
shares of participants

Chép thuén Béo céo két qua hoat déng kinh doanh nam 2024 va Dy béo kinh doanh
n#im 2025 véi ty 18 bidu quyét théng qua la 99,91% tdng s6 phiéu biéu quyét clia tat ca
cd déng tham dy va biéu quyét tai cudc hop.

Apprave the 2024 Business performance report and the 2025 Business forecast with
affirmative rates of 99.91% of toial voting shares of participants.

Théng qua Ké hoach sir dung lgi nhuin giir lai.
Approve the Plan for retained earnings.

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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Két qua biéu quyét nhur sau:
Voting resuli:

- Téng sb phiéu bidu quyét:
Total votes:

- S0 phien hop 1&:
Number of valid votes:

- 86 phiéu khéng hop 1¢:
Number of invalid votes:

- §6 phiéu tan thanh:
Number of affirmative

voles:
- 86 phiéu khéng tin thanh:

25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 hléu dat ty 1& 100% trén tong 50 phiéu bién
quyét ctia cd ﬁﬂng dur hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

0 phleu, dat t¥ 1€ 0,00% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét cia
c6 dong du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participanis

25.273.426 phlcu dat ty 1¢ 99,86% trén tdng sd phiéu biéu
quyét clia co dong dy hop

25,273,426 vores, accounting for 99.86% of total voting
shares of participants

10 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,00% trén tong so phiéu biéu quyét clia
b dong du hop

Number of dissenting 10 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of

voles!
- 80 phiéu khong cd y kién:

Number of votes with no
opinion:

participanfs
34.378 phlcu dat ty 1& 0,14% trén tong s6 phidu biéu

quyét ctia cb dong dy hop
34,378 voies, accounting for 1. 14% of total voting shares

of participants

Chép thudn Ké hoach st dung lgi nhugn gilrlai voi ty 1€ bidu quyct théng qua la 99,86%
tbng s6 phiéu bidu quyét ciia tit ca c6 dong tham dy va biéu quyét tai cude hop.
Approve the Plan for refained earnings with affirmative rates of 99.86% of total voting

shares of participants.

3 Théng qua Bdo cdo tai chinh kiém tedn nim 2024.
Approve 2024 Audited financial statements.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau;
Voting result:

- Téng sb phiéu biéu quyét:

Tq:'a! Vvores!
- 8 phiéu hop I&;

Number af valid votes:
- S6 phiéu khong hop 18
Number of invalid votes;

- 86 phidu tan thanh:

25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 18 100% trén téng s phiéu biéu
quyét cia cb déng dy hop
25,307.814 votes, accounting for 100% of ioial voting

shares of participants

0 phléu dat ty 16 0,00% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét ctia
¢t dong du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voting shaves of

participants
25.286.968 phleu dat t¥ 16 99,92% trén tdng s& phiéu biéu

quyét cta cd dong du hop
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Number of affirmative 25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of tofal voting

votes: shares of participants

- Sé phiéu khong tan 0 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong s phiéu biéu quyét clia

thanh: cb déng dir hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total veting shares of

Number of dissenting participants
vores.

- 86 phiéu khong co § 20.846 phicu, dat ty 1 0,08% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét

kién: cua co dong du hop

20,846 votes, accounting jor 0.08% of total voting shares

Number of votes with no of participanis
opinion:

Chép thudn Bdo cdo tai chinh kiém todn nam 2024 voi ty 18 bidu quyeét thong qua 1a
99,92% tong sb phiéu bidu quyét cia tit ca cb dong tham dy va bicu quyét tai cude
hop.

Approve 2024 Audited financial statements with affirmative rates of 99.92% of total
voting shares of participants.

Thing qua Danh sich cong ty kiém todn dje lip va Uy quyén cho HPQT lya chon
cong ty Lkiém tosn,

Approve the List of independent auditing firms and authorization fo the BOD for
election of auditing firm.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau;
Voting result:

- Téng s6 phidu biéu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes
Total vores:

- Sb phiéu hep 1é: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty ¢ 100% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu

quyét etia ¢d dong dy hop

Number of valid votes: 25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voiing

shares of participants

s6 phiéu khong hop 1&: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong sé phiéu bidu quyét cia

cd dong du hop
Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants )
- S6 phiéu tan thanh: 25.286.958 phiéu, dat ty 18 99,92% trén tong sb phiéu bieu

quyét ciia co déng du hop

Number of affirmative 25,286,958 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting

vores: shares of participants

- Sb phiéu khong tan thanh: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1€ 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét cia

cd déng duy hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
g : g

votes: participants

- Sb phibu khong c6 ¥ kién: 20.856 phiu, dat ty 1€ 0,08% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét

Number of votes with no cia cd déng dur hop

opinion. 20,856 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares

of participants
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Chép thuén Danh sich cong ty kiém toan doc lap va Uy quyén cho HRQT lya chon
cong ty kiém todn vdi ty 18 bidu quyét théng qua la 99,92% tdng s6 phiéu bidu quyét
clia tht ca cb dong tham du va hidu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve List of independent auditing firms and Authorization to the BOD for election
of auditing firm with affirmative rates of 99.92% of total voting shares of participants.

5. Théng qua Béo cdo nam 2024 ciia Hoi Péng Quién Tri.
Approve the 2024 Report of the Board of Directors.

K&t qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Vaoting result:

- Téng sb phiéu bidu quyét:  25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes

Total votes:
- Sb phiéu hop l&: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 13 100% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét ctia o dong di hop
Number of valid voles: 25 307,814 votes, accounting for 100% eof total voting

o shares of participants . ) i '
- Sb phiéu khéng hop 1é: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu bifu quyét

cia cb dong du hop
Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares aof
participants
- S6 phiéu tén thanh: 25.286.968 phiéu, dat ty 1& 99,92% trén téng sé phiéu

biéu quyét cia ¢d dong du hop
Number of  affirmative 25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting

vares: shares of parficipants
- Sb phiéu khong tan thanh: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén thng s6 phiéu biéu quyét
ctia co dong du hop
Number of dissenting votes: ( votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

- 86 phiéukhong c6 y kién: 20.846 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,08% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét ciia cd dong du hop
Number of votes with no 20,846 votes, accounting for 0.08% of toral vofing
opinion: shares of participants

Chép thudn Béo céo nam 2024 ciia HDQT véi ty 1¢ biéu quyét thong qua la 99,92%
tbng s6 phidu bilu quyét cla tét ¢ ¢d ddng tham dy va biéu quyét tai cude hop.
Approve the 2024 Report the BOD with affirmative rates of 99.92% of total voting
shares of participants.

6.  Thong qua Bdo cfo hogt djng nim 2024 ciia Ban Kiém Sodt,
Approve 2024 Report of the Board of Supervisors.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting resull;

- Téng sb phiéu biéu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes
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Total votes:
- 56 phiéu hop 1&:
Number of valid votes:
S6 phiéu khong hop L&:
Number of invalid votes:
- 86 phiéu tan thanh:
Number of affirmative

votes;
- 86 phigu khéng tan thanh:

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1& 100% trén tong sé phiéu biéu
quyét ctia co dong dy hop
25.307.814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participan(s

phIéu dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong s0 phiéu biéu quyét cia
ca dong dy hop
0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants
25.286.968 ’fhiéu, dat ty 1€ 99.92% trén tong sd phiéu biéu
quyét chia ¢ dong dir hop
25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting
shares of participants
0 piueu dat 1y 1€ 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét cua
¢b déng dy hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voling shares of

vefes.! i )
- 86 phiéu khéng c6 ¥ kién:

pai ncrpanrs
20.846 phidu, dat ty 1& 0.08% trén téng s phiéu bidu quyét
clia ¢o dong dy hop

Number of votes with no 20,846 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voling shares

opinion:

of participants

Chép thuan Béo cdo hoat dong nam 2024 clia Ban me Sodt vai ty 1€ bidu (.]l.l}-’t‘t théng
qua 14 99.92% téng sb phléu biéu quyét cia tét ca cd dong tham du va biéu quyal tai

cube hop.

Approve 2024 Report of the Board of Supervisors with affirmative rates of 99. 92% of
total voting shares of participants.

T. Thong qua:
Approve:

71  Béo cdo thie hién phat hinh ¢ phiéu nim 2024 theo Chwong trinh phit hanh cb
phiéu cho ngwii lao dong (“Chuwong trinh ESOP”). :
Repori on the Implementation of the 2024 share issuance under the employee stock

ownership plan (“ESOP”).

Két qua biéu quyét nhuw sau:
Voting result:

- Téng sb phiéu biéu quyét:

Tatal votes:
- 86 phiéu hop 18&:

Number of valid votes:

- 86 phidu khong hop 1¢:

25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1& 100% trén tong s6 phidu biéu
quyét cia co déng dy hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of rotal voting
shares of participanis

0 Phieu dat ty 18 0,00% trén tng sb phiéu biéu quyét cia

¢t dong du hop
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Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

S phiéu tan thanh: 25.261.544 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 99,82% trén tong s6 phifu biéu
quyét ciia co dong dy hop

Number of affirmative 23,261,544 votes, accounting for 99.82% of total voting

vores: shares of participants

4 phiéu khong tan thanh: 72 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong sb phidu bidu quyét cia
cd déng du hop

Number of dissenting 72 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of

vores: participants

$6 phiéu khong c6 ¥ kién: 46.198 phiéu, dat ty 16 0,18% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét
clia ¢b déng du hop

Number of votes with no 46,198 votes, accounting for 0.18% of total voting shares

opinion: af participants

Chép thuan Béo cdo thye hign phat hanh cb phjéu niim 2024 theo Chuong trinh phat
hanh ) phiéu cho ngudi lao déng véi ty 1¢ bicu quyét thing qua la 99,82% tong s0
phiéu biéu quyét ctia tit ca cb dong tham dy va bicu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve Report on on the Implementation of the 2024 share issuance under the ESOP

with affirmative rates of 99.82% of total voting shares of participants.

K& hoach thye hién chuong trinh ESOP niim 2025 v vige ity quyén tricn khai cho

HDPQT.
2025 Plan on implementation of the ESOP and authorization to the BOD.

K&t qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting result:

Téng sb phiéu biéu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

Total votes:

S6 phiéu hop 1&: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1& 100% trén tong 56 phigu biéu
quyét ctia cb déng du hop

Number of valid votes: 25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

S6 phiéu khong hap 1&: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1 0,00% trén tong sé phiéu bidu quyét cua

cd dong du hop

Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voiing shares af
participants

S6 phiéu tén thanh: 25.261.621 phiéu, dat ty 18 99,82% trén tdng sb phiéu biéu

quyét eiia co dong du hop

Number of affirmative 25,261,621 votes, accounting for 99.82% of total voling

votes: sharves of participants

S6 phifu khong tan thanh: 0 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,00% trén tdng sb phiéu biéu quyét ctia
co dong dw hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of toial voting shares of

vofes: participants

Sé phidu khong c6 y kién: 46.193 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,18% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét
ctia c6 dong dy hop
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Number of votes with no 46,193 votes, accounting for 0.18% of total voting shares

opinion:

of participants

Chép thudn Ké hoach thue hién chwong trinh ESOP nZim 2025 va viéc uy qu},ren trién
khai cho HDQT véi ty 16 biéu quyét théng qua la 99,82% tdng s phicu bicu quyet cua
tht ca b dong tham duy va biéu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve 2025 Plan on implementation of the ESOP and authorization to the BOD with
affirmative rates of 99.82% of total voting shares of participants.

8. Théing qua viée quy dinh ty 18 s& hiru nwée ngoai ti da cia Cong Ty.
Approve the maximum foreign ownership limit of the Company.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Foting resulf:

Téng s6 phiéu bidu quyét:
Toral votes:
- 4 phiéu hop 1&:

Number of valid votes:

- 86 phiéu khong hop 1¢:
Number of invalid votes:

- 86 phiéu tan thanh:
Number of affirmative
voles.

- 80 phiéu khéng tan thanh:
Number of dissenting
vofes. '

- 86 phiéu khong cd ¥ kién:

Number of votes with no
opinion:

25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 18 100% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét ctia ¢d déng du hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

0 lplnéu dat ty 1& 0,00% trén téng s phiéu bidu quyét cia
co dong diyr hop

0 vetes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

25, 275 781 phiéu, dat ty 1& 99,87% trén tdng s& phiéu biéu
quyét ctia ¢o dong du hop

25,275,781 votes, accounting for 99.87% of total voting
shares of participants

5 Phlﬂu dat ty 18 0,00% trén tong s0 phiéu bidu quyét cua
co dong dy hop

35 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voting shares of
pai ncrpﬂnrs

32.028 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,13% trén tong sb phiéu bidu quyét
ctia cd dong dw hop

32,028 votes, accounting for 0.13% of total voling shares
of participants

Chap thuéin vige quy dinh ty 1€ s& hitu nude ngoai tbi da cia Cong Ty véi ty I¢ bifu
quyét théng qua la 99,87% tong so phicu biéu quyét ciia tit ¢4 cb dong tham du va biéu
quyét tai cude hop.

Approve the maximum foreign ownership limit of the Company with affirmative rates
of 99.87% of total voting shares of parlicipants.

Théng qua vige diéu chinh nginh nghé kinh doanh ciia Céng Ty.
Approve the amendment of Company’s business lines.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
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Voting result:

- Téng sb phiéu bidu quyét:
Total votes:

- S6 phiéu hop 1&:

Numiber of valid vafes:

- 80 phiéu khong hop 1¢;
Number of invalid votes:

- S phiéu tén thanh:
Number of affirmative
voles:

- S6 phiéu khang tan thanh:
Number of dissenting
vofes.

- 86 phiéu khéng c6 y kién:

Number of votes with no
opinion:

25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1§ 100% trén tdng s6 phiéu bicu
quyét ctia c6 déng dur hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

0 phléu dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét cia
c6 dong du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participanls

25.286.968 phléu dat ty 18 99,92% trén téng sb phiéu biéu
quyét ctia cd dong du hop

25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% aof total voting
shares of par ncrjmnrs

0 plueu dat ty 1€ 0,00% trén téng s6 phiéu biéu quyei cua
co dong du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
pei .":c;pm?.fs

20.846 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,08% trén tong s6 phicu biéu quyét
ctia cd dong du hop

20,846 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares
of participants

Chép thuan viéc diéu chinh ng,énh nghe: kinh deanh cua Cmng Ty voi ty 1¢ bicu quyct
thong qua 14 99,92% ting s6 phiu bitu quyét ctia tat ca cb déng tham dur va hiéu quyét

tai cude hop.

Approve the amendment of Company’s business lines with affirmative rates of 99.92%
of total voting shares of participants.

10. Thong qua:
Approve;

10.1  Viéc mién nhiém Ong V& Sj Nhan theo dom tir nhiém chirc danh thinh vién

HDQT.

The removal of Mr. Vo Sy Nhan from the BOD member position as per the

resignation leffer.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting resuit:

- Tbng sb phidu biéu quyét:
Total votes:
- 80 phiéu hop 1&

Number of valid votes:

25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1& 100% trén téng sb phiéu biéu
quyét ctia ¢6 dong du hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants
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- Sb phibu khong hop 1&: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 0,00% trén tong s6 phicu biéu quyét cia

¢o dong du hop

Number of invalid votes; 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voting shares of

participants

- S0 phiéu tan thanh: 25.286.968 phiéu, dat ty 1§ 99,92% trén téng s6 phiéu biéu

quyét ciia co déng dy hop

Number of affirmative 25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting

votes: shares of participants

- 8 phiéu khong tan thanh: 0 piu'éu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong st phiéu biéu quyét cua

c6 dong d hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of

vores: participants

- 86 phiéu khong c6 ¥ kién: 20.846 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 0,08% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét

ciia ¢b dong du hop

Number of votes with no 20,846 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares

opinion: of participanis

Chéip thuéin viéc mién nhiém Ong V6 S§ Nhén theo don tir nhi¢m chire danh thanh vién
HDQT véi ty 18 biéu quyét thong qua 12 99,92% tdng sb phiéu biéu quyét ciia tat ca ¢
dong tham du va biéu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve removal of Mr. Vo Sy Nhan from the BOD member position as per the
resignation leiter with affirmative rates of 99.92% of total voting shaves of participants.

Viée mifn nhi¢m Ong Pham Vin D6 La theo don tir nhi¢m chire danh thanh vién
BKS.

The removal of Mr. Pham Van Do La from the BOS member position as per the
resignation leiter.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting result:

- Tong sb phiéu biéu quyét: 25.307.814 phidu/ 25,307,814 votes
Total votes:

- 86 phiéu hop 1&: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1§ 100% trén tong sb phiéu bidu

quyét ciia cd déng du hop

Number of valid votes: 23,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting

shares of participants

$6 phifu khong hop 18: 0 phiéu, dat tj 1& 0,00% trén tdng sé phiéu biéu quyét clia

cd déng du hop
Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
parficipants
- 86 phiéu tén thanh: 25.286.968 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 99,92% trén tbng sb phiéu bidu

quyét clia ¢ dong du hop

Number of affirmative 25,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting

voles: shares of participants

- S6 phibu khong tén 0 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén téng sb phiéu biéu quyét clia

thanh: ¢b déng di hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of toial voting shares of

participanis
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Number of  dissenting
votes:
- Sb phiéu khong ¢6 ¥ kién: 20,846 phiéu, dat 3 1& 0,08% trén tdng sb phiéu biéu quyét
clia ¢& déng du hop
Number of votes with no 20,846 voies, accounting for 0.08% of total vating shares
opinian; af participeants

Chép thuéin viée mién nhigm Ong Pham Vin D6 La theo don tir nhi¢m chice danh théanh
vién BKS véi 1 18 bidu quyét thong qua 1a 99,92% tbng sb phiéu bidu quyét cha tht ca
cb dong tham dy va bidu quyét tai cude hop.

Apprave the removal of Mr. Pham Van Do La from the BOS member position as per
the resignation letter with affirmative rates of 99.92% of total veting shares of
pariicipants.

Thing qua:
Approve:

Viée biu eir thanh vién HPQT nhiém ky 2025 — 2030,
The election of BOD members for office term 2025 — 2030.

Két qua biéu quyét nhur sau:
Voiing result:

- Tbng sb phiéu bidu quyét: 101.231.256 phiéw/ 101,231,256 vores
Total votes:

- 86 phiéu hop I¢: 101.231.176 phiu, dat ty 1¢ 100% trén tong sd phigu
biéu quyét cia cd dong du hop
Number of valid votes: 101,231,176 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting

shares of participants

- Séphiéukhong hop1é: 80 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét
chia co déng dir hop

Number of invalid votes: 80 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of

participants

Chép thudn két qua biu cir thanh vién HPQT nhigm ky 2025 — 2030 véi ty 1¢ biéu

quyét théng qua cy thé nhu sau:

Approve the election result for the BOD members of office term 2025 — 2030 as follows:

o Ong L& Hong Minh — 25.286.958 phiéu tin thanh
My, Le Hong Minh - 23,286,938 affirmative votes
e Ong Vuong Quang Khai - 25.286.953 phiéu tén thanh
My, Vuong Quang Khai - 25,286,953 affirmative vates
o Ba Christina Gaw - 25.286.328 phiéu tan thanh
Ms. Christina Gaw - 25,286,328 affirmative votes
¢ Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat — 25.286.328 phiéu tén thanh
Myr. Edphawin Jetjirawat - 25,286,328 affirmative votes

Mirc thit lao ciia thanh vién HDQT nhiém ky 2025 — 2030.
The remuneration of BOD members for office term 2025 — 2030.
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Két qua bidu quyét nhu sau:
Voting result:

- Tong sb phidu biéu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéw/ 25,307,814 votes
Total votes:
- 86 phiéu hop 1&: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 100% trén tong 0 phiu biéu
quyét ciia co déng dy hop
Number of valid votes: 25,307,814 votes, accounting jor 100% of total voting
shares of participants
- 8& phiéu khong hop 1é: 'I]"phieu dat ty 18 0,00% trén tdng sb phidu biéu quyét cua
¢O déng dy hop
Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants
- S phiéu tan thanh: 25.286.968 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 99,92% trén tong s6 phiu biéu
quyét ciia ¢b dong du hop
Number of affirmative 23,286,968 votes, accounting for 99.92% of fotal voting

vores, shares of pariicipants
- 84 phiéu khdng tan thanh: 0 Phlﬁu, dat ty 1& 0,00% trén tong sb phiéu biéu quyét cua
co dong dir hop
Number of dissenting 0 vores, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
voles: participanis

- 86 phiéu khéng c6 ¥ kién: 20,846 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,08% trén tdng s6 phiéu biéu quyét
ctia ¢b déng du hop
Number of votes with no 20,846 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares
opinion: af participants

Chap thuén wéc Thé:ﬂ'i vién HPQT khong nhén thi lao véi ty 18 biéu quye’r thing q :
14 99,92% téng sb phiéu bidu quyét clia tit ca cb dong tham dy va biéu quyét tai curgc

hop.
Approve no remuneration for the BOD with affirmative rares of 99.92% of toral vom!?"
shares of participants.

% '\
113 Viée biu cir thinh vién BKS nhiém ky 2025 — 2030. ) 8

The election of BOS members for office term 2025 — 2030,

Két qua bidu quyét nhu sau;
Voting result:

- Tédng sb phidu bidu quyét: 75.923.442 phiéw/ 75,923,442 voies
Tortal vores:
- 86 phiéu hop 1&: 75.923.442 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 100% trén thng 56 phiéu biéu
quyet ciia co dong du hop
Number of valid votes: 75,923,442 votes, accounting for 100% of toial voting
shares of participanis
- S0 phiéu khéng hoplé: 0 phaéu dat ty 18 0% trén thng sb phidu bicu quyét ctia
cd dong du hop
Number of invalid votes:
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0 votes, accouniing for 0% of total voting shares of
participants

Chép thudin két qua bau ci thinh vién BKS nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 véi ty 1§ biéu quyét

thong qua cu thé nhu sau:

Approve the election result for the BOS members of affice term 2025 — 2030 as follows:
o Ong Hoang Anh — 25 .286.924 phiéu tan thanh
My, Hoang Anh - 25,286,924 affirmative votes
o Ong Vii Thanh Long - 25.286.958 phiéu tan thanh
My. Vi Thanh Long - 25,286,958 affirmative voles
e Ong Ngb Vi Hai Long — 25.286.958 phiéu tan thanh
Mr. Ngo Vi Hai Long - 25,286,958 affirmeative vofes

11.4 Mikc thir lao etia thanh vién BIKS nhiém ky 2025 — 2030.
The remuneration of BOS members for office term 2025 — 2030,

Két qué bidu quyét nhu sau:
Voting resuli.

- Tong s6 phifu biéu quyét:
Total vofes:
S& phiéu hop 1€
Number of valid votes:

- 86 phiéu khong hop 18:
Number of invalid votes:

- Sé phiéu tan thanh:
Number of affirmative

votes:
- 80 phiéu khong tan thanh:

25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 100% trén tong s6 phiéu bicu
quyét etia co dong dur hop

25,307,814 votes, accounting for 1002 of total voiing
shares of participants

0 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 0,00% trén tdng sb phiéu biéu quyét cia
cd dong du hop

0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voling shares of
participants

25.274.291 phiéu, dat t 18 99.87% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét clia co dong du hop

25,274,291 votes, accounting for 99.87% of total voting
shares of participants

0 phiéu, dat t 1& 0,00% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét clia
¢ dong du hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voting shares of

votes:
- 86 phiéu khéng c6 ¥ kién:

participants ) . o
33.523 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,13% trén tong so phicu biu quyet
clia co déng du hop

Number of votes with no 33,523 voies, accounting for 0.13% of total voting shares

opinion:

of participants

Chép thudn vi¢ce thanh vién BKS nhén mire thi lao 24{]_.{}00.{](}0 VND/nam véi ty 18
biéu quyet thong qua la 99,87% tdng s6 phiéu bidu quyét cua tit cd cb déng tham dy

va biéu quyét tai cude hop.

Approve the Bourd of Supervisors's remuneration of VND240,000,000 per annum with
affirmative rates of 99.87% of total voting shares of participants.
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Théng qua vie siva doi Pidu L¢ Cong Ty.
Approve the amendment to the Company Charter.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting result:

Téng sé phiéu biéu quydt; 25.307.814 phiéw 25,307,814 votes

Total votes:

S6 phiéu hop 1&: 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1& 100% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu
quyét ctia o dong du hop

Number of valid votes: 23,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

S6 phidu khéng hop 1é: 0 phiéu, dat t [& 0,00% trén tbng sb phiu biéu quyét ciia

c6 dong dy hop

Number of invalid votes: 0 voles, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

S& phiéu tan thanh: 25.275.238 phlBlL, dat 1y 18 99,87% teén téng sb phié iéu biéu

quyét clia co dong dy hop
Number of affirmative 25,275,238 votes, accounting for 99.87% of total voting
voles: shares of participants
S4 phiéu khong tan thanh: 0 dphmu dat ty 18 0,00% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét cta

Number of dissenting c6 dong dy hop

voles: 0 votes, accounting jfor 0.00% of fotal voting shares of
participants
S6 phién khéng c6 y 32 576 p]nc:u dat ty 1& 0,13% trén tong so p]uéu bidu quyét
kién: etia ¢o ddng dy hop

Number of votes with no 32,576 votes, accounting for 0.13% of total voting shares
opinion: of participants

C‘.hap thudn viée sua doi Dleu L.g Cﬁng Ty véi ty 1& biéu quyct théng qua la 99,87%
tong sb phiéu bidu quyét cia tAt ca cb déng tham du va biéu quyét tai cude hop.
Approve the amendment to the Company Charter with affirmative rates of 99.87% of

total voting shares of participants.

Théng qua viée sita d6i Tén Cong Ty.
Approve the amendment to the Company’s Name.

Két qua bigu quyét nhu sau:
Veting result:

Téng sb phiéu bidu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 votes

Total votes:

S& phiéu hop 1é: 25.307.814 phléu dat ty 1& 100% trén tong so phicu biéu
quyét cia ¢d dong dy hop

Nunber of valid votes: 25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

S6 phiéu khong hop 1&: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1 0,00% trén tong 56 phiéu biéu quyét clia
¢t dong du hop
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Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% aof fotal voting shares of
participants

S4 phiéu tan thanh: 25.272.558 phiéu, dat ty 18 99,86% trén tdng sb phiéu biéu
quyét ctia cb dong du hop

Number of affirmative 25,272,558 votes, accounting for 99.86% of fotal voting

voles: sheres of pariiciparnts ‘ o
S0 phicu khéng tan thanh: 13.847 phicu, dat ty 1§ 0,05% trén tong s0 phiéu biéu quyét
cha co déng du hop

Number of dissenting 13,847 votes, accounting for 0.05% of total voting shares

vortes: of participants

S6 phidu khong ¢o ¥ kién: 21.409 phiéu, dat ty 18 0,08% trén tong so phiéu bién quyét
clia b dong dw hop

Number of votes with no 21,409 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares

opinion: of participants

Qhﬁp thudn vige sia dobi Tén Cong Ty véi ty 1& biéud quyét thong qua la 99,86% tong
50 phiéu biéu quyét cia tat ca ¢b dong tham dir vé biéu quyet tai cue hop.

Approve the amendment to the Company's name with affirmative rates of 99.86% of

14.

total voting shares of participants.

Théng qua Quy Ché Ni B vé Quin Tri Cng Ty.

Approve the Internal Corporate Governance Regulation.

Két qua biéu quyét nhu sau:
Voting result:

Téng sb phiéu biu quyét: 25.307.814 phiéu/ 25,307,814 voies

Total votes:

S6 phiéu hop 1&; 25.307.814 phiéu, dat ty 1§ 100% trén tong s6 phiéu bidu
quyét ciia co déng dy hop

Number of valid votes: 25,307,814 votes, accounting for 100% of total voting
shares of participants

Sé phiéu khéng hop1&: 0 phiéu, dat ty 1€ 0,00% trén téng s6 phiéu bidu quyét ciia

¢ dong du hop

Number of invalid votes: 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of total voting shares of
participants

S6 phiéu tan thanh: 25.286.978 phiéu, dat ty 1¢ 99,92% trén tng s6 phiéu bidu

quyét clia ¢d déng du hop
Number of affirmative 25,286,978 votes, accounting for 99.92% of total voting

voles: shares of participants ‘ . )
Sé phidu khong tan thanh: 0 phicu, dat ty 1¢ 0,00% trén tong s phiéu biéu quyet ciua
co dong du hop

Number of dissenting 0 votes, accounting for 0.00% of fotal voting shares of

vates. participants

$é phitu khéng c6 v kién: 20.836 phiéu, dat ty 1& 0,08% trén tong s6 phiéu biéu quyét
ctia ¢6 déng dy hop

Number of votes with no 20,836 votes, accounting for 0.08% of total voting shares

opinion: of participants
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Chép thuén Qu;,: Ché Noi Bg vé Quan Tri Cong Ty véi ty 18 bigu quyet théng qua la
99,92% tong so phiéu biéu quyét ciia tit ca e6 dong tham dir va bidu quyét tai cude

hop.
Approve the Internal Corporate Governance Regulation with affirmative rates of
99.92% of total voting shares of participants.

KET THUC BIEN BAN
END OF MINUTES

Céc thanh vién IIBQT Ban Kiém phidu va Ngudi Giam sat kiém phtéu lién dai chiu
trach nhiém trong viéc dam bao tinh trung thire, chinh xdc cia qua trinh va két qua

kiém phiéu,

The members of the BOD, the Voting Commiftee and Vote Counting Supervisor are
Jjointly responsible for ensurving the truthfulness and accuracy of the vote counting
process and resulis.

Viée kiém phidu hodn tt Itc 12 gity 20 phiit sang ciing ngay.
Vote counting ends at 12:20 PM on the same day.

Bién Béan Kiém Phiéu duge 1ap thanh 03 (ba) ban chinh tai Try st chinh cia Cong Ty - VNG
Campus: Z06 Putmg s6 13, Phudng Tan Thufn Poéng, Quén 7, TP. Hé Chi Minh.

The Minutes of Vote Counting are made in 03 (three) originals at the Company's Headquarter
- VNG Campus. Z06 Street 13, Tan Thuan Dong Ward, District 7, Ho Chi Minh City.,

[Phén con lai ctia trang ndy duge bo trong. Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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TRUGNG BAN KIEM PHIEU THANH VIEN THANH VIEN
Head of the Member of the Vote Count  Menther of the Vote Count
Vote Count Cominittee Comnmitiee Commitiee

ﬁf/ < oL A
guyén Thj Huyén Linh Nguyén Thi Thanh Thiiy Cao My Huyén

NGUOI GIAM SAT KIEM PHIEU CHU TOQA DATHOI
Vote Counting Superyisor Chairman
Dim Thi Thiy Lé Hong Minh
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CHUONG TRINH HOP PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN

{“D{-\I HO[”}

CONG TY CO PHAN VNG ,
AGENDA OF 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDER

e

(“2025 AGM™)
VNG CORPORATION
MUC THOI GIAN NOI DUNG PHU TRACH
SECTION TIME AGENDA IN CHARGE
Khai mac 9,00am — Kiém tra tir cach co déng, don tiép | CBC
Opening 9.10am khach mdi, dai biéu tham du.
Check-in,  welcome  guests  and
participanis.
9.10am — Théng ké s6 lugng c6 dong thamdy | LG
9.30am Ouorum check
9.30am - Gigi thiéu CBC
9.40am Introduction
Tuyén bo tién hanh cude hop
Quorum announcement
Gidi thiéu Chu toa, eir Ban thr ky, biu
Ban kiém phiéu.
Introduction  of the  Chairman,
appointment  of  Secvetariat; and
election of Vote Count Commitiee.
Théng qua chwong trinh Dai hoi
Approve meeting agenda
9 40am — Ong Lé Hong Minh, thay mit Hgi | Lé Hong Minh
9.50am Péng Quén Trj phat biéu khai mac.
Opening speech by My. Le Hong Minh,
on behalf of the Board of Directors.
NGi dung 9.50am — . Trinh biy Béo edo két qua hoat dong | L& Hong Minh
cude hop 10.50am kinh doanh nam 2024 va Dy bdo kinh | Kelly Yin Hon
Meeting doanh nam 2025; Wong
agenda Present  the 2024 Business | Tan Wei Ming
performance report and the 2025
Business forecast;
. Trinh bay Ké hoach st dung lgi nhuén | Bam Thi Thiy
giir lai;
Present the Plan for retained eqrnings;
. Trinh bay Bao céo tai chinh kiém toan | Pam Thi Thiy
nam 2024
Present the 2024 Audited financial
statements;
. Trinh bay Té trinh Danh sach cdng ty | Pam Thi Thay
kiém toan dbc lgp va Uy quyén cho
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Héi Pong Quan Trj lya chon cong ty
kiém todn;

Present the Proposal for approval of
List of independent auditing firms and
Authorization to the Board of Directors
for selection of auditing firm;

Trinh bay Béao cdo ndm 2024 cta Hoi
Béng Quan Tri;

Present the 2024 Report of the Board
of Directors;

Dam Thi Thay

Trinh bay Béo céo hoat dong nam 2024
ciia Ban Kiém Sodt;

Fresent the 2024 Report of the Board
of Supervisors;

Neguyén Vil
Ngoc Hén

Trinh béy:

Present:

7.1 Béo céo thuc hién phét hanh cb
phiéu nim 2024 theo Chuang
trinh phat hanh ¢é phiéu cho ngudi
lao déng (“Chuong trinh ESOP™);
The report of the Implementation
of the 2024 share issuance under
the Employee stock  option
program (“ESOP");

72 Ké hoach thure hién chwong trinh
ESOP nim 2025 v viéc iy quyén
trién khai cho Hoi Pdng Quén Tri;
2025 Plan on implementation of
the ESOP and authorization to the
Board of Directors;

Bam Thj Thay

Trinh bay Té trinh vé quy dinh ty 1& s&
hitu nudc ngodi t6i da trong Cong Ty;
Present the Proposal jor regulation of
the maximum foreign ownership limit
of the Company,

Bam Thi Thay

Trinh bay T& trinh vé viée diéu chinh
nganh nghé kinh doanh cua Céng Ty;
Present the Proposal for approval of
the amendment of Company’s business
lines;

Dam Thi Thiy

10.

Trinh bay T frinh vé viéc mién nhiém
Thanh vién Hoi Pdng Quéan Trj va Ban
Kiém Sodt nhiém ky 2020 - 2025;

Present the Proposal for the removal
of the members of the Board of

Pam Thj Thuay
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Directors and  the Board of
Supervisors for office term af 2020 -
2025;
11, Trinh bay Td trinh vé vigc bau cit thanh Dam Th Thiy
vién Hbi Bémg Quén Tri vA Ban Kiém
Sodt nhiém ky 2025 — 2030 va phé
duyét thit lao ciia Héi Dong Quan Trj
va Ban Kiém Soat;
Present the Proposal for election of the
Board of Directors and Beard of
Supervisors members for the office
term of 2025 — 2030, and approving the
Board of Directors’ and Board of
Supervisors ' remuneration;
12. Trinh bay Té trinh vé viéc sira d6i Diéu | Dam Thi Thiy
L¢ Cong Ty,
Present the Proposal for approval of
Company’s Charter amendment;
13. Trinh bay Té trinh vé viéc thong qua | Pam Thi Thuy
stra ddi Tén Céng Ty;
Present the Proposal for approval of
amendment of the Company s Name;
14. Trinh bay Tér trinh v& vige ban hanh | Cao M§ Huyén
Quy ché néi bé vé Quan tri Cong Ty.
Present the Proposal for approval of
the Internal Corporate Governance
Regulation.
10.50am — Thao Iudn CBC diéu phdi
11.20am Discussion CBC
coordinale
11.20am — B phiéu CBC diéu phoi
11.30am Vate thio lufn
CBEC
coordinate
discussion
Giiilao 11.30am — Kiém phiéu Ban kiém
Teabreak 11.45am Votes count phiéu
Vote Count
Committee
B¢ mae 11.45am — Doc va thong qua Bién ban kiém phiéu Dai di¢én Ban
Closing 11.50am Present Minuies of vote counting kiém phiéu
Representative
of Vote Count
Committee
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11.50am — Doc va théng qua Bién bian hop DHDCD | Thur ky
11.55am Present the minutes of AGM Secretary
11.55am — Tuyén bd bé mac Pai hoi CBC
12.00pm Closing remarks
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S6/No: 01/2025/TTt-VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
DAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Thong qua Bio cdo két qud hoat déng kinh doanh nim 2024 v
Dy bao kinh doanh ndm 2025

PROPOSAL
TO 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving the Report on the 2024 Business performance results
and 2025 Business forecast

Kinh giri: Quy C6 déng Cong Ty C6 Phin VNG (“Cong Ty™)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company ")

Héi Béng Quan Tri kinh trinh Pai Hoi Péng C6 Péng (“PHPCD”) xem xét va théng qua Béo
cho két qua hoat dong kinh doanh nam 2024 ctia Ban Téng gidm dbc va Du béo kinh doanh
nam 2025 nhu sau:

The Board of Directors respectfully present and seek the approval of the General Meeting of
Shareholders ("GMS") for the Report of Business Results of the yvear 2024 of the Board of
Management and the 2025 Business forecast as follows:

1. Bio cdo két qui hoat ding kinh doanh nim 2024:
The Repart on 2024 Business Results of the year 2024:

Céc sb 1i6u va tinh hinh kinh doanh cu thé cia Cong Ty trong niim 2024 s& duge Ban
Téng giam dbc trinh bay tai Dai Hoi Déng C6 Dong Thuémg Nién 2025 (“Dai H6i”),
Details of the Company’s data and business activities in 2024 will be presented by the
Board of Management (“BOM”) af the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
(“AGM").

Két qua kinh doanh nim 2024 da dat duge nhu sau:
The business results of the fiscal year 2024 as follows:

o Doanh thu nam 2024: khoang 9.273 ty dong;
2024 revenue: approximately 9,273 billion dongs,

e Lgi nhufin sau thué ciia ¢6 dong cong ty me: &m khoang 1.081 ty dong; va
Profir afier tax to parent s shareholders: approximately negative 1,081 billion

dongs, and

o Lginhun sau thué cho Coéng Ty: &m khoang 1,180 ty dfing.
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Profit afier tax to the Company: approximately negative 1,180 billion dongs.

2. Dy b#io kinh doanh nim 2025 véi m{t s6 tiéu chi chinh nhw sau:
The Business forecast of the fiscal year 2025 with some key criteria as follows:

o Doanh thu du kién: khoang 10.773 t¥ dong;
Estimated revenue: approximately 10,773 billion dongs;

o Loinhuan sau thué du kién cua cb dong céng ty me: dm khodng 561 ty dbng; va
Estimated profit after tax fo parent's shareholders: approximately negative 561
billion dongs; and

¢ Loi nhuén sau thué duy kién che Cong Ty: 4m khoang 620 ty ddng.
Estimated profit after tax to the Company: approximately negative 620 billion
dongs.

[Phén con lai ciia trang niy duge bo trdng. Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
{The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows|
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Trén trong,
Respectfully yours,

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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S6/No.: 02/2025/TTr —VNG
Neay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
DAL HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: Ké hogch sit dung lgi nhu@n gid lgi
PROPOSAL
TO 2025 GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Plan for retained earnings

Kinh giri: Quy C6 Déng Cong Ty Cé Phiin VNG (“Céng ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation ("the Company ')

Do nhu céu tiép tue ddu tu vio cde linh viee kinh doanh chién lwoc va da dang hda sin phim
dich vu ctia Céng Ty:

Due to the need to continue investing into the strategic business sectars and diversify products
of the Company:

e Vi dién tir va cong thanh toan:
E-wallet and payment gateway;
e Tai san so hvu trf tué dbi véi cde tro choi dién tir;
Games Intellectual Property,
e Phét trién trung tdm dit liéu va dich vu dién toén dam may théng minh;
Development of dafa center and Al cloud services,
e Phét trién dich vu trf tu¢ nhin tao;
Development of Al services,
o XAy dung hé sinh thdi cdc san phdm trong Cong Ty dé tbi vu héa cde ngudn lwe va thé
manh;
Building overall eco-system to optimize resources and strengths;
e Cic sin phiim chuyén doi sb; va
Digital transformation products, and
e Céc myc dich sir dung khéc phuc vu cho sir phét trién bén viing va ting truong thi truong
todn ciu ciia Cong Ty.
Other usages to support the sustainable growth and global market development of the
Company.

Hoi Pong Quén Trj Céng Ty dé nghj Pai Hoi Dong Cd Déng théng qua viée tiép tyuc giit ngudn
lgi nhudn gitr lai va khong chia ¢d tic cho nam 2024.

The Board of Directors respectfully proposes the General Meeting of Shareholders approve
the retention of retained earnings and the non-distribution of dividends for the fiscal year 2024.

[Phén con lai ctia trang nay dwoe bo trong. Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong,

Respecifully yours,

TM. HQI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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S&/No: 03/2025/TTr-VNG
Ngdy 30 thang 05 ndm 2025
30" May, 2023

TO TRINH
PAI HO1 PONG CO DPONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Thong qua bido cdo kiém todn nim 2024
PROPOSAL
T0 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving 2024 audited financial statements

Kinh giri: Quy Cé déng Cong Ty Cé Phiin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corperation (the "Company ")

Hoi Pong Quan Tri kinh trinh Dai Hoi Dong C6 Péng (“DHPCD”) théng qua bao céo tai chinh
da duoe kiém todn nim 2024 cia Cong Ty, cu thé nhur sau:

The Board of Directors would like to seek the approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders
("GMS") for the audited financial statements of 2024 fiscal year of the Company, as follows:

Béo cdo tai chinh ndm 2024 di duoe kiém todn boi Cong Ty TNHH Ernst & Young Viét Nam
va duoce edng b thong tin theo quy dinh ctia phap luat, bao gbm:

2024 financial statement was audited by Ernst & Young Vietnawm Limited and disclosed in
accordance with the applicable laws, including:

a. Y kién cia kiém toan vién;
Auditor's opinions;

b. Bing can d6i ké todn tai ngay 31/12/2024;
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

B Béo cho két quéa hoat dong kinh doanh nim 2024;
2024 profit and loss statement;

d. Béo cdo luu chuyén tién & ndm 2024: va
2024 cash flow statement; and

e. Thuyét minh bdo céo tai chinh.
Notes to financial statements.

[Phéin con lai cia trang nay dwoc bo tréng. Phin chir ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is lefi blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong,

Respectfully yours,

TM. HQI PONG QUAN TR]
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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So/Ne: 04/2025/TTr-VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 ndm 2025
30™ My, 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HQI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Thong qua danh sdeh Cong ty kiém todn dic Idp va Uy quyén quyédt dinh cong ty kiém
fodn dje lip cho Hoi Pong Quin Tri

PROPOSAL
T0 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving list of independent auditing firms and authorization io Board of Direciors
fo appoint independent auditing firm

Kinh giti: Quy Cb ddng Céng Ty C6 Phin VNG (“Céng Ty")
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company ")

Nham mye dich ting cudng tinh minh bach va tudn thi trong hoat déng quén trj ciia Céng Ty
cling nhur d4m bao tinh déc 1ap va khéch quan trong kiém toan, Héi Bdng Quan Tri (“HDQT?),
ciin etr theo d@ xuit ctia Ban Kiém Sodt, kinh trinh Pai Hoi Pdng C6 Péng (“PHPCD™) théng
qua céac ndi dung sau:

For the purpose of enhancing transparvency and compliance in the Company's governance
activities, as well as enswring the independence and objectivity of the audit process, the Board
of Directors (“BOD"), based on the proposal of the Board of Supervisors, respectfully submits
the following matters fo the General Meeting of Shareholders (“"GMS") for approval:

1. Danh sich cong ty kiém toan déc Idp dé lua chon don vi kiém toan thyc hién sost
xét Bfo cdo tai chinh giita nién @9, kiém toan Bdo cdo tai chinh hang nam cia
Cong Ty.

List of independent auditing firms for the selection of the auditor to review of the
interim financial statements and awdit the annnal financial statements of the
Comparty:

a. Cong ty TNHH Ernst & Young Vigt Nam
Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited

b. Cong ty TNHH KPMG Viét Nam
KPMG Vietnam Limited Company

¢. Cong ty TNHH Price Waterhouse Coopers Viét Nam
Price WaterhouseCoopers (Vietnam) Limited

d. Cong ty TNHH Deloitte Viét Nam
Deloitte Vietnam Company Limited
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2. Uy quyén quyét dinh Cong ty kiém toan djc lap
Authorization for the appoiniment of auditing firm

PHBCP 1y quyén cho HBQT:
The GMS authorizes to the BOD to:

(1) quyét dinh lwa chon cong ty kiém todn ddc 14p cho timg ndm tai chinh cia Cong Ty diyra
trén danh sdch cée cong ty kiém toan doc 1ap da duge PHPCD phé duyét;
decide and appoint independent auditing firm for the respective fiscal year of the
Campany upon the GMS's shortlist of approved independent audiiting firms;

(ii)  thye hién cdc cong vide, thi tuc cdn thiét khéc dé trién khai noi dung di duge BPHBCH
chép thufn theo To trinh nay.
perform other necessary steps and procedures to execute the matiers which have been

appraved by the GMS in accordance with this Proposal.

[Phén con lai ciia trang ndy diroe b tréng. Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trin trong,
Respecifully yours,

TM. HQI PONG QUAN TR]
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHU TICH
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S6/No: 05/2025/TTr-VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May 2025

TO TRINH
DPAI HOI PONG CO DONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Thong qua Bdo cio ciia Hpi Pong Quin Tri niim 2024
PROPOSAL
10 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving the 2024 Report of the Board of Directors

Kinh giri: Quy Cb déng Céng Ty C6 Phiin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company ")

Hoi Béng Quan Tri (“HPQT™) kinh trinh Pai Hi Pdng C6 Péng théng qua bio cio hoat dong
ciia HDQT trong nim 2024, cy thé nhw sau;

The Board of Directors (“BOD") would like to seek the General Meeting of Shareholders
(“GMS") approval for the report on BOD's operation in 2024, as follows;

1. Tinh hinh hoat djng ciia Céng Ty trong nam tai chinh 2024:
Company’s operation staius during 2024 financial year:

- Cac hoat dong cua Cong Ty tuan thu theo quy dinh tai Diéu Lé Cong Ty, Luét Doanh
Nghiép va phit hop véi cdc Nghj quyét ciia Pai Hoi Dong Co Dong nim 2024;
The Company's operations comply with the Company’s Charter, Law on Enterprises,
and in conformity with the resolutions of the 2024 General Meeting of Shareholders;

-  HDQT di giam sat va chi dao hoat djng kinh doanh va céde hoat ddng khac cua Cong
Ty dé dam bao thye hién ¢ic ké hoach va chién luge phét trién cia Cong Ty,
The BOD supervised and instructed the Compary s business and operations to ensure
that the business plans and development strategies were implemented.

2. Cac cufe hop va quyét dinh cia HDQT:
BOD'’s meetings and decisions:

Céc cude hop va quyét dinh ctia HPQT duoc thue hién theo ding quy dinh tai Didu Lé
Coéng Ty va Luét Doanh Nghiép.
The BOID)'s meetings and decisions were implemented in accordance with the Company s
Charter and Law on Enterprises.
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3. Chi tri thit lao cho thanh vién HPQT va ede lyi ich ¢0 lién quan:
Remuneration of the BOD and reluted benefifs:

- Th lao cho thanh vién HPQT: khéng ¢o thi lao;
Remuneration for BOD s members, no remuneration;

- Cée lgi fch va giao dich lién quan: theo bdo céo tii chinh kiém toan.
Related benefits and transactions: as stated in audited financial statements.

4. B#o cho vié giao dich voi thanh vién HPQT va/hofic Nguii ¢6 lién quan ciia thanh vién
HDOQT:
Report on transactions with the BOD members and/or Related Parties of the BOD
metbers:

Trong nam 2024, HPQT da thong qua giao dich vdi Ngwoi cé lién quan cia thanh vién
HBQT, cu thé nhu sau:

In 2024, the BOD approved the transaction incurred between the Company and Related
Parties of the BOD members, particularly:

- Théng qua viée ky két va cam két thuc hién mot s6 trdch nhiém va nghia vy trong Thoa
Thuén C6 Pong Sta o1 va Phu Luc 2 clia Théa Thudn Mua Bin CH Phin voi VNG
Limited, la Nguwdi C6 Lién Quan ctia Ong Lé Hong Minh theo quy dinh ctia Nghi dinh
155/2020/ND-CP.

Approval of the execution and commitment to perform certain responsibilities and
obligations under the Amended Shareholders’ Agreement and Appendix 2 of the Share
Purchase Agreement with VNG Limited, which constitutes a Related Party of Mr. Le
Hong Minh in accordance with Decree No, 155/2020/ND-CP.

5. Bio cao hoat djng ciia cdc thanh vién dje 1ap HPQT va danh gid ciia thinh vién djc
lip HPQT vé hoat dgng ciia HDQT:
Report on the performance of the independent members of the BOD and their evaluation
of the activities of the BOB,

5.1.Hoat ddng ctia cac thanh vién doc lip HDOQT.
Performance of the independent members of the BOD.

HPQT hién 6 02 thanh vién dic lap 1a Ba Christina Gaw va Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat,
Céc thanh vién ddc 1ap HPQT déu ¢6 niing lue chuyén mén va kinh nghiém trong céc linh
vuc hoat ding chinh ciia Cong Ty nén da co nhiing y kién va déng gép quan trong lién
quan dén cc quyét sich cia HPQT trong nim 2024.
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The BOD currently comprises two independent members: Ms. Christina Gaw and Mp.
Edphawin Jetjivawat. They possess professional expertise and extensive experience in the
Company’s core business areas, enabling them to provide valuable opinions and
contributions to the Board’s key decisions throughout 2024;

Trong nim 2024, céc thanh vién doe 1ap HDQT déu tham gia diy da céc cude hop HDQT
va giti diing han cée phifu biu quyét vé cac quyét dinh/vin d& thuge thém quyén ciia
HPQT dé dam bao tinh minh bach, kiém sodt duge xung dét lgi ich, bao vé loi ich cua
Cong Ty va Co Pong.

In 2024, the independent members of the BOD attended all Board meetings and duly
submitted their voting ballots on maiters within the Board’s authority in a timely manner.
This ensured transparency, effective managemeni of conflicts of interest, and the protection
of the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.

5.2.Pénh gia clia céc thanh vién dée 1ap HPQT vé hoat dong ciia HDQT.
Evaluation of the independent members of the BOD about its performance.

Trong nam 2024, HDBQT da c6 nhiing quyét séch linh hoat dé tmg pho véi nhiing thay dbi
trong phuong thirc va mé hinh kinh doanh do diéu kién kinh té thé gi¢i khéng 6n dinh,
xung dot chinh tri tai nhiéu ki vire cling nhiéu bién dong trong nude va toan ciu. HDQT
dd phé duyét, ban hanh kip thoi cic Nghi quyét/Quyét dinh theo dung thim quyén dé diéu
chinh cac hoat déng quan tri, kinh doanh ciia Céng Ty dong thai da chi dao kip thai, gidm
st chiit ch® hoat dong ctia Ban Téng Giam Pde trong viée thue hién cic muc tiéu, chién
luge va ké hoach kinh doanh & d8 ra.

In 2024, the Board of Directors adopted flexible and responsive decisions fo address shifis
in business models and operations amid global economic instability, political conflicts in
several regions, and various domestic and international challenges. The Board timely
approved and issued Resolutions and Decisions within ifs authovity to adjust the
Company’s governance and business operations. It also provided prompt guidance and
exercised close oversight over the Board of Management in implementing the approved
objectives, strategies, and business plans.

6. Két qui gidm sat dbi vori Tong Gidm Dbe va nhitng Ngwdi Quin Ly khae:
Result of supervision of Chief Executive Officer and other Managers:

Can et Diéu Lé Cong Ty, HPQT da thye hién viée kidm tra, giam sat hoat déng cta Téng
Gidm Déc va nhiing Ngudi Quan Ly khée trong viée diéu hanh sén xudt kinh doanh va
trién khai cdc nghj quyét cia PHPCD va HDQT trong niim 2024 nhu sau:

Based on the Company's Charter, the BOD supervised the Chief Executive Officer and
other Managers in managing business activities and implementing the resolutions of the
GMS and the BOD in 2024 as follows:
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Noi dung giam sat:
Supervisory activities:

HDQT d tifn hanh gidm sl cic hoat dong cia Tong Giam Pdc va nhimg Nguoi Quan
Ly khéc & cde ndi dung cong viée nhu sau:

The BOD supervised the activities of the Chief Executive Officer and other Managers
as followed:

(i) Lép ké hoach va trién khai thue hién cdc myc tiéu san xudt kinh doanh d duge
DPHBCD phé duyét;
Plan and execute of the business objectives appraved by the GMS;

(ii) K& hoach déu tw phét trién san xut kinh doanh;
Investment plan for production and business development,

(iii)  Thue hién Ké hoach phéat hanh cé phiéu theo Chuong trinh phét hanh cé phiéu
cho Nguai lao déng nam 2024,
Tmplement the share issuance plan under the 2024 Emplayee Stock Ownership
Plan.

(iv)  Lap va trinh bay béo céo tai chinh;
Prepare and present of financial statements;

(V) Hoach dinh nguon nhén hye; va
Plan human resources; and

(vi)  Trién khai thuc hién cdc nghi quyét cia HDQT.
Execute the BOD s resolutions.

Phuong phap gidm sat:
Supervisory approach:

HDPQT di gidm sat tinh diy du cia céc ndi dung trén qua vige thiét 1dp chuong trinh
lam viéc ciia cde cude hop HDQT. HPQT da trao ddi, thao ludn, chit vin Téng Gidm
Péc va rhitng Ngudi Quan Ly tai cac cude hop HDQT va qua trao doi thw dién ti, dién
thoai va tiép xiic trye tiép nhim dam béo tinh higu lue, hiéu qua, phit hop va kip thoi.
The BOD has monitored the adequacy of the above tasks by compiling the agendas for
the BOD. The BOD has exchanged, discussed, and questioned the Chief Executive
Officer and other Managers at BOD meetings and through emails, conference calls,
and direct contacts (electronic and in-person) to ensure the validily, efficiency,
relevance and timeliness.
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¢. Két qua giam sat:
Supervisory resulls:

Ciin cit viio bdo cdo ciia Tong Gidm Dbc va két qua thue té tinh hinh thuc hién san xuit
kinh doanh, HDQT ghi nhén két qua nhu sau:

Based on the report of the Chief Executive Officer and actual business performance,
the BOD recorded the following resulis:

(i)  Tbng Gidm Ddc va cac Nha Quéan Ly di trién khai thye hién tot cée hoat dong
theo ity quyén, phit hgp véi cac nghi quyét etia HDQT, va két thic nam tai chinh
2024, tong doanh thu ctiia Cong Ty dat 9.273 ty dbng;
The Chief Executive Officer and other Managers performed well within their
authority, in accordance with the BOD's resolutions, and af the end of financial
year 2024, the Company s total revenue is 9,273 billion dongs;

(i)  He théng bho cdo tai chinh quy, ban nién vi nim duge ldp va cdng bd phi hop
véi chudin mue ké todn Viét Nam va cdc quy dinh cia phép ludt hién hanh. Céng
Ty khéng dé xay ra cac gian 1dn va khong ghi nhén bét thudmg dbi véi giao dich
bén lién quan.
Quarterly, semi-anmual and annual financial reporting was made and
announced in accordance with Vietnam Accounting Standards and current
laws. No frauds were identified and no unusual related party iransactions were
recorded.

7. Bdo cao tinh hinh quan tri Céng Ty:

Corporate governance report:

HPQT gidm sat hoat déng kinh doanh ctia Cong Ty theo cac Nghi quyét ciia PHRCD va
cac quy dinh phép ludt co lién quan. Trong nim 2024, HDQT da tién hanh day du cdc cude
hop HDQT nhur Iuét dinh.

The BOD has supervised the Company’s business in accordance with the Resolutions of

the GMS and the applicable laws. In 2024, the BOD has fully convened the BOL's meetings
in accordance with the applicable laws.

HDQT dbng thdi nhén thite trdch nhiém tdi da trong quan 1y hoat dong kinh doanh cia
Cong Ty va giam sét hoat dong ciia Céng Ty vi lgi ich cao nhét ciia Cong Ty. Piéu nay bao
pbm viée quan 1y céc cong ty con phit hop véi ké hoach kinh doanh ¢t 16i clia Cong Ty
nhiim dam bao tufin thi cde nghi quyét cia cb dong mdt cach thién chi va tudn thi véi quy
dinh phép ludt cling nhur cac muc tiéu kinh doanh cia Cong Ty.

The BOD acknowledges its utmost duty to administer the Company's business and oversees
the Company’s operations in the best interests of the Company. This includes the
administration of the subsidiary companies to be in line with the Company’s core business
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plans to ensure compliance with the shareholders’ resolutions, in good faith, and
compliance with the law and the Company 's business objectives.

8. Thay déi Nhin sw quan ly eiia Cong Ty.
Changes in the Company’s Management.

a. Viée tir nhiém chire danh Tong Giam Péc clia 6ng L& Hong Minh

CEQ resignation of Mr. Le Hong Minh

- Ngay 24/11/2024, HDQT nhén duge thu tir nhiém chitc danh Téng Gidm Déc cia
ong L& Héng Minh dé dam nhiém chirc vy Chi tich HDQT theo phén c6ng nhiém
vu tit HPQT thay cho 6ng V& S§ Nhén.
On 24 November 2024, the BOD received a resignation letter from Mr. Le Hong
Minh from the position of Chief Executive Officer in order to assume the role of
Chairman of the BOD as assigned by the Board, replacing Mr. Va Sy Nhan.

- Ngay 25/11/2024, HPQT da thong qua Nghj quyét bing vin ban chap thugn don tir
nhidm va mién nhiém chite danh Téng Gidm Dde dbi voi dng Lé Hong Minh,
On 25 November 2024, the BOD passed a written resolution approving the
resignation and removing Mr. Le Hong Minh from the position of CEQ.

b. Bé nhiém Téng Giam Pde nhi¢m ky 2025 - 2030
Appointment of CEQ for the office term of 2025 — 2030

Nhim bé sung nhin su cho bd méy quan 1y ctia Céng Ty, ngdy 20/05/2025, HDQT da
thdng qua To trinh vé viée bo nhi¢m Tong Giam Déc Céng Ty vdi ong Kelly Yin Hon
Wong, nhiém k¥ 2025 — 2030, bing Nghj quyét s6 04/2025/NQ-HPQT-VNG ngay
20/05/2025:

In order to strengthen the Company's management structure, the BOD approved the
Proposal on the appointment of Mr. Kelly Yin Hon Wong as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company for the office term 2025-2030, pursuant to Resolution No. 04/2025/NQ-
HDQOT-VNG dated 20™ May 2025.

9, Céc ké hoach twong lai:
Future plan:

Trong théi gian tdi, Cong Ty s€ theo dudi chién luge tang trudng bén vimg, dhu tw co chon
loe, iy cong ngh¢ 1am nén tang va tri twé nhén tao (AI) lam truc chién luge xuyén subt,
Cong T}f s& 1iép tuc da dang héa san phﬁm dich vy, mé rong thi trudng trong va ngodi
nwée, dong thoi tai cAu triic mo hinh t6 chirc dé nang cao higu qua quan trj va van hanh
toan Tap doan.

In the coming period, the Company shall pursue a strategy of susitainable growth and
prudent investment, leveraging technology as a core foundation and artificial intelligence
(AD) leveraging technology as a core foundation and artificial intelligence (A1) as a central
strategic pillar. The Company will continue to diversify ifs products and services, expand
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into domestic and international markets, and restructure ils organizational model (o
enhance operational efficiency and corporate governance across the Group.

Chién Twge "Al- First" duge trién khai toan dién nhdm néng cao né‘mg lre cong nghé, toi uu

chi phi. Viéc phén bu nbu%m lue s& duoe thue hién mot cach can dbi va o ky ludt gilia céc
mang kinh doanh cOt 161 nhu trd choi dién ti, ‘quang cdo, trung tam di li¢u véi cac dau tur
moi co du dja ting trudng cao nhu tai chinh so, giai phap - dich vu doanh nghiép.
The “Al-First” strategy shall be implemented comprehensively to sirengthen technological
capahilities and optimize cost efficiency. Resources shall be allocated in balanced and
disciplined manner between core businesses, such as gaming, advertising, and dafa centers
with high-potential investments including digital finance and enterprise solutions.

Cong Ty tiép tuc dong hanh eting céc chuong trinh chuyén doi s6 qudc gia va chinh sdch
phat trién kinh té tw nhan ctia Chinh phii, déng thii md rong hién dién tai cdc thi trutmg
trong diém trong khu vue chau A.

The Company reaffirms its commiiment to supporting national programs for digital
transformation and private sector development, while continuing to expand its presence in
key regional marikefs in Asia.

Hoi Bimg Quéin Tri cam két hoat dong tich cyc trén tinh thén trach nhiém va tin nhiém dé
thye thi céc Nghi qu}ret ciia PHPCD nhidm dat muc tiéu kinh doanh va gia ting gid tri Cong
Ty vi clu}ren loi clia cb dﬁng Mue tiéu hudng deu dinh vi Céng Ty la cong ty cong nghé
héng dau tai Viét Nam va khu vye Pong Nam A.
The BOD undertakes to be proactive, responsible and accountable for executing GMS
Resolutions to achieve the business objectives and increase the Company’s value for the
shareholder's best benefit. The aim is to position the Company as a leading Internet
company in Vietnam and Southeasi Asia.

[Phén con lai ctia trang ndy duge bo tréng. Phén chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is lefi blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong,
Respecifully yours,

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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$4/ No: 06/2025/TTr-VNG
Neay 30 thang 05 ndm 2025
30™ May, 2025

BAO CAO HOAT BONG CUA BAN KIEM SOAT NAM 2024
2024 REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Kinh giti: Quy C6 déng Céng Ty Cé Phin VNG (“VNG/Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (“the Company™)

Ban Kiém Soit (“BKS™) Céng Ty xin bdo cdo Pai Héi Pdng Cb Déng (“PHDBCB”) vé hoat
dong nam 2024 nhr sau:

The Board of Supervisors (“BOS”) would like to report to the General Meeting of
Shareholders ("GMS") on its operations and activities in the year 2024 as follows:

1. Hoat ding ecia BKS trong nam 2024:

The BOS’s activities in 2024:

- Kiém tra va giam sat céc hoat dong cta Cong Ty, dam bdo tuén thi theo Luat doanh
nghiép, Pidu Lé Cong Ty v cdc nghj quyét cia PHPCD di thong qua;

Supervise and monitor the Company’s operation to be compliant with Law on
Enterprises, the Company's Charter and the GMS's resolutions;

- (Ghi nhin thdng tin vé cic cufc hop Hoi Pdng Quan Tri (“HPQT") cia Cong Ty;
Receive information in relation to meetings of the Board of Directors of the Company
(“BOD");

- Xem xét, danh gid bao cdo tai chinh riéng va bdo cdo tai chinh hop nhat di kiém todn
ndm tai chinh 2024;

Review audited separate financial statements and consolidated financial statements for
the fiscal year 2024;

- Phi hop cing Phong ké todn tai chinh, Phéng phap 1§ va B phin Kiém sodt Rii ro dé
rd s04t, d4nh gid ede rhi ro tidm an va trong yéu nhim xfdy dimg va hodn thign quy trinh
lam viéc, t8i tru hoa bé may hoat ddng ciia mat sb bd phén trong Céng Ty,
Coordinate with Finance & Accounting department, Legal department and Enterprise

risk management to review, assess potential and significant visks for the pwpose of
building and enhancing working process and optimizing operating apparatus of the
Company s depariments;

- Thue hién cac nhiém vy khic theo quyéu han v chire ning nhiém vy clia Ban Kiém
Sodt theo quy dinh ctia Pidu 1.8 Céng Ty.
Implement other duties under the rights and responsibilities of the Board of Supervisors
as regulated in the Company's Charter.

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD



ANNUAL
U n G GENERAL
MEETING

2. Thu lao, lgi ich khac caa BKS nidm 2024:
Remuneration, other benefits of the BOS in 2024;
= Thi lao hoat ddng BKS: 180.000,000 dﬁmngi nim,
Remumeration for the BOS: 180,000,000 dongs/ vear;
- (Cac lgi ich khac: Khang co.
Other benefits: None.

3. Két qua hoat djng ciia BKS trong nim 2024:
The BOS’s qerivities vesult in 2024

a. Két qui gidm st tinh hinh hoat djng ciia Cong Ty:
Result of the managerial supervision:
HPQT da trién khai thue hién nghiém tic cde Nghi quyét PHPCD niim 2024, HDQT
di ban hanh ce Nghi quyét, Quyét dinh lién quan dén hoat déng kinh doanh, déu ti,
viln d& tai chinh, tai cu trac, t& chite nhan sy theo diing quy dinh va Pidu Lé Cong Ty
vi cdc quy dinh clia phap ludt.
The BOD implemented strictly GMS Resolutions in 2024, the BOD issued Resolutions
and Decisions relating to business activities, investment, financial, restructuring, and
hintan resource management in accordance with the Company’s Charter and laws.
Dudi sy hwéng din etia HDQT, Ban Téng Gidm Dfc (“Ban TGD") d trién khai, thyc
hién t&t, diy di va tin tuy cde Nghi quyét, Quyét dinh néi trén trong viée diéu hanh
hoat ddng kinh doanh cla Céng Ty. Trong qud trinh tlure hién nhiém vu ctia minh, Ban
TGP Inén lam viée vdi tinh thin trach nhiém cao nhét, danh gia diy du cée thuin loi,
khé khin, dé giam thiéu i vo clia Céng Ty.
Under BOD s instruction, the Board of Management (“BOM ") has fully inftiated and
executed all aforementioned Resolutions and Decisions with highest care during the
operation of the Company's business activities. In the process of its task execution, the
BOM always works with liigh responsibility, fully assessing the advantages and
disadvantages, in order to minimize visks for the Company.

b. Két qua thim djnh bio cdo tai chinh nim 2024:
Appraisal of 2024 financial statements:

Niam 2024, cing cac thanh vién trong Ban TGD, BKS tham dy budi hop tong két vai
kiém toan dbc l4p ciia Cang Ty (Cong ty TNHH Ernst & Young Viét Nam) dé trao ddi
vé pham vi cudc kiém todn, két qua kidm toan va cde vin dé duge néu trong thur quan
1y, Theo d6, céc hoat déng clia VNG déu 18 ring, minh bach, khéng phét hién sai s6t
trong yéu ndo vé ké todn, tai chinh, eling nhwr quy trinh hoat déng.
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In 2024, the BOM and BOS members attended the veview meeting with the Company's
independent audit (Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited) to discuss the scope of the audit,
audit results and other issues prescribed in the management letter. Accordingly, VNG s
activities are clear and transparent, theve are no violations in accoumting, finance and
operational processes.

Ngoai ra, BKS di tién hanh sodt xét va phan tich bao cdo tai chinh hop nhit duge kiém
todn:

Additionally, BOS reviewed and analyzed the audited consolidated financial
statements:

- V& mit an ton tai chinh, cde chi s vé tinh thanh khodn cling nhwr cdc chi 50 lign

quan dén cor ciu tai sén, ngudn von déu & e on dinh.

In terms of financial safety, indicators of liguidity as well as indicators velating io

the structure of asseis and capital were on the stable level.

V& cic chi tiéu tai chinh, doanh thu Céng Ty n¥m 2024 ting xAp xi 1.681 ty dong,

t 18 22,1% so véi nam 2023 va 16 sau thué TNDN nidm 2024 giam xép xi 1.137 ty

déng, ty 18 49% so voi ndm 2023 chi yéu do thay ddi trong chinh sich ké toén trong

nim 2023 Ap dung trén co s& phi héi 6 lién quan dén viée ghi nhin doanh thu tro
choi tryc tuyén, trong d6 hé thng di cho phép theo ddi v ghi nhan s6 ligu ngudi

choi mét cach chi tiét. Cy thé, trong niim 2023, Céng Ty dd thye hign viée ghi nhan
doanh thu chua thue hién cho phén nghia vu chua hoan thanh ddi véi nguoi chai,
dén téi viée doanh thu clia nim 2023 gidm va 16 sau thué TNDN ciing ky ting manh.

Ngoai ra, mirc ting trong deanh thu ciia Cong Ty trong néim 2024 cling ¢ dong gop
dang ké tir ing trnrémg virgt bic cia nhom san phém tri tué nhan tao (Al).

In terms of financial standards, the Company s revenue in 2024 increased by 1,681

Billion dongs or 22.1% compared to 2023, and loss after CIT in 2024 decreased by
1,137 billion dongs or 49% compared to 2023, primarily attribute to a prospective
change in accounting policy in 2023 related to the recognition of revenue from
online games based on a system that now allows detailed tracking and recording of
user's data. Particularly, in 2023, the Company had recovded such deferred
revenue for unfulfilled obligations to users, which as a consequence dropped 2023
revenue and sharply stroke loss after CIT within the same period. Additionally, the
Company's revenue growth in 2024 was significantly contributed to by the
exceptional performance of its artificial intelligence (A1) product porifolio.

4. DPanh gis sy phdi hop hoat dfng gitra BKS véi HPQT vi Ban TGH:
Assessments of coordination between the BOS, the BOD and the BOM:

Trong ndm 2024, BKS d& phdi hop chit ché véi HPQT, Ban TGD trong viée thyre hién
chize néng nhiém vu duge giao. BKS duge Ban TGP va HPQT tgo diéu kién thudn lgi,
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cung edp day di cde théng tin, bdo cdo v dit 1iéu c6 lién quan dé BKS thire hién nhiém vy,
BKS durgce mdi tham gia dly di cde cube hop cia HDQT va cée cude hop quan trong khée
cila Cong Ty,

In 2024, the BOS coordinated with the BOD and BOM in performing assigned fimetions
and tasks. The BOS was fully provided with relaied information, report and data by the
BOM and BOD to complete its tasks. The BOS was invited to participate in all BOD's
meetings and other importani meetings of the Company.

Ngoai ra, BKS cling phdi hop chit ché véi HPQT, Ban TGP trong cong tde kiém tra, gidm
sit cdc cOng ty thanh vién cling nhw bd phin vén hanh tai Cong Ty, d& ¢o nhimg bién phép
xir 1y kip thai nhitng véin dé ton ddng, nfing cao chét lwong quan ly, ddm bio tuén thi cde
quy dinh hién hdnh. Trong ndm vira qua, BKS khéng nhin duge y kién, kién nghj gi tir phia
céc eo quan quan ly cling nhu cac b dang.

In addition, the BOS coordimated with the BOM and BOD to inspect and supervise the
subsidiaries, and the Company's departments as well in order to timely solve outstanding
problems, improve management s quality, and ensure compliance with current regulations.
During this year, the BOS did not receive any comments from the competent authorities

and shareholders.

BKS ciing di thing bdo két qud hoat déng ciia BKS va trinh bay cac dé xudt cdn thiét cho

Ban TG va HDQT.
The BOS has informed the results of the BOS activities and recommendations to the BOM

and BOD.

Trén ddy 13 toin bg Bdo cio hoat déng trong nam 2024 cua BKS, kinh trinh DHDCD thong

qua.
The above is the entive 2024 BOS report for the GMS's approval.

[Phin con lai cla trang ndy duge b tréng. Phan chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong.
Respectfully yours,

TM. BAN KIEM SOAT

NGUYEN VI NGOC HAN
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S6/No.: 07/2025/TTr —VNG
Ngay 30 thing 05 ndm 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Bdo edo thire hién phit Iinh ¢6 phiéu nim 2024 theo Churong trinh phdi Iank co phiéu
clo Newdi lno dong (“Clurong trink ESOP?), Ké hoach thye hign chuong trinh ESOP nim
2025 va viée 1y quyén trién ihai cho Hpi Pong Ouwiin Tri

PROPOSAL
T0 THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
Re.: Report of the Implementation of the 2024 share issuance nnder tlhe Employee Stock Option
Program (“ESOP”), 2025 Plan on implementation of the ESOP and authorization to the Board of
Directors

Kinh giti: Quy €& déng Céng Ty C6 Phin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholiders of VNG Corporation (“The Company™)

L Bio cio thue hién Chwong trinh ESOP nam 2024:
Report on 2024 ESOP implementation:

Lién quan dén Ké hoach phat hanh cb phi éu cho Nguiri lao dong nam 2024 da duge
Pai Hoi Pdng Ca Péng thong qua biing Nghi quyét sb 01/2024/NQ-DHDCD ngiy 21
thang 06 ndm 2024. Héi Pdng Quan Tri (“HPQT”) xin bio cdo Pai Hai Pong C6 Péng
(“PHPCP™) két qua thuc hién nhw saw;

In respect of the Plan on share issuance for Employees in 2024, which was approved
by the General Meeting of Shareholders by Resolution No. 01/2024/NO-DHDCD dated
21 Jume, 2024, The Board of Directors (“"BOD") would like to report the General
Meeting of Sharcholders (“GMS ") on the implementation resull as follows:

- Theo Ké hoach da duoc phé duyét, du kién s6 luong cd phiéu duge phat hanh cho
Ngudi lao déng nam 2024 la: 641.064 cb phan, véi gid chao ban 1a 30.000 déng/cd
phidu;

According to the approved Plan, the number of shares to be issued jor the
Employees in 2024 is 641,064 shares with offering price of 30,000 VND/share;

- Ngay 05/03/2025, HBQT Céng Ty dd thong qua viée trién khai ké hoach/phuong
én phdt hanh cd phigu ndm 2024 cho Ngudi lao dong theo Chuong trinh ESOP,
trong dé x4c dinh nguyén téc phan bd cb phiéu cho timg ngudi lao déng va danh
sach chi tiét ngudi lao dong duge phén phdi ¢d phiéu. Tong s6 co phiéu duge dy
kién phat hanh 1a 640.974 cb phiéu.
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On 5 March 2025, the Company's BOD approved the implementation of the share
issuance plan for the Employees in 2024 under the ESOP program, which included

the principles for allocating shares to each employee and the detailed list of

employees eligible to receive shares. The total number of shares expected to be
issued is 640,974 shares.

Tinh t6i thoi diém 18p Béo cdo ndy, Cong Ty dé hoan tit dot phat hanh 640.974 ¢d
phiéu niim 2024 cho Nguoi lao déng va dang thuc hién céc thi tuc cén thiét dé Béo
c40 két qua phét hanh v&i Uy Ban chiimg khodn Nha nuée va ting von Diéu 18 Cong
Ty.

As of the date of this report, the Company has completed the 2024 issuance of

640,974 shares to Emplovees and is in the process of carrying oul the necessary
procedures to repori the issuance resulis to the State Securities Commission and to
inerease the charter capital accordingly.

2. Ké hoach phat hanh eb phiéu cho Nguwdi lao déng nim 2025 theo Chwong trinh
ESOP:

Plan for 2025 share issuance to Employess under the ESOP Prograni:

Nhiim tiép tuc thye hién Chuong trinh ESOP, HDQT kinh trinh PHDCD théng qua Ké
hoach phat hanh nim 2025 (“Ké hoach ESOP 2025)” nhu sau:

To continue implementing the ESOP Program, the BOD respectfully presents fo the
GMS to approve the Plan for issuance af ESOP shares in 2025 (2025 ESOP Plan”)

as follows:
2.1. K& hoach phat hanh:

Share issuance plan:

Tén cb phiéu phdt hanh: ¢6 phiéu Cong Ty C6 Phin VNG;

Stock name: shares of VNG Corporation;

Téng sb cb phiéu dang luu hanh clia Cong Ty: 29.376.974 ¢b phiéu;
Total outstanding shares of the Company: 29,376,974 shares,

S6 lugng ¢6 phidu dy kién phat hanh theo K& hoach ESOP 2025: 418,807 6
phiéu, twong dwong 1,43% tong sb ¢b phidu dang luu hanh cia Cong Ty;

Number of shares expected to be issued under the ESOP: 418,807 shares,
equivalent to 1.43% of the Company's fotal outstanding shares,

Loai ¢b phin: C6 phén pho thong;
Share type: Ordinary shares;

Meénh gia: 10.000 ddng/cd phiéu;
Unit price: 10,000 dongs/share;

Gi4 phat hanh: 30.000 dbng/cd phiéu;
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Issuance price: 30,000 dongs/share,
Téng gid tri phat hanh theo ménh gid: 4.188.070.000 dbng;
Total value of issued shares: 4,188,070,000 dongs;

Han ché chuyén nhuong: Toan b sb lugng co phiéu phat hanh theo Ké hoach
ESOP 2025 sé bi han ché chuyén nhuong trong vong mét (01) nam ké tir ngay
két thie dot phat hanh (ngay két thiie viée thu tién cua Ngudi lao dong);

Transfer restrictions: All sharves issued wnder the 2025 ESOP Plan will be
subject to a transfer restriction for one year from the closing date of the
issuance (the date when Employee payvments are finalized);

Pii twong phét hanh: Ngudi lao dong, gom Ban Tong giam dbe, Ban gidm dbe
va Nhén vién/Ngudi lao dong thude cde phomg ban ctia Cong Ty va cac cong ty
con;

Eligibility: Employees, including the Board of Management, Management Team
and Staffi Employees of business units/departments of the Company and its
subsidiaries;
Tiéu chudn Ngudi lao dong duge tham gia K& hoach phat hanh ESOP 2025:
Eligibility criteria for Emplayees participating in the 2025 ESOP Plan;
+ Tham nién cong tac tai Cong Ty va/hoiic cdc cong ty con;
Seniority of service af the Company and/or its subsidiaries;
+ Chire vu, vi tri dam nhiém tai Cong Ty vad/hodc cde cong ty con;
Position and role held at the Company and/or its subsidiaries,
+ K&t qua hoan thanh céng viéc trong nim gﬁn nhit;
Performance resulls in the most recent year;
+ Tiém niing phét trién va kha nang déng gép vao hoat dong ciia Cong vashojic
cdc cdng ty con trong turong lai.
Potential for development and ability to contribute fo the operations of the
Company and/or ifs subsidiaries in the fiture.
Théi gian thuc hién dy kién: Tl Quy 3/2025 dén khi hoan tit céic thu tye ding
ky cén thiét theo quy dinh clia phdp ludt;
Tentative timeline jor offering: From Q3/2025 to complete all necessary
registrations as required under the laws;
Phuong 4n st dung vén thu duge tir dot chao ban: 86 tién thu duge s& ding d&
bé sung von hm dong cia Cong Ty, chi tiét do HPQT xéc dinh.

Plan to use the offering proceeds: The proceeds shall be used fo supplement the
Company's working capital, details shall be determined by the BOD.
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2.2, Uy quyén thuye hién:

Auwthorization for implementation:

DHDCD 1ty quyén cho HPQT xdce dinh vi quyét dinh cde ndi dung cu thé durdi day cua
K¢ hoach ESOP 2025:

The GMS awthorizes the BOD to determine and decide the following contents of the
2025 ESOP Plan:

a}

c)

d)

Tiéu chudn chi tiét va danh séch Ngudi lao déng duoe tham gia Ké hoach ESOP
2025;

Detail eriteria and list of eligible employees to participate in the 2025 ESOP
Plan;

Nguyén tic xédc dinh s b phidu duge phan phéi cho timg d6i tuong va thoi
gian thye hién;

The principle of determining the number of shares to be disivibuied to each
subject and the implementation time;

Phuwong 4n dém béo viée phat hanh ¢d phiéu tuan thi quy dinh vé ty 18 s hitu
nude ngodi t6i da trong trudmg hop phat hanh ¢b phiéu cho ngui lao déng;

The plan is ta ensure the issuance of shares to meet the regulations on foreign
ownership limit of the Company in the case of ESOP shares issuance;

S& luong ch phiéu phat hanh thuc té niim 2025 ¢6 thé didu chinh theo quyét dinh
ctia HPQT nhung khéng duge vuot qué sd lugng ¢b phiéu dy kién phat hanh
duoc néu tai Muc 2.1 & trén va luén phai bao dam tudn thi tong s6 ¢6 phidu phat
hénh theo Chuong trinh ESOP trong mdi 12 thang khong duge vugt qua 5% s6
¢d phiéu dang luu hanh cia Cong Ty theo quy dinh phép ludt;

The actual number of shares to be issued under the 2025 ESOP Plan may be
adjusted based on a resolution of the Board of Directors. However, such
number must not exceed the maximum number of shares proposed for issuance
as specified in Section 2.1 above, In all cases, the total number of shares fssued
under the ESOP Program within any rolling 12-month period must comply with
applicable laws and shall not exceed 5% of the Company’s total outstanding
shares at the relevant time;

Viée tang von diéu 1¢ ciia Cong Ty twong ting véi sb ¢b phidu phét hanh theo
Ké hoach ESOP 2025;

The increase in charter capital of the Company equivalent fo the number of
shares to be issued under the 2025 ESOP Plan;

Phuong 4n xir 1y s ¢d phén chao ban khéng hét;

Plan for solving the un-exercised shares;
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g)

h)

1)

1)

Thuye hién céc thi tuc cin thiét dé dang ky phét hanh ¢6 phiéu theo K€ hoach
ESOP 2025 cho ngudi lao déng theo ké hoach di duoc PHDCH phé duyét véi
Uy Ban chimg khoan nha nuée (“UBCKNN”): b6 sung hoic stra doi phuong
4n theo yéu ciu ciia UBCKNN hodc cho muc dich tudn thi cde quy dinh cia
phép ludt lién quan {néu cd); Quyét dinh thdi diém phat hanh cy thé;

Perform the necessary procedures and steps fo register share issuance under
the 2025 ESOP Plan to the employees as approved by the GMS with the State
af Security Commission (“SSC”); supplement and amend the plan as requested
by SSC or for the purpose of compliance with the applicable laws (if any),
Determination of the specific timing of the share issuance,

Thue hién cée thil tue cin thiét dé béo cdo két qua phét hanh véi UBCKNN;

Perform the necessary procedures to report the issuance results to the State
Securities Commission;

Thue hién céc thi tue ein thiét dé ding ky chimg khoan bo sung véi toan bd s
b phiéu phat hanh theo Ké hoach ESOP 2025 v6i Tong cong ty luu ky va bl
triv chimg khoan Vigt Nam;

Perform the necessary procedures and steps to register additional shares for
all the shares issued under the 2025 ESOP Plan with Vietnam securifies
depository and eleaving corporation;

Thyc hién cde thi tuc cén thiét dé dang ky giao dich bé sung sb ¢ phiéu phat
hanh theo K& hoach ESOP 2025 vé&i S& giao dich chimg khoan Ha Noi;

Perform the necessary procedures and steps fo register trading for the
additional share issued under the 2025 ESOP Plan with Hanoi Stock Exchange;
Stra déi Piéu Lé Cang Ty dé cap nhat Vin didu 18, ¢b phin, cb phiéu do viée
phét hanh ¢b phiu ESOP nam 2025;

Amend the Company’s Charter to reflect the new charter capital, and number
of shares due to the issuance of ESOP shares in 2025;

Thue hién thit tue tang von diéu 1¢ véi Co quan ding ky kinh doanh Thanh phé
Hé Chi Minh tuong tmg véi dot phét hanh b phiéu ESOP theo ké hoach dirge
phé duyét;

Register the increase of the charter capital with Ho Chi Minh enterprise
registration equivalent to the issuance of ESOP shares as approved plan;
Thyc hién giai toa so lwong cd phiéu ESOP phat hanh theo Ké hoach ESOP
2025 sau khi hét thdi han han ché chuyén nhwong;

Release the ESOP shares issued under the 2025 ESOP Plan after the expiry of

the transfer resiriction period;

Qu}'ét dinh céc van dé phat sinh khac ¢é lién quan dén vige phét hanh cb phiéu
theo Ké hoach ESOP 2025;
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Decide other arising issues related to the annual issuance of shares under the
2025 ESOP Plan,

0) Phit hgp v&i pham vi dy quyén tai Pién nay, HPQT duge uy quyén cho Chi

tich HDQT vi/hodic Téng giam ddc tién hanh cac cng viée cu thé dé thuc hién
ké hoach, va ky hd sor va cac tai lidu cén thiét dé nop cho co quan chic ning
lién quan dén cée th tue thue hién,
In the scope of authorization under this Section, the BOD can authorize the
Chairman of the BOD or/and the Chief Executive Officer to conduct the specific
workstreams aof the plan and sign the documents and dossiers submit to the
relevant regulators in connection with the regulatory procedures.

[Phin con lai ciia trang nay duge bd trdng. Phin chit ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remuainder of this page is leff blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong,

Respectfully yours,

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHU TICH
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SO6/No.: 08/2025/TTr -VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30™ May, 2025

TO TRINH
DPAI HQOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: Théng qua viée quy dinh 6§ I8 sé hitu nide ngodi téi da cita Cong Ty
PROPOSAL
TO 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving the maximum foreign ownership limit of the Company

Kinh giri: Quy C6 déng Cong ty cb phin VNG (“Cong Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company"™)

Dé dam bdo tuan thii quy dinh vé gi6i han ty 18 sé hitu nuée ngodi ctia Cong Ty khi thyc hién
ké hoach phat hanh ¢é phén wu dai cho ngudi lao dgng (“ESOP™) nam 2025, Hoi Déng Quén
Tri (“HDPQT?) kinh trinh Pai Hgi Pdng C6 Péng (“PHPCPH™) thong qua viéc quy dinh ty 1&
s& hiru murde ngoai téi da tai Cong Ty va sira d6i Piéu Lé Cong Ty nhu chi tiét duéi day:

To fully comply with the Vietmamese laws on foreign ovwnership limit during the performance
aof the share issuance plan for 2025, the Board of Directors ("BOD") would like to seek the
General Meeting of Shareholders(“GMS™) approval for the maximum foreign ownership limif
of the Company and the amendment of the Company Charter as follows:

Quy dinh ty 1& sé hitu nude ¢ TV 1& sd hitu nurde ngoai toi da ciia Cong Ty 1a 47,26% va s&

ngodi toi da duoc duy tri cho dén khi duge DHDCD phé duyét mot ty 1€
khée.

Maximum Joreignn : The Company's foreign ownership limit will be 47.26% and

ownership limil shall remain until another approval by the GMS is obtained.

Quy dinh ty 1& s& hitu nuée  : Phu Lyc 01, Pidu Lé Stra Pdi ctia Cong Ty quy dinh vé ty 18

ngodai thi da tai Pidu Lé Sira s& hitu nude ngodi nhu sau:

Doi Appendix 01 of the Amended Charter of the Company

Provisions on the foreign stipulates the foreign ownership limit as follows:

ownership limit as set out in

the Amended Charter “Khéng mfu thufin véi quy dinh tai Piéu 5.7(a) cha Didu Lé
Sira Pl tv 1é s¢ hivu nude ngodi t6i da cia Cong Ty 1a
47,26%.”
“Without prejudice to the provisions of Article 5.7(a) of the
Amended Charter, the foreign ownership limit of the
Company is 47.26%.”
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Uy quyén thwe hién
Aunthorization for execution

DHDCD 1y quyén cho Ngudi dai dién phép lugt ctia Cong Ty:
The GMS authorizes the Legal representative of the Company (o:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

thue hién cée diéu chinh cin thiét déi véi vige quy dinh ty 1& sé hitu nuée ngoai trong

Diéu Lé Céng Ty va ban hanh.
make the necessary wording amendments fo the provisions on foreign ownership limit
in the Company's Charter and ro promulgate the revised version accordingly.

quyét dinh ni dung hd so, tai liéu ndp lén cic co quan Nha nude eb thim quyén nhim
dang ky t 1& sé hitu nude ngoai t6i da cua Cong Ty;

decide the contents of dossiers and documents submitted fo competent authorifies in
respect of registration of the Company's foreign ownership limif;

thuc hién c4c cong viée, thil tuc cén thiét khac @8 trién khai ndi dung da duge PHBCD

chfip thufin theo Tér trinh nay.
perform the necessary steps and procedures fo execute the matfers which have been

approved by the GMS in accordance with this Proposal.

[Phén con lai cia trang nay duge bo tréng. Phén chit ky ¢ trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Trén trong,

Respectfully yours,

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TR]
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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S6/No.: 09/2025/TT—VNG
Ngay 30 thang 5 nam 2025
30™ My 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HOI BPONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: Thing qua viée didu chinh nganh nghé kinh doanh ciia Cong Ty Cé Phin VNG

PROPOSAL
10 THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 2025
Re.: Approving the amendmeni of business lines of VNG Corporation

Kinh giri: Quy C6 dong Cong Ty C Phin VNG (“Céng Ty”),
To: Shareholders of VNG Corparation (the “Company”),

Nhém dap (mg dinh huéng va ké hoach phat trién kinh doanh ciia Céng Ty trong thdi gian t6i,
danth mue nganh nghé diing ky kinh doanh ctia Céng Ty cén duoc diéu chinh, bd sung dé phi hop
va tudn thi cac quy dinh phép ludt chuyén nganh trong timg linh vuc cu thé,

To align with the Company's business development strategy and plans for the upcoming period,
the list of the Company's registered business lines requires adiustment and supplementation to
ensure conformity with and compliance with specialized legal regulations in each specific sector.

Do viy, Hoi Dong Quan Tri (“HPQT™) kinh trinh Pai Hoi Déng Cb Pong (“PHPCP™) xem xét
va thong qua:

Therefore, the Board of Directors (“BOD”) hereby respectfully submits the proposal to the
General Meeting of Shareholders ("GMS ") for consideration and approval:

. Noi dung diéu chinh nganh 1ngilf'é dang ky kinh doanh cua Coéng Ty theo Danh myc ngénh
nghé dang ky kinh doanh diéu chinh dinh kém.

The Company's registered business lines shall be adjusted as detailed in the attached List of
amended business lines registration.

2. DHDCD fy quyén cho Ngudi dai dién phap ludt clia Cong Ty tién hanh céc cong viéc, thi
tuc can thiét dé trién khai ndi dung da duge DHDCD chip thuan bao gbm nhung khéng gidi
han & (i) ky toan b tai lidu lién quan dé trinh ndp cor quan diing ky kinh doanh; (ii) trong
pham vi cdc nhdém nganh nghé da duge DHDCB théng qua, chit dong ra soal, bé sung, chinh
stia T& Trinh ndy va/hodc Danh muc nginh nghé ding ky kinh doanh nhim dam bao vige
diéu chinh nganh nghé ding ky kinh doanh ciia Cong Ty duoge thue hién sudn sé va dap tmg
e tiéu phét trién hoat djng kinh doanh ciia Céng Ty va (iii) ban hanh ban Diéu Lé hodc
Phu lye cép nhat Biéu Lé tuong ung.

The GMS hereby resolves to authorize the Company’s Legal representalive to undertake all
necessary tasks and procedures to implement the content approved by the GMS, including
but not limited to (i) executing all relevant documents for submission io the business
registration authority; (ii) within the scope of the business sectors approved by the GMS,
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proactively reviewing, amending, and supplementing this Proposal and/or the attached List
of Amended Business Lines Registration, in arder to enswre the smooth implementation of
the amendment and ta serve the Company s business development objectives and (iii) signing
and isswing the updated Charter or the relevant Annex to the Charter,

[Phén eon lai ctia trang nay duge bo trdng. Phin chir ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally. Signature page follows]
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Tréin trong,
Respecifully vours,

TM. HQ1 PONG QUAN TR]
ALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

T
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DANH MUC NGANH NGHE PANG KY KINH DOANH PIEU CHINH CUA CONG TY
LIST OF AMENDED BUSINESS LINES REGISTRATION OF THE COMPANY

STT Tén nganh Ma nganh Pé xuit
No. Business lines theo VSIC Proposal
VSIC code

1. | T véAn may vi tinh va quan trj hé thdng may vi 6202 Gifr nguyén
tinh No change
Computer consultancy and  system
adminisiration
(CPC 849)

2. | Kinh doanh bit dong sén, quyen sir dyng dat | 6810 Giit nguyén
thude chi sé hitu, chi sir dung hodc di thué No change
(telr ddu tw x4y dung ha ting nghia trang, nghia
dia @& chuyén nhugng quyén st dung dét gin
véi ha tAng)
Chi tiét: Kinh doanh bat déng san.
Real estate activifies with owned or leased
properyy
Details: Real estate business.
(Except for the conmstruction of cemetery
infrastructure to transfer land use righis
associated with infrastrictiive)

3. | Xir ly dir liéu, cho thué va cdc hoat dong lién 6311 Diéu chinh

Amendment

quan

Chi tiét: dich vy truy cap dur liéu va théng tin
trén mang, dich vu xir ly dit liéu va thing tin
trén mang, Xay dung co s¢ dir liéu, luu triy co
s0 dit lidu, khai thac co s¢ dit liéu, (CPC 843);
va dich vu thiét ké, tao khong gian va thi gian
quing cdo trén internet.

(trir céc hoat dong lién quan dén an ninh, hoat
ddng bao chi va hoat déng thu thip tin tic dudi
moi hinh thirc)

Data processing, hosting and related activities
Details: services for accessing data and
information on the network, services for
processing data and information on the
network. Database building, database storage,
database mining. (CPC 843), and services for
the design and provision of adveriising space
and time on the Internet.

(Except for activities related to security, press
aciivities and news gathering in any form)

(i) Loai bé ndi dung han ché sau
tai phin chi tiét:

(i) The following restrictive
content shall be removed from
the detailed section:

“(Doanh nghiép khing dugc
cung cdp “dich vu théng tin trirc
tuyén va xir Iy dit ligu bao gom
ca xtv Iy giao dich (¢ ma CPC
843%%) va dich vu rrzgrén déan dir
liéu ver tin (c6 md sé6 CPC
P nad | i

“(Enterprises may not provide
“online information and data
processing  services including
fransaction  processing  (with
CPC code 843™*) and data and
message [ransmission services
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STT

Tén nganh
Business lines

M nganh
theo VSIC
FSIC code

Pé xudit
Proposal

(with CPC code 7523%%))"

Va (ii) bb sung ndi dung chi tiét
sau:

And (i) the following detail
shall be added.:

“va dich vu thiét k¢, tao khong
gian va thai gian quang cdo trén
infernet.”

“and services jor the design and
provision of advertising space
and time on the Internet.”

Hoat d6ng vién théng khac
Chi tiét:

Pai 1y cung cap dich vu internet,

Cung cép dich vy truy nhép internet (ISP).
Cung cép dich vu (ng dung internet trong
buu chinh, vién théng (OSP buu chinh, OSP
vién théng) (trir ban lai ha ting vién thong,
mang cung cip).

Cung eép dich vu ndi dung thong tin trén
mang vien thong di déng.

Dich vu dién todn dam méy.

Dich vy néi dung théng tin sb.

Dich vu vién théng cong thém cia dich vy
vién théng co ban trén Internet.

(Dich vu truy cép Internet IAS, khéng ¢6 ha
ting mang) ,

(trir cac hoat dong lién quan dén an ninh, hoat
ding bao chi va hoat ddng thu thap tin tire dudi
moi hinh thire)

Oiher telecommunications activities

Details:

Internet services provider agent.

Providing Internet access service (ISP)
Providing service of internet applied in post
and telecommunication (OSP Posi, OSP
telecommunication)  (except:  reselling
telecommunications infrastructure, network

supply)

6190

Piéu chinh.
Amendment

Cu thé, bd sung noi dung chi tiét
Sau:

Specifically,  the  following
detailed content shall be added:

- Cung cip dich vp ndi dung
théng tin trén mang vién
thong di dong.

Provision of  information
content services on mobile
telecommunications
networks.

- Dich vy dién todan dam may.
Cloud computing services.

- Dich vu ndi dung théng tin
56.

Digital information content
services

- Dich vu vién théng céng
thém clia dich vu vién théng
co béan trén Internet.
Value-added
telecommunications
are  provided fo
telecommunications services
on the Internet.

Services
basic
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STT
No.

Tén nganh
Business lines

Ma nganh
theo VSIC
FSIC code

Dé xuit
Proposal

- Provision of information contenf services
on mabile telecommunications networks.

- Cloud computing services.

- Digital information confent services.

- Value-added rtelecommunications services
to basic telecommunications services on the
Internel,

(IAS internet access service, without network
infrastructire)

(Except for activities related to security, press
activities and news gathering in any form)

Quang cao

Chi tiét: Quang cao thuwong mai (CPC 8§71)
(T4 chire kinh 1é €6 von déu tr mede ngoai
khong dwrge thue hién gudang edo thude Id vir
reegie; khéng diege thiee hién hoat dong in an va
phét hanh ede dn pham)

Advertising

Details: Commercial advertising (CPC 871)
(Foreign-invested economic organizations are
nat allowed to advertise tobacco and alcohal;
they are not allowed to carry out printing and
publishing activities)

7310

Gilr nguyén
No change

Hoat dong wvui choi giai tri khice chua duge
phén vao dan

Chi tiét: - Kinh doanh tro choi dign tir.- Cung
cép dich vu tro choi dién tir trén mang (frir hoat
dong kinh doanh tro choi dién tir co thudng
démh eho ngiedi nuoe ngoai va kinh doanh tro
choi dién tir co thieang trén mang) (CPC 964)
Other amusement and reereation activities
n.e.c

Detail: - Games; - Online game services
(except for the business of award-winning
videa games for foreigners and the online
prize-winning video games) (CPC 964)

9329
(Chinh)

Gilr nguyén
No change

Dich vu thong tin khac chwa duge phén vao
ddu

Chi tiét: Céc dich vu théng tin qua dién thoai
(dich vy nhan tin, dich vu PCS - Personal
Communication Service) (Dich vu vién théng
khéc khong c6 ha ting mang)

6399

Giflt nguyén
No change
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STT
No.

Tén nganh
Business lines

Mi nganh
theo VSIC
VSIC code

Dé xuat
Proposal

(trir cac hoat ddng lién quan dén an ninh, hoat
dong bao chi va hoat déng thu thap tin tire
dudi moi hinh thire)

Other information services n.e.c:

Derails:  Telephone  information  services
(messaging service, PCS service - Personal
Communication Service) (Other
felecommunications services without nefwork
infrastriciure)

(Except for activities related to security, press
aclivities and news gathering in any form)

Dai |y, méi gidi, dau gi4 hang hoa

Chi tiét: dai 1y hoa hdng mua ban thé dién
thoai, thé internet, thé trd choi. (CPC 621)

(trir cac san phidm ma nha dau tw nude ngodi,
t6 chire kinh 1€ ¢6 von nude ngoai khéng duge
thue hién quyén xuét khau, quyén nhip khéu,
quyén phén phdi theo quy dinh ciia phap luét)
Agency, intermediary, auction (CPC 621)
Details: commission agent buying and selling
phone cards, internet cards, and game cards.
(CPC 621)

(Except for products that foreign investors and
foreign-invested economic organizations are
noi allowed to export, import, distribute
according to the provisions of law)

4610

Gitt nguyén
No change

Lap trinh may vi tinh

Chi tiét: san xudt phin mém, tw vin vi cung
cdp phan mém (CPC 849)

(trir cdc san phim ma nha déu tw nudc ngodi,
t6 chire kinh té c6 vén nudce ngoai khéng duge
thyre hién quyén xuét khéu, quyén nhép khau,
quyén phén phdi theo quy dinh ciia phap luét)
Computer progremming Software production,
consulting and supplying software (CPC 849)
(Except for products that foreign invesiors and
Joreign-invested economic organizations are
nat allowed to export, import, distribute
according to the provisions af law)

6201

Gitr nguyén
No change

10.

Dich vu Céng théng tin
Chi tiét:

- Thiét 1ap mang x& hoi;

6312

Bé sung
Supplement

BUILD TECHNCOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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STT
No.

Teén nganh
Business lines

Ma nganh
theo VSIC
VSIC code

Dé xuit
Proposal

- Thiét lap trang théng tin dién it thng hop
(Trir hoat dong bao chi);

- Website thuong mai dién tir;

- San giao dich thwong mai dién t.

Paorral Services
Details:

- Establishing social networks;

- Establishing news aggregator sifes
(excluding press activities),

- E-commerce trading platforms;

- E-commerce.

11.

Hoat déng dich vu hd tro khac lién quan dén
vin tai

Chi tiét: Pai Iy ban vé may bay

Other supporting service activities related to
fransporitation

Details: Activities of airline ticket agencies.

5229

Bé sung
Supplement

12.

Hoat dong ghi dm va xuét bin 4m nhac
Sound recording and music  publishing
activities

3920

Bb sung
Supplement

13,

Hoat dong cua dai 1y va mbi gioi bao hiém
Activities of insurance agents and brokers

6622

B6 sung
Supplement

14.

Hoat dong dich vu lién quan dén cac cude goi
Call-related service activities

8220

B sung
Supplement

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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S&/No: 10/2025/TTr —-VNG
Meay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HQI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: miién whiém thanh vién
Héi Dong Oudn Tri va Ban Kiém Sodt nhiém ky 2020-2025

PROPOSAL
10 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: the removal of the member of
the Board of Directors and the Board af Supervisors for office term 2020-2025

Kinh giri: Quy Co déng Cang Ty Cé Phin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company™)

Hoi Pdng Quan Tri (“HPQT™) kinh trinh Pai Hoi Dong C6 Pong (“PHDCP™) xem xét vi
théng qua viée mién nhiém thanh vién HDQT v Ban Kiém Soat nhiém ki 2020-2025,

The Board of Directors ("BOD"') respectfully submits the proposal fo the General Meeting of
Sharcholders (“GMS”) for considering and approving the removal of the members of the
BOD and the Board of Supervisors (“BOS") for the office term 2020-20235.

1l, Cén cir Pon tir nhiém cia thanh vién HDQT nhu dinh kém, dé dam bdo viée mién
nhigm thanh vién HPQT diang quy dinh cta phéap luat, HBQT kinh trinh BPHBCD
chap thudn viéc mién nhiém chire danh thanh vién HDQT déi véi ngudi cd tén sau:
Pursuant to the attached resignation letters of the BOD ' member, in compliance with
relevant law concerning the removal of the BOD's member, the BOD respectfully
submits fo the GMS to approve the removal from the BOD s member position of the
Jollowing person.

Ong V& S§ Nhén — thanh vién HDQT.
My, Vi Sy Nhdn— BOD's member.

2. Can cir Pon tir nhiém ctia thanh vién BKS nhu dinh kém, dé dam bdo viée mién
nhiém thanh vién BKS diing quy dinh ctia phap ludt, HDQT kinh trinh DPHDCB chap
thudn viéc mién nhiém chic danh thanh vién BKS déi voi ngudi cd tén sau:
Pursuant to the aftached resignation letters of the BOS's member, in compliance
with relevani law concerning the removal of the BOS's member, the BOD
respecifully submiis to the GMS to approve the removal from the BOS’s member
position of the following person:

Ong Pham Vin D& La — thanh vién BKS.
Mr, Pham Van Do La — BOS's member.

HPQT kinh trinh BPHDCD xem xét va thong qua.
The BOD respectfully submits to the GMS for consideration and approval.

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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Trén trong.

Respectfully vours.

TM. HQI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Ngéy: 22 thang 11 néiam 2024
Dare: 22 November 2024

Kinh gui/lo: Pai Hoi Ddng C6 Péng Cong Ty Co Phin VNG
General Shareholders Meeting of VNG Corporation
H{i Pong Quan Tri Céng Ty C6 Phin VNG
Board of Directors of VNG Corporation

Viv: Tir nhiém chiie vu Chit tich Hgi Péng Quan Tri (“HPOT”)
Re: Resignation firom office as the Chairman of the Board of Directors ("BOD”)

T61, nguoi ky tén du'm ddy. mang CCCD sb cap ngay bai

( 7 . Chirc vu hién nay: Chu tich Hdi dﬂng quan tri cua Cong Ty C‘
Phian VNG.

I, the undersigned, holder of ID card No. issued on by 1

Current position: Chairman of BOD of VNG Corporation.

Bang van ban nay, xin duwoe tiv nhiém chite vy Chi tich HDQT ctia Céng Ty C6 phén VNG
tir ngay 22/11/2024 vi ly do ca nhan.

1 am writing this letter to formally resign from my office as Chairman of the Board of
Directors of VNG Corporation, effective from November 22, 2024, for personal reasons,

Trén trong,
Regards,

RV

V& S§ Nhin




CONG HOA XA HOI CHU NGHIA VIET NAM
SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
DPoe lip — Ty do — Hanh phic
Independence — Freedom — Happiness

-==000---
DON T NHIEM
RESIGNATION LETTER
Kinh gi: - Bai Hoi Bong C6 Dong (“DPHPCD™) Cong Ty Cb Phan VNG
To: The General Meeting of Shareholders (A GM' ) of VNG Corporation

- HHi Bong Quan Tri (“HDQT”) Cong Ty Cb Phin VNG
The Board of Directors (“BOD") of VNG Corporation

T61 tén 1a/ I the undersigned: Pham Vian Dé La
S8 CCCD/ ID Card Number:

Ngay chp/ Isswed date: |

Noi cap/ Issued by:

)
Quoc tich/ Nationality: Viét Nam

Hién dang la Thénh Vién Ban Kiém Sodt Cong T}" Cd Phin VNG (“Céng Ty™) nhi¢gm ky 2022
— 2025, duoc bau bd sung tai ky hop Dai Hoi Déng C6 Déng Thudng Nién eta Cong Ty vao
ngdy 21/06/2024

I am the Member of the Board of Supervisors of VNG Corporation (“the Company”) for the
office ferm 2022 — 2025, appointed as an additional member during the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders of the Company on June 21, 2024.

Nay vi Iy do cé nhén, T6i khong thé tiép tuc dam nhiém céng viée duoe phén cong tai Ban
Kiém Soat. Téi lam don nay kinh trinh, d& nghi PHDCD va HDOQT cho phép toi duge mién
nhiém tr cdch Thanh Vién Ban Kiém soét cua Cong Ty tiv ngay |4/ 2/ /046,

Because of personal reasons, I cannot continue to take responsibilities for the assigned works
at the BOS of the Company. I would like to submit io the AGM and the BOD my resignation
from the position Member of BOS of the Company, effective from A3 [/ L0205

Kinh mong PHDCB va HPQT chip thudn Pon tir nhiém ciia Téi.
I would like to seek the AGM and the BOD fo approve my resignation.

Trén trong,
Respectfully yours.
TP. Hd Chi Minh, ngay £ thang % nam 2025
Ho Chi Minh City, d] [7/2025
NGUOI LAM BON
THE APPLICANT
(Ky va ghi rd hg tén)
(Signature and full-name)

fﬂ"&;—f ‘

PHAM VAN BO LA
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S6/Na: 11-01/2025/TTr VNG

Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
V/v: Bau cie thinl vién Hai Dong Quin Trj nhidm kjy 2025-2030 v phé duyét thit lao ciia
HDOT
PROPOSAL
TO 2025 GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Election of members of the Board of Directors for the term of 2025-2030
and approving the BOD’s remuneration

Kinh giri: Quy C6 déng Cong Ty C6 Phin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders af VNG Corporation (the “Company”)

Xét thay Hoi Dang Quan Tri ("HPQT”) nhiém ky 2020 — 2025 sé& két thiic nhiém k§ ngay sau
cude hop Dai Hoi Bdng C6 Déng Thuomg Nién nim 2025, HPQT kinh trinh Dai Hoi Pbng Cd
Péng (“DHDCD”) thudng nién xem xét va théng qua viée bau cir thanh vién HPQT nhiém
vy 2025 - 2030 va thi lao cho thanh vién HPOQT nhu sau.

In consideration that the term of office of the Board of Directors ("BOD") for the 2020 — 2025
mandate will expire immediately after the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the
BOD respecifully submits the proposal to the General Meeting of Shareholders (“GMS") for
considering and approving to elect BOD’s members for the rerm 2025 - 2030, and
remuneration for BOD's members as follow.

I. Danh sich trng eir vién:
List of candidates:
1. Ong Lé Héng Minh
Mr. Le Hong Minh

2. Ong Vwong Quang Khai
Mr. Vuong Ouang Khai

3. Ba Christina Gaw
Ms. Christing Gaw

4, Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat
Mr. Edphawin Jeijirawat

Trong d6, Ba Christina Gaw va Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat 1 tmg cir vién thanh vién doc 14p
v khong di¢u hanh HDQT.

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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In which, Ms. Christina Gaw and Mr. Edphawin Jetjirawat are candidates for independent
and non-executive members of the BOD.

Ly lich caa cde ang cir vién duge dinh kém T trinh nay.
The Résumeé of the candidates are attached hereto.

II. Thi lao etia HPQT: khong thi lao
BOD s remuneration: no remuneralion

HDQT kinh trinh DPHBCD xem xét va thong qua.
The BOD respectfully submits to the GMS jor considerarion and approval,

Trén trong.
Respecifully yours.

TM. HQ1 PONG QUAN TRI/ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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SH/No: 11-02/2025/TTr -VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH

DAL HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025

V/v: Béu civ thanl vién Ban Kiém Sodt nli¢m kp 2025-2030

v phé duyét thir lno eita Ban Kiém Sodt
PROPOSAL
T0 2025 GENERAL MEETING OF SHARFHOLDERS
Re.: Election of Board of Supervisors members for office term 2025-2030
and approving s remuneration

Kinh giri: Quy Cb déng Cong Ty Cd Phéin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
Tao: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company”)

Xét thiy Ban Kiém Soat (“BKS™) nhiém ky 2020 — 2025 s& két thic nhiém ky ngay sau cude
hop Pai Hoi Pdng C6 Dong Thudng Nién ndm 2025, Hoi Déng Quan Tri (“HDQT”) kinh trinh
Dai Hoi Pdng Cd Péng (“PHDCD”) xem xét va théng qua viée biu cir thanh vién Ban
Kiém Soat (“BIKS”) nhiém ki méi 2025 — 2030 va thu lao cho thanh vién BKS nhur sau:

In consideration that the term of office of the Board of Supervisors ("BOS") for the 2020 —
2025 mandate will expire immedialely after the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders, the Board of Direciors (“BOD™) respectfully submiis the proposal to the
General Meeting of Shareholders (“GMS") for considering and approving to elect the BOS’s
members for the office term of 2025 - 2030 and remuneration for the BOS's members as
Jfollow:

L. Danh sdch trng cir vién:
List of candidates:

1. Ong Hoang Anh
Mr. Hoang Anh

2. Ong Vil Thanh Long
Mr. Vu Thanh Long

3. OngNgb Vi Hai Long
Mr. Ngo Vi Hai Long

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
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Ly lich clia ¢de (ing et vién duge dinh kém To trinh nay,

The résumé of the candidates is atiached hereto.

I1. Thii lao ena BKS:
Remuneration for the BOS:

1. Thi lao hoat dong ciia BKS: 240.000.000 Béng/nam
Remuneration for the BOS: 240,000,000 Dong/vear,

2. Thil lao nay s& dugc gilr nguyén cho cde nam tiép theo dén khi c¢6 quyét dinh méi

cua DHDCD.
This remuneration shall remain unchanged for the following years unless having

new resolution of the GMS.

HPQT kinh trinh BPHBCDH xem xét va thong qua.
The BOD respectfully submits to the GMS for consideration and approval

[Phén con lai ciia trang nay duge bo trong. Phan chir ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is lefi blank intentionally. Signature page follows]
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Trén trong.
Respectfully yours.

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE



SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Théng tin ca nhin:
Personal information.
I.  Ho vitén: LE HONG MINH
Full name: LE HONG MINH
2. Gii tinh: Nam
Gender: Male
3, CCCD/H chiéu s Ngiy cép: Noi cip:

DY Passport No.: Date of issue: . ' Place of issue:

4. Ngay thang ndm sinh:
Date af birth:

5. Noisinh:
Place of birth:

6. Qube tich: Viét Nam
Nationality: Vietnamese

7. HO khiu thuomg tri:

Place of resident. .
8.  Diachilién hé&
Contact address: .

9.  Trinh dd chuyén mon: C& nhan chuyén nganh Kinh doanh, Ngéin hang v Tai chinh
Qualification: Bachelor of Business, Banking and Finance
10,  Qua trinh cbng tac:

Work experience:

Nim Noi hoe tip, lam viée Chire danh
Year Place of education, work Title
Tir 1997 dén 2001 PH Monash, Uc Sinh vién

From 1997 10 2001 Monash University, Australia Undergraduate




Tir 2001 dén ndm 2003
Fyam 2001 to 20003

CONG TY TNHH PWC (VIET NAM)
PWC (VIETNAM) LIMITED

Phé Phéng Tur Vin Tai
Chinh Doanh Nghiép
Deputy Manager of
Corporate Advisory

Tir nim 2003 dén nim
2006

From 2003 to 2006

CONG TY CO PHAN QUAN LY QUY
VINACAPITAL
VINACAPITAL FUND MANAGEMENT

i £ - 5
(Giam Boc Bieu Hanh

Managing Direcfor

JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Tir nam 2004 dénnay | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG Nguwi sang lap, Chu
From 2004 to present | VNG CORPORATION Tich Héi ddng Quén tri
Founder, Chairman of
Board of Directors
Tir ndm 2007 dén nay | CONG TY €O PHAN DICH VU MANG VI | Chi tich Hai déng

From 2007 to present

NA

Vi NA NET SERVICES JOINT STOCK
COMPANY

Quan tri
Chairman of Board of
Directors

Tit nam 2012 dén nay

From 2012 to present

CONG TY VNG SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
VNG SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.

5 £
Giam BPoc

Directar

Tt nim 2017 dén nay
From 2017 to present

CONG TY €O PHAN DICH VU - DU LIEU
CONG NGHE THONG TIN VINA

VI NA DATA INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
- SERVICE JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Chti tich Hi ddng
Quén tri

Chairman of Board of
Direciors

Tir ndm 2018 dén nay
From 2018 to present

CONG TY €O PHAN CONG NGHE EPI

EPI TECHNOLOGIES JOINT STOCK
COMPANY

Thanh vién Hoi dong
Quén tri

Member of Board of
Directors

Tirnam 2018 dén nay | CONG TY MLT HONGKONG LIMITED Giam Db

From 2018 to present | MLT HONGKONG LIMITED Director

Tirnam 2022 dénnay | CONG TY VNG LIMITED Chu Tich Héi dbng
From 2022 to present | VNG LIMITED Quén trj va Tong Gidm

Db
Chairman of Board of
Directors cum CEQ




Tir ndim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY VNG INVESTMENT PTE.LTD. | Gidm Déc
From 2022 to present | VNG INVESTMENT PTE.LTD. Director
Tir nam 2022 dénnay |CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY HOLDINGS | Giam Déc
From 2022 to present PTE.LTD. Director
INSTANTIAPAY HOLDINGS PTE.LTD.
Tir niim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY SG PTE.LTD, | Gidm Pée
From 2022 to present | INSTANTIAPAY SG PTE.LTD. Director
Tit nam 2022 dénnay | CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY LIMITED (HK) | Gidm Dée
From 2022 to present | INSTANTIAPAY LIMITED (HK) Director
Tirndm 2022 dénnay |CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY PTY LTD |Gidm Poc
From 2022 to present (AUS) Director
INSTANTIAPAY PTY LTD (AUS)
Tir niim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY TNHH VERICHAINS Chu Tich Cong Ty
From 2022 to preseni | VERICHAINS COMPANY LIMITED Chairmian

Tirnam 2023 dén nay
Erom 2023 to present

CONG TY CO PHAN GREENNODE
GREENNODE JOINT STOCK COMPANY

Cha Tich Hai dong
Quan tri kiém Giam
Péc

Chairman of Board of
Directors cum Director

Tirnam 2023 dénnay |CONG TY ZINGPLAY INTERNATIONAL | Gidm Déc

From 2023 to present PTE. LTD. Director
ZINGPLAY INTERNATIONAL PTE. LTD.

Tir niim 2023 dén nay | CONG TY GREENNODE PTE.LTD. Giam Déc
GREENNODE PIELTD. Director

From 2023 to present

Tir nam 2023 dén nay
From 2023 to present

CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV
BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

Chii Tich Hoi dong
Quan tri va Gidm Pde¢
Chairman of Board of
Directors cum Director

11. Chitc vu (bao gom thanh vién Héi ddng Quén tri, cdc chirc danh quan 1y khéc) hién nay
dang nam tai céc cong ty, t6 chire (1iét ké cu thé chite vy va tén cong ty, t6 chirc lién quan):




Positions (including members of the Board of Directors, other managerial titles) eurrently

held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names of related
companies and organizations):

8T Chire vu Tén cing ty, to chive
No. Title Nume of company, organisation

1 Negudi sang 1dp, Chi Tich | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
Hi dong Quan tr] VNG CORPORATION
Founder, Chairman of
Board of Directors

2 Chii tich Hai déng Quan tri | CONG TY CO PHAN DICH VU MANG VI NA
Chairman of Board of VI NA NET SERVICES JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Directors

3 Giam Dbe CONG TY VNG SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
Director VNG SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.

4 Chit tich Hoi dbng Quantri | CONG TY €O PHAN DICH VU - DU LIEU CONG
Chairman of Board of NGHE THONG TIN VINA
Directors VI NA DATA INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY -

SERVICE JOINT STOCK COMPANY

5 Thanh vién Hoi déng Quan | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE EPI
tri EPI TECHNOLOGIES JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Member of Board of
Directors

6 Giam Pbe CONG TY MLT HONGKONG LIMITED
Director MLT HONGKONG LIMITED

7 Chi Tich Hoi dbng Quan tri | CONG TY VNG LIMITED
va Téng Giam Dée VNG LIMITED
Chairman of Board of
Directors cum CEO

8 Gidm Déc CONG TY VNG INVESTMENT PTE.LTD.
Director VNG INVESTMENT PTE LTD,

9 Gidm Doc CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY HOLDINGS PTE.LTD,




Director INSTANTIAPAY HOLDINGS PTE LTD.
10 Gidm Dbe CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY SG PTE.LTD.
Director INSTANTIAPAY SG PTE. LTD.
11 Gidm Péc CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY LIMITED (HK)
Director INSTANTIAPAY LIMITED (HK)
12 Giam Dée CONG TY INSTANTIAPAY PTY LTD (AUS)
Director INSTANTIAPAY PTY LTD (AUS)
13 Giam Dée CONG TY TNHH VERICHAINS
Director VERICHAINS COMPANY LIMITED
14 Chit Tich Hai ddng Quan tri | CONG TY CO PHAN GREENNODE
kiém Giam Boc GREENNODE JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Chairman of Board of
Divectors cum Directar
15 Giam bde CONG TY ZINGPLAY INTERNATIONAL PTE.
Director LTD.
ZINGPLAY INTERNATIONAL PTE. LTD.
16 Giam Doe CONG TY GREENNODE PTE.LTD.
Director GREENNODE PTE LTD,
17 Chi Tich Hoi ddng Quan tri | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV
v Gidm Poc BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
Chairman of Board of
Dirvectors cum Director
12.  Loiich lign quan d4i véi Cong ty C6 phin VNG: sé lugng ¢ phin Cong ty C6 phin VNG
thude s¢ hitu ¢4 nhan, dai dién s hitu: 2.542.054 ¢ phin, chiém 8,8 % von diéu 1§.
Related benefits for VNG Corporation: the number of shares of VNG Corporation owned
by individuals and representatives owned: 2,542,054 shares, accounting for 8,8 % of
charter capital.
IL.  Théng tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao gdm b dé, me dé, bd nudi, me nudi, b chong, me

A .3 X 1 s & a - - n
chéng, bd vo, me v, v, chong, con dé, con nudi, con ddu, con ré, anh rudt, chi rudt, em
- A A . -~
rudt, anh ré, em ré, chi ddu, em déu)



Family velations information: (including biological father, biological mother, adoptive
Jather, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law, wife,
husband, biological child, adopted child, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother, brother-

in-law, sisfer, sister-in-law)

Ho tén Quan h¢ CMND/Ciin cwée Dia chi
Name Relationship | cong dan/H{ chiéu, Address
ngay cip, noi chp
ID card/Citizen
ID/Passport, date of

issue, place of issue

LE DINH LUONG Bb dé Khéng cung cap/Nor | Khong cung
LE DINH LUONG Biological provide cap/Not provide
Jather
TO MY CHAU Vo Khong cung cép/Nor | Khang cung
TO MY CHAU Wife provide chp/Not provide
LE AN MINH Con dé Khéng cung cap/Not | Khong cung
LE AN MINH Biological provide cip/Not provide
child
LE NGAN MINH Con de Khong cung cap/Nor | Khong cung
LE NGAN MINH Biological provide cAp/Not provide
child
LE HONG GIANG Anh trai ceen: Khéng cung
LE HONG GIANG Broiher cép/Not provide
Ngay cép:
Citizen 1D;

Date of issue:

HA THI MY PHUONG Chi déu Khéng cung cip/Nor | Khéng cung
H4 THI MY PHUONG Sister — inlaw | provide cép/Not provide




Téi cam két:
I undertake ro:
® Chju trach nhiém vé tinh chinh xéc, trung thue va hop 1¥ ede thong tin ed nhin duge cong
bo:
Be responsible for the accuracy, truthfulness and reasonableness of the personal
information disclosed,
e Khong vi pham cdc quy dinh vé img cir thanh vién Hi déng Quan tri theo Piéu Ié Cong
ty €6 phiin VNG va phép luat hién hanh,
Nor violate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Directors according
to the Charter of VNG Corporation and curvent laws.
e Thuc hién nhiém vu mét cach trung thue, trung thanh, cén trong va vi lgi ich cao nhét cia
Cong ty Cb phdn VNG néu duge biu lam thanh vién Hoi dong Quan tri.
Perform my duties honestly, loyally, prudently and in the best interests of VNG Carportion
if elected as a member of the Board of Directors.

Ngay 9 thing pf nam 2025
Date 14 month_|r 2025
Nguoi khai *
Declarant
(ky, ghi rd ho tén)
(signed, clearly stating full name)

TN

LE HONG MINH
LE HONG MINH




SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Thing tin ¢A nhan:

Personal information:

Ho va tén: VUONG QUANG KHAI

Full name: VUONG QUANG KHAI

Gigi tinh: Nam

Gender; Muale

CCCD/H) Eh?éu 86 Ngay cip: Noi cip:

ID/ Passport No.: Date of issue: FPlace of issue:

Ngay thang nam sinh:
Date of birth:

Noi sinh:

Place of birth:

Quéc tich: Viét Nam
Nationality: Vietnamese
H& khéu thuemg tri:

Place of resident: |
Pia chi lién hé:

Contact address: .

Trinh d6 chuyén moén: Thac sT Khoa hge May tinh
Qualification: Master of Computer Science
Qua trinh cong tac:

Work experience:



Nam

Year

Noi hoe tip, [am viéc

Place of education, work

Chire danh
Title

Tir nam 2003 dén nam
2005

CONG TY ¢O PHAN BACH MINH
VEGA CORPORATION

Déng sang lép va
Gigm Pde K§ Thuit
Co-Founder and

From 2003 1o 2005 Chief Technology
Officer
Tir ndm 2005 dén nim | PAI HOC COLUMBIA, NEW YORK, HOA | Sinh vién
KV Undergraduate

2007
From 2005 ro 2007

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, NEW YORK,
UNITED STATES

Tir nam 2007 dén nay
From 2007 1o present

CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
VNG CORPORATION

Péng Sang Lap, Pho
Tong Gidm Dbe
Thuong True Cép
Cao kiém Thanh vién
Hoi ddng Quén tri

Co-founder,
Executive Fice
President cum

members  of  the
Board of Directors

Tir ndim 2018 dén nay
From 2018 {a present

CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE EPI

EPI TECHNOLOGIES JOINT STOCK
COMPANY

Chu tich Hai déng
Quan tri

Chairmen of the
Board of Directors

Tir nam 2023 dénnay | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV Thugnh[‘-jién Hoi dong
k1
From 2023 to present | BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION Quan 'ty
Member of the
Board of Directors
Tir nam 2022 dén nay | CONG TY VNG LIMITED gh?guhtxjién Ho1 dong
uan try

From 2022 to present

VNG LIMITED

Members of the
Board of Directors

Tir thang 02/ 2025 dén
nay

From February, 2023
to present

CONG TY TNHH ZALO PLATFORMS
ZALO PLATFORMS COMPANY LIMITED

Chu tich cong ty

President of the
company




11.  Chic vu (bao gbm thanh vién Hoi dong Quan tri, e¢de chire danh quan ly khac) hién nay dang
ndm tai cdc cong ty, 1 chire (lidt ké cu thé chire vu va tén cdng ty. t& chirc lién quan):
Positions (including members of the Board of Directors, other manageriai titles) currently
held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names of related
companies and organizations):

STT Chire vu Tén cong ty, t6 chive
No. Title Name af company, organisation

1 Péng Sang Lap, Pho Tong | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
Giam Boc Thuong Trie CAp | par cORPORATION
Cao kiém Thanh vién Hoi
dong Quan tri
Co-founder, Executive Vice
President cum members of
the Board of Directors

2 Chu tich Hoi dong Quan tri | cONG TY ¢O PHAN CONG NGHE EPI
Chairman of the Board of | EP] TECHNOLOGIES JOINT STOCK COMPANY
Dhirectors
Thanh vién HDQT CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV
Members of the Board of BIGY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
Directors

4 Thanh vién HDQT CONG TY VNG LIMITED
Members of the Board of VNG LIMITED
Direciors

5 Chu tich cong ty CONG TY TNHH ZALO PLATFORMS
President of the company ZALO PLATFORMS COMPANY LIMITED

12. Lo ich lién quan d&i véi Cong ty C6 phdn VNG: sé luong ¢b phin Cong ty C6 phin VNG

thude sé hitu ca nhén, dai dién s& hitu: 1.435.011 ¢6 phén, chiém 4,99 % von diéu 1¢.
Related benefits for VNG Corporation: the mumber of shares of VNG Corporation owned by
individuals and representatives owned: 1,435,011 shares, accounting for 4.99 % of charter
capital

Théng tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao gdm bé dé, me dé, bd nudi, me nudi, bd chdng, me chéng,
hé v, me vo, vo, c:héng, con dé, con nudi, con diu, con r€, anh rudt, chi rudt, em rudt, anh re,
em t&, chi ddu, em dau)



Family relations information: (including biological father, biological mother, adoptive
father, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law, wife,
husband, biological child, adopted child, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother, brother-in-
e, sister, sister-in-lew)

Hg tén Quan hé CMND/Can cudc cong Bia chi
Name Relationship din/Hp ‘-‘hiéua_ ngay Address
cfip, noi cip
ID card/Citizen
ID/Passport, date of
issue, place of issue
VUONG TRI NHAN B6 dé Khéng cung cép/Not Khong cung
VUONG TRI NHAN Biological provide cap/Not provide
Jather
LE HOANG YEN Me dé Khéing cung cép/Not Khong cung
LE HOANG YEN Biological | provide cap/Not provide
mother
NGUYEN HOANG LOC Bo v Khong cung céip/Not Khong cung
NGUYEN HOANG LOC Father-in-law | provide cap/Not provide
LE THI TRANG Me vo Khéng cung clip/Not Khéng cung
LE THI TRANG Mother-in-law | provide cap/Not provide
NGUYEN TH] NGHIA Vi Khéng cung cap/Not Khéng cung
NGUYEN THI NGHIA Wife provide cap/Not provide
VUONG KHAI MINH Con Khong cung cap/Not Khong cung
VUONG KHAI MINH Child provide cap/Not provide
VUONG KHAI NAM Con Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng cung
VUONG KHAI NAM Child provide cip/Not provide
VUONG KHAI ANH Con Khéng cung cip/Not Khong cung
VUONG KHAI ANH Child provide cép/Not provide
VUONG BUC TRUNG Em trai Khong cung cap/Not Khong cung
VUONG DUC TRUNG Brother provide cap/Not provide




NGUYEN HONG NGOC
NGUYEN HONG NGOC

Em diu

Sister-in-law

Khdng cung cép/Not
provide

Khing cung
cap/Not provide

Téi cam két:

I undertake to:

e Chju trach nhiém vé tinh chinh xdc, trung thuc va hop Iy cdc thong tin ¢4 nhin duge céng

bo;
Be responsible for the accuwracy, truthfulness and reasonableness of the personal information
disclosed;
Khong vi pham cac quy dinh vé {mg cir thanh vién Hoi démg Quan tri theo Diéu 1& Céng ty
C6 phin VNG va phap ludt hién hanh,
Not violate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Directors according fo
the Charter of VNG Corporation and current laws.
Thye hién nhiém vu mét cach trung thue, trung thanh, en trong va vi lgi ich cao nhit eda
Cong ty C6 phin VNG néu duge biu lam thanh vién Hai déng Quén tri.
Perform my duties honestly, lovally, prudently and in the best interests of VNG Corportion if
elected as a member of the Board of Directors.
Ngiy .29 thang (% ndm 2025
Date ¢ nonth %@{325
Nguwii khai
Declarant
(kv, ghi rd ho tén)
(signeg, clearly stakrg full name)

VUONG QUANG KHAI
VUONG QUANG KHAI



SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Théng tin ed nhiin:
Persomal fnformeaiion:
l.  Hovatén: GAW CHRISTINA
Full name! GAW CHRISTINA
2. Gidi tinh: Nii
Gender: Female
3. CCCD/H{ chién sd: Ngdy cép: |

1D/ Passport No.: Derte of issie: |
t . -
4. DNgay thang nam sinh:
Daie of biveh:
5. DNeisinh:
Place of birth:
6.  Qude tich: Singapore
Nationality: Singaporean
7. HO khfiu thudmg tri; ) o _
Place of resident:
8. Dachilién hé;
Contact address:
9. Trinh dd chuyén mon: Clr nhiin Quan trj kinh doanh
Oualification: Bachelor in Business administration
10, Qua trinh cong tdc:

Nai cip:

Place of issue: .

Wark experienee:
Nim Noi hoe tip, lhm viée Chie danh
Year Place of education, work Tirle

Tir naim 1994 dén nam | CONG TY GOLDMAN SACHS ASIA
1995 L.L.C

From {1994 jp 19935 GOLDMAN SACHS ASTA LL.C

Chuwén  vién phan
tich — Quan 1y tai sin,
Bé phin ¢6 phitu




Tir niini 1995 dén nam
1996
From 1905 o 1996

CONG TY GOLDMAN SACHS ASIA
LLC

GOLDMAN SACHS ASI4A L.L.C

Analysi —  Wealth
Management,

Eguities Divisiern
Chuyén vién cao cip
— Nghién ciru, B
phin Cb phiéu
Assoctate —
Researeh, Equities
Division

Tir niim 1996 dén nim
2002

From 1996 1o 2002

CONG TY GOLDMAN SACHS ASIA
LLE

GOLDMAN SACHS ASIA LL.C

Tir nam 2002 &én nim
2007

From 2002 1o 2007

NGAN HANG UBS
UBS

Giam dbe diéu hanh
khu vire, BO phin co
phiéu

Executive Director —
Senior Regional
Sales, Equities
Division

Téng gidm déc — Bs
phéin cd phiéu
Managing Director —
Head of Regional
Sales, Equities
Division

Tir naim 2007 dén nam
2008

From 2007 to 2008

NGAN HANG UBS
UBs

Gidm dbc didu hanh
= Trudng bé phan
mdi giti von khu
vire Chiu A Théi
Binh Duong
Managing Direcior —
Head of Asia Pacific
Capital Introduciion,
Prime Brokerage
Services Division

Tir nam 2008 dén nay

CONG TY GAW CAPITAL PARTNERS

Téng gidm dic didu
hanh, Trrdng phong




From 2008 1o present | GAW CAFPITAL PARTNERS Thi trudmg vOn todn
chu va Déng chi tich
Biu tur thay the
Managing Frincipal,
Head of Global
Capital Markets and
Co-Chair of
Alternative
Tivestments

Tir nim 2014 dén nay | CONG TY PIONEER GLOBAL Gigm ddc diéu hanh
From 2014 to present GROUP LIMITED Executive Divector
PIONEER GLOBAL GROUP LIMITED

Tir nam 2020 dén nay | CONG TY CLP HOLDINGS LIMITED Thimh vién Hi dong

From 2020 to present | CLP HOLDINGS LIMITED Quén tri ddc lap
Independent Non-
execufive Director

Tir nam 2022 dén 2024 | SO GIAO DICH CHUNG KHOAN HONG | Thanh vién coa Hpi

From 2022 16 2024 KONG dbng Quén trj va f]_',r
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG ban niém yét GEM

KONG LIMITED Member of Board of

Directors and GEM

listing Committees

Tir ndim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY VNG LIMITED Thanh vién Hgi déng
From 2022 to present | VNG LIMITED Quén tri
Member of Board of
Directors
Tir ndm 2023 dén nay | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE Thanh vién Hai dong
From 2023 to present | BIGV Quan trj
| BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION | Member of Boavd of
Directors
Tir néim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG Thanh vién Hai dong

From 2022 ta presemt | VNG CORPORATION Quan tri




Member of Board of

Directors
Tir pim 2025 dén nay | CONG TY ID LOGISTIC, INC Thanh vién Hai déng
From 2025 to present | JD LOGISTIC, INC Qudn trj dge 18p va
thinh vién cia Uy
Ban Kiém Todn

Independemt Non-
executive  Director
and member of the
audit canmmittee

1. Chire vy (bao gbm thanh vién H&i dbng Quan trj, cdc chirc danh quan 1y khac) hign nay
dang niim lai céc cdng ty, 16 chirc (liét ké cu the chirc vy va tén cong ty, 18 chirc lién quan):
Puositions (including members of the Board of Divectors, other managerial litles) curvently
held in companies and orgomizations (specifically listing positions and names of related
companies and organizations):

STT Chire vy Tén cdng ty, th chire
No, Title Name of company, organisation
] Thénh vién HOi ddng Quan | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
trj VNG CORPORATION
Member of Board of
Divectors
2 Thanh vién Hoi ddng Quan | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGY
tri BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
Member of Board of
Directors
3 Thainh vién Hoi ddng Quin | CONG TY VNG LIMITED
tri KNG LIMITED
Member of Board of
Directors
4 Téng gidm dbe dido hanh, | CONG TY GAW CAPITAL PARTNERS
Trudmg phimg Thi trudng




von toan chu va Bng chiv | GAW CAPITAL PARTNERS
tich Déu tw thay (hé
Managing Principal, Head
af Global Capital Markers
and Co-Chair of Alternative
Anvestments
5 Thanh vién Hoi dbng Quan | CONG TY CLP HOLDINGS LIMITED
rj dge 1gp CLP HOLDINGS LIMITED
Independent Non-executive
LDirector
6 Giam dée diéu hanh CONG TY PIONEER GLOBAL
Executive Divecior GROUP LIMITED
PIONEER GLOBAL GROUP LIMITED
7 Thanh vién Hai ddng Quin | CONG TY JD LOGISTIC, INC
tri ddc 1dp va thanh vién cla | yp LOGISTIC, INC
Uy Ban Kiém Todn
Independeni Non-executive
Divector and member of the
audit commiittee
12.  Lgi ich lién quan déi voi Cong ty C8 phin VNG: sé lugng c phin Cong ty Cb phin VNG
thudc s& hifu ¢4 nhan, dai dién s& hire: 0 ¢d phén, chiém 0% von didu 1¢,
Related benefits for VNG Corporation; the number of shaves of VNG Corporation owned
by individuals and representatives owned: 0 share, aecounting for 0% of charier capital.
Thong tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao gdm bé g, me d&, bd nudi, me nuéi, bé chéng, me

chéng, bé vo, me vo, vo, ching, con dé, con nudi, con dau, con ré, ankh rudt, chi rugt, em
rut, anh ré, em ré, chi ddu, em déu)

Family relations information: (including biological father, biological mother, adoptive
Sfather, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law, wife,
husband, biological child, adopted child, daughter, son-in-law, brather-in-law, brother,
sister, sister-in-law)



Hy tén Quan hé CMND/Cin cude Dija ehi
Narne Relatonship ~ cong dan/H§ chieu, Address
ngay cap, noi cip
1D card/Citizen
1D/ Passport, date of
issue, pluce of issue
ROSSANA GAW WANG Me dé Khong cung cfp/Not | Khong cung
Biological provide cép/Not provide
Mother
DONOHUGH, WILLIAM | Chéng  Khong cung eép/Not | Khong cung
HUGH MC GREGOR Husband provide cip/Not provide
TRINITY GAW Con ¢ Khong cung cip/Not | Khéng cung
DONOHUGH Biological ~ | Provide ciip/Not provide
child
JUSTIN ANTHONY MC Con ¢ Khdng cung cip/Not Khong cung
GREGOR DONOHUGH Biological | provide chptNot provide
child
BRIAN WILLTAM Con dé Khong cung cip/Nof Khéng cung
DONOHUGH Biological | provide cdp!Not provide
child
SOPHIE CHRISTINA Con d¢ Khéng cung clip/Not | Khéng cung
DONOHUGH Biological | provide cip/Not provide
child
GOODWIN GAW Anh/ em trai | Khéng cung cap/Not Khéng cung
Brother provide cip/Not provide
KENNETH GAW Anh/em trai | Khéng cung cip/Not Khng cung
Dioihiss provide cép/Not provide




Toi cam kit
T undertake to:
e Chju tréch nhiém vé tinh chinh xéc, trung thye va hop ly cac thing tin ¢ nhéan dugo cong
bié;
Be responsible for the acewracy, truthfilness and reasonableness of the personal
information disclosed;
e [Khéng vi pham cic quy dinh vé tmg cit thanh vién Hi dbng Quan tri theo Piéu 18 Coing
ty C& phin VNG va phap luit hién hanh,
Not vielate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Directors according
to the Charter of VING Corporation and current laws.
e Thye hién nhiém vy mdt ech trung thyc, trung thanh, cin trong va vi loi ich ¢ao nht cia
Cong ty C& phin VNG néu duge biu 1am thanh vien Hi ddng Quan tri,
Perform my duties honestly, loyally, prudendy and in the best interesis of VNG Corportion
if elected as a member of the Board of Direciors.

Ngdy 29 thang (5 nam 2025
Daie L4 month [{ay2025
Negwdd klhai
Declarant
(v, ghi rd ho tén)
(signed, clearly stating full nanie)

Jrcid

’.l’ Q""\-—-— j
GAW CHMSTIN@.



N

10.

SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Thing tin cd nhin:

Personal information:

Ho va tén: EDPHAWIN JETJIRAWAT
Full name: EDPHAWIN JETJIRAWAT
Gidi tinh; Nam

Gender: Male

CCCD / Hb chiéu sé: Ngdy cép:
Noi cép:
ID/ Passport No.: Date of issue: .

Place of issue:

Ngay thang nam sinh:
Date of birth: .

Noi sinh: Thai Lan
Place of birth: Thailand
Qudc tich: Thai Lan
Nationality: Thai

HG khéu thudmg tri:

Place of resident: |

Bia chi lién hé:

Contact address:

W

Trinh d¢ chuyén mén: Thac s7 Quan tri kinh doanh
Qualification: Master of Rusiness Administration
Qua trinh cong tac:

Work experience:



Nam

Year

Noi hoc tip, lam viéce
Place of education, work

Chire danh
Tirle

Tir ndm 2000 dén nim
2002

From 2000 to 2002

CONG TY MERRILL LYNCH PHATRA
MERRILL LYNCH PHATRA

Chuyén vién

Associate

Tir niim 2002 dénném | CONG TY LOMBARD INVESTMENTS Vice President
2005 LOMBARD INVESTMENS Pho Chii Tich
From 2002 to 2005
Tir ndm 2007 dén nam CONG TY TEMASEK Giam Dbe Dién
2022 TEMASEK Hanh
From 2007 to 2022 Managing Director
Tir nam 2013 dén nay CONG TY TNHH MURASAKI Nha Piu Tw & Giam
From 2023 to present MURASAKI COMPANY LIMITED Baoc

Investor & Dirvector

Tir nam 2019 dén nam
2022

From 2019 to 2022

CONG TY SCOMMERCE
SCOMMERCE

Thanh Vién Héi
dong Quan tri
Member of Board of

Directors

Tir ndm 2022 dén nay
From 2022 to present

CONG TY KOON TREE HOLDINGS
KOON TREE HOLDINGS

INha Sdng Lip &
Cha Tich

Co — Founder &
Partner

Tir ndm 2022 dén nay
From 2022 to present

CONG TY WHITETAIL ASIA PTE LTD
WHITETAIL ASIA

C6 Van Thanh Vién

Hoi Béng Quan Tri

Advisory of Board of
Directors




Tirnim 2022 dén nay | CONG TY IMPACT ELECTRONS SIAM Cd Vin
From 2022 to present (TES) Advisor
IMPACT ELECTRONS SIAM (IES)
Tir néim 2022 dén nay CONG TY CO PHAN VNG Thanh Vién Hoi
From 2022 to present VNG CORPORATION Pong Quén Tri
Member of Board of
Directors

Tir ndim 2022 dén nay CONG TY VNG LIMITED Thanh Vién Hgi
From 2022 to present VNG LIMITED ding Quan tri

Member of Board of

Directors
Tirnam 2023 dén nay | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV Théinh Vién Hoi
From 2023 {o present BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION d6ng Quan trj
Member of Board of
Dirvectors
Tir ndm 2023 dén nay CONG TY WINE CONNECTION Nha diu Tu & Théanh
From 2023 to present WINE CONNECTION Vién Hoi dong Quin

trj
Investor & Member
of Board of

Directors

Tir nam 2023 dén nay
From 2023 to present

CONG TY INCREDIBLE BIO
INCREDIBLE BIQ CORP

C6 Vin Hai dong
Quan tri
Advisory of Board of
Directors

Tir ndm 2024 dén nay
From 2024 to present

CONG TY VETVILLE PET COMPANY
LIMITED

VETVILLE PET COMPANY LIMITED

Nha d4u Tu & Thanh
Vién Hoi ddng Quén
tr1
Investor & Member
of Board of
Direciors




Tir thang 1 nam 2025
dén nay

From January 2025 to
present

CONG TY OAK FOREST HOLDINGS
LIMITED

OAK FOREST HOLDINGS LIMITED

Nha Pau Tu & Gidm
Péc

Tnvestor & Directar

T ndm thang 03 nam
2025 dén nay

From March 2025 io
present

CONG TY VIETNAM ENTERPRISE
INVESTMENTS LTD

VIETNAM ENTERPRISE INVESTMENTS
LTD

Thanh Vién Hoi
ding Quan tri
Member of Board of
Directors

I1.

Chire vu (bao g&-m thanh vién Hoi ﬁéng Quan tri, cac chire danh quan 1y khac) hién nay
dang nim tai cde cong ty, td chite (liét ké cy thé chivc vu va tén céng ty, to chire lién quan):

Paositions (including members of the Board of Directors, other managevial titles) currently
held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names of related
companies and organizaiions):

Héi ddng Quan tri

WINE CONNECTION

STT Chirc vy Tén cong ty, to chire
No. Title Name of company, organisafion
1 Thanh Vién Hai dong Quan | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
trj VNG CORPORATION
Member of Board of
Directors
2 Thanh Vién Hoi ddng Quin | CONG TY CO PHAN CONG NGHE BIGV
tri BIGV TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
Member of Board of
Direetors
3 Thénh Vién Héi ddng Quén | CONG TY VNG LIMITED
tri VNG LIMITED
Member of Board of
Directors
+ Nha ddu Tu & Thanh Vign | CONG TY WINE CONNECTION




12.

IL

Investor & Member of

Board of Directors

5 Nha diu Tu & Thanh Vién CONG TY VETVILLE PET COMPANY LIMITED
Hoi dong Quan tri VETVILLE PET COMPANY LIMITED
Investor & Member of
Board of Directors

6 Thanh Vién Héi déng Quan | CONG TY VIETNAM ENTERPRISE
tri INVESTMENTS LTD
Member of Board of FIETNAM ENTERPRISE INVESTMENTS LTD
Directors

¥ Nhé Séng Lip & Cha Tich | CONG TY KOON TREE HOLDINGS
Co — Founder & Pariner KOON TREE HOLDINGS

8 Nha Piu Tu & Gidm Bde CONG TY TNHH MURASAKI
Investor & Divector MURASAKT COMPANY LIMITED

9 Nha Diu Tw & Gidm BPéec | CONG TY OAK FOREST HOLDINGS LIMITED
Investor & Divector OAK FOREST HOLDINGS LIMITED

Loi ich lién quan déi véi Céng ty Cb phin VNG: s6 lrgng c6 phin Cong ty C6 phin VNG

thudc s hitu ca nhén, dai dién sé hira: 0 ¢d phén, chifm 0% vin diéu 16,
Related benefits for VNG Corporation: the number of shares of VNG Corporation owned
by individuals and representatives owned. () share, accounting for 0% of charter capital.

Thing tin quan h¢ gia dinh: (bao gﬁm b de, me dé, bd nudi, me nuoi, béd chﬁng, me
chdng, b vg, me vo, vo, chdng, con dé, con nudi, con diu, con ré, anh rudt, chi rudt, em
rudt, anh ré, em ré, chi diu, em déu)

Family relations information: (including natural father, natural mother, adoprive father,
adoptive maother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-faw, wife,
husband, natural child, adopted child, dauwghter-in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law,
brother-in-law, sister-in-law, sister-in-law)




Ho tén Quan hg CMND/Cin cudc Bia chi
Name Relationship | cong din/H§ chiéu, Address
ngay cfp, noi cip
ID eard/Citizen
ID/Passport, date af
issue, place of issue
SOMYOD JETJIIRAWAT Bb dé Khéng cung cip/Not Khong cung
Biological provide cap/Not provide
Sather
USA JETIIRAWAT Me dé Khéng cung cip/Not Khdng cung
Biological provide cap/Not provide
niother
ROSANA JETIIRAWAT Vo Khéng cung cip/Not Khong cung
Wife provide cap/Not provide
ATHIT JETIIRAWAT Con Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng cung
Child provide cap/Not provide
CHAYOND JETIIRAWAT Anh/em ruft | Khdng cung chp/Not Khéng cung
Sibling provide chp/Not provide
Téi cam két:

I undertake to:

e Chiu trich nhiém vé tinh chinh x4c, trung thue va hop 19 cae théng tin ¢4 nhin duge cong

bd;

Be responsible for the accuracy, truthfulness and reasonableness of the personal
information disclosed,;

e Khong vi pham céc quy dinh vé (g cir thinh vién Hji dong Quan tri theo Diéu 18 Cang
ty Cb phan VNG va phép luat hién hanh.

Not violate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Divectors according

to the Charter of VNG Corporation and current laws.

e Thue hién nhiém vu mot cach trung thire, trung thanh, can trong va vi lgi ich cao nhét cla

Cong ty cd phﬁn VNG néu durgie bau [am thanh vién Hi dong Quan tri.




Perform my duties honestly, layally, prudently and in the best interests of VNG Corportion
if elected as a member of the Board of Directors.

Ngdy )9 thing 0D nim 2025
Date 1Y month Mawy 2025
Newai khai {
Declarant
(kyi, ghi vé ho tén)
(signed, clearly stating full name)

2"

EDPHAWIN JETJIRAWAT




10,

Thing tin cA nhiin:
Personal information:

Ho va tén: HOANG ANH
Full name: HOANG ANH
Gidi tinh: Nam
Grender: Male

CCCD / Hé chiéu sb:
Noiedp: .
ID/ Passport No.: |
Place of issue:

Ngay thdng nam sinh: |
Date of birth:

Noi sinh: Nam Binh
Place of birth: Nenn Dinh
Quéc tich: Viét Nam
Nationality: Vietnamese
H& khiu thutmg tri:

Place of resident. .
Pia chi lién hé:

Contact address:

R

SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Ngay cap:

Date of fssue:

Trinh d6 chuyén mén: Cir nhan Tai Chinh Ngén Hang

Qualification: Bachelor of Finance & Banking

Qua trinh cong téc:
Working experience:;



Nam Noi hoe tip, lam viée Chire danh
Year Place of education, work Title
Tir ndm 2008 dén nim | KHO BAC NHA NUGC TP. HO CHI Ké todn vién
2011 MINH Aeceouniant

From 2008 ta 2011

STATE TREASURY OF HO CHI MINH
CITY

Ta ndm 2011 dén ndm
2014

From 2011 to 2014

CONG TY TNHH KIEM TOAN BDO
BDO VIET NAM COMPANY LIMITED

Kiém todn vién

Awelit Associaie

Tir nim 2014 dén nam
2016

From 2014 to 20116

CONG TY TNHH KIEM TOAN
DELOITTE VIET NAM

DELOITTE VIET NAM COMPANY

Truong nhém kiém todn
Audit Senior

Tir nim 2016 dén nam
2018

From 2016 to 2018

CONG TY CO PHAN TRUNG TAM
THUONG MAI LOTTE VIETNAM
LOTTE VIETNAM SHOPPING JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

Trudng phong Tai chinh
phu trdch Ké todn va thué
Senior Manager,
Accounting & Tax

Tir ndm 2016 dén nam
2018

From 2016 to 2018

CONG TY TNHH BOSCH VIET NAM
BOSCH VIET NAM COMPANY LIMITED

Phé bo phén tii chinh
phu trach quan trj
Controller (CTG)

Tir nim 2018 dén nam
2019

Fram 2018 to 2019

CONG TY ANHEUSER-BUSCH INBEV
SEA

ANHEUSER-BUSCH INBEV SEA

Truéng phong tai chinh
phu trdch ngin sich
ZBB Manager (Zero-
Based Budgeting)-

Tir ndim 2019 dén nam
2022

From 2019 - 2022

CONG TY CO PHAN DICH VU - DU
LIEU CONG NGHE THONG TIN VI NA
VINA DATA INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY - SERVICE JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

Trudng phong tai chinh —
VNG Cloud

Head of Finance, VNG
Cloud

Tir ngm 2022 dén nim
2024

From 2022 to 2024

CONG TY €O PHAN DICH VU - DU
LIEU CONG NGHE THONG TIN VINA

Giam dbe kinh doanh
Head of Sales &
Marketing




VINA DATA INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY - SERVICE JOINT
STOCK COMPANY

Tir ndm 2024 dénnay | CONG TY CO PHAN GREENNODE Giam dde tai chinh
From 2024 to present | GREENNODE JOINT STOCK COMPANY | Tead of Finance

Chire vy (bao gdm thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt, cac chirc danh quan |y khac) hién nay dang
nam tai cac cong ty, t6 chire (liét ké cu thé chirc vu va tén céing ty, t6 chic lién quan):
Positions (including members of the Board of Supervisors, other managerial titles)
curvently held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names of
related companies and organizations):

STT Chire vu Tén cing ty, tH chire
No.

Title Name of company, organisation

GIAM BOC TAI CHINH | CONG TY CO PHAN GREENNODE
HEAD OF FINANCE GREENNODE JOINT STOCK COMPANY

11.

Lgi ich lién quan déi véi Cong ty C6 phan VNG: s6 lugng 6 phan Cong ty C6 phan VNG
thudc sé& hitu cd nhin, dai dién s& hitu: 250 ¢b phin, chiém 0,000869% vin diéu I€.
Retared benefits for VNG Corporation: the number of shares of VNG Corporation owned
by individuals and representatives owned! 230 shares, accounting for 0.000869% of
charter capiial.

Thong tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao gom bd dé, me dé, bd nudi, me nuéi, bo chong, me
chong, bd vo, me ve, v, chéng, con dé, con nudi, con diu, con ré, anh rudt, chj rudt, em
rudt, anh ré, em rf"':, chi dén, em diu)

Family relations information: (including biological father, biological mother, adoptive
Sather, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law, wife,
husband, biological child, adopted child, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother, brother-
in-law, sister, sister-in-law)



CMND/Can cwée
ebng dan/Hé chiéu,

Ho tén Quan hé ngay cip, noi cip Dia chi
Nawme Relationship ID card/Citizen Address
ID/Passport, date of
issue, pluce of issue
HOANG VAN VIET Bé Khéng cung cip/Not Khong cung
HOANG VAN VIET Father provide cap/Not provide
NGUYEN TH] MINH Me Khéng cung cdp/Not Khong cung
NGUYEN THI MINH Mother provide cip/Not provide
LE THI LOAN Vo Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng cung
LE THI LOAN Wife provide cépJ’Nm provide
HOANG TH] VIET Em Khong cung cip/No/ Khéng cung
HUNG i provide cap/Not provide
HOANG THI VIET HUNG a4
BINH CONG CUGNG Em ré Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng cung
DINH CONG CUONG | Brother-in-law provide cdp/Not provide
LE CONG CAT Bé vg Khong cung cip/Not Khéng cung
LE CONG CAT Father-in-law provide cap/Not provide
NGUYEN TH[ HAI Me v Khéng cung cdp/Nor Khong cung
NGUYEN THI HAI Mother-in-law provide cip/Not provide
LE TH] LONG Em v Khéng cung cap/Not Khong cung
LE THI LONG Sister-in-law provide cap/Not provide
LE THI LIEN Em vg Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng eung
LE THI LIEN Sister-in-law pravide cip/Not provide




LE CONG LINH Em vo Khéng cung cap/Not Khéng cung
LE CONG LINH Brother-in-lenw provide cap/Not provide

Tdi cam két:
I undertake to:
e Chiu trdch nhiém vé tinh chinh xdc, trung thuc va hop Iy cdc thong tin cd nhin duge cong
hé:
Be responsible for the accuracy, truthfilness and reasonableness of the personal
information disclosed;
e [Khéng vi pham cc quy dinh vé (g cir thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt theo Piéu 1é Cang ty
Co phan VNG va phap ludt hién hanh.
Not violate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Supervisors according
to the Charter af VNG Corporation and current laws.
e Thue hién nhiém vu mot céch trung thure, trung thanh, cdn trong va vi lgi ich cao nhit cia
Cong ty €6 phin VNG néu duge bau lam thanh vién Ban Kiém Soét.
Perform my duties honestly, loyally, prudently and in the best interesis of VNG Corporation
if elected as a member of the Board of Supervisors.

Ngay 24 thang gp nam 2025
Date £9  month_ May2023
Ngu#i khai d
Declarant
(kv, ghi rd ho tén)
(Signed, clearly stating full name)

_ ymw«&
=

HOANG ANH
HOANG ANH



SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

Thong tin ca nhan:
Personal information:
1. Hovatén: VU THANH LONG
Full name: VU THANH LONG
2. Gidi tinh: Nam
Gender: Male

3. CCCD/Hb chiéu so: Ngdy cap; |
Noi cépr ) i o
1D/ Passport No.: Date of issue:

Place of issue:
4.  Ngay thang ndm sinh:
Date of birth: '
5. Noi sinh; Ninh Binh
Place af birth: Ninh Binh
6. Qube tich: Viét Nam
Nationality: Viethamese
7. Ho khiu thutng tri:

Place of resident: |

8.  Dia chi lién hé:
Contact address.
City

9. Trinh dd chuyén mon: Thac S§¥ Ludt va Lut Su
Qualification: Master of Laws and Lawyer

10.  Qua trinh cong tac:

Work experience:
Nam Noi hoe tip, lam viée Chire danh
Year Place of education, work Title
Tir nam 2002 dén ndm | Pai Hoce Luft Ha Nbi Sinh vién
2006 Hanet Law University Undergraduate

From 2002 10 2006




Tir ndm 2014 dén nim | Pai Hoe Luat TP. H4 Chi Minh Hoe vién

2015 Ho Chi Minh City University of Law Student

From 2014 to 2015

Tirnam 2008 dén nam | Céng Ty C6 Phan VNG Chuyén vién ddi

2016 VNG Corporation ngoai — phap ly

From 2008 to 2016 Legal & Exiernal
Affairs Specialist

Tirthang 3/2016 dén | Ngan hang TNHH Indovina Kiem sodt vién

thang 10/2016 Indovina Bank Lid. Controller

From March 2016 to

October 2016

Tir thang 11/2016 dén | Cong Ty Co Phéan ZION Truémg Phong Phap

nay ZION Joinit Stock Compaiy Ché

From November 2016 Head of Legal

io present Depariment

1. Chitc vu (bao gom thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat, cdc chiie danh quan ly khée) hién nay
dang nim tai cdc cong ty, to chire (liét ké cu thé chitc vu va tén cong ty, td chitc lién

quan);

Positions (including members of the Board of Supervisors, other managerial titles)
currently held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names
of related companies and organizations):

STT Chire vy Tén efing ty, tb chire
No. Title Nume of company, organisation
1 Thanh vién Ban Kiém So4t | Coéng Ty Cd Phén VNG
Member of Board of VNG Corporation
Supervisors
2 Trudng Phong Phip Ché Céng Ty Cé Phin ZION
Legal Manager ZION Joint Stock Comparny

12.  Lgi ich lién quan &5i v&i Cong ty Cb phan VNG: s lugng b phin Cong ty C6 phén
VNG thude so hitu cd nhén, dai dién s¢ hitu: 0 ¢d phén, chiém 0% von diéu 1&.




Related benefits for VNG Corporation: the number of shares of VNG Corporation

owned by individuals and representatives owned: 0 shares, accounting for ) % of

charter capilal.

Il.  Théng tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao gém b dé, me dé, bd nudi, me nudi, bé chdng, me

chdng, bd vo, me ve, vo. chdng, con dé, con nudi, con dau, con ré, anh rudt, chi rudt,
em rudt, anh ré, em ré, chi dau, em dau)
Family relations information: (including biological fuather, biological mother,
adoptive father, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-
in-faw, wife, husband, biological child, adopted child, daughter-in-law, son-in-law,
brother-in-law, brother, sister, sister-in-law)

Ho tén Quan hé CMND/Ciin cudre Dia chi
Name Relationship | ¢ong dan/H§ chieu, Address
ngiy cip, noi ¢ip
ID card/Citizen
1D/ Passport, date of
issue, place of issue
VI XUAN BOI Bé de Khéng cung cép/Not Khéng cung
VU XUAN BOI Biological | provide cip/Not provide
Jather
NGUYEN THI THUY LUA | Me dé Khéng cung cap/Nor | Khéng cung
NGUYEN THI THUY LUA Biological | Provide cap/Not provide
mother
DUONG THI HONG NHI Vo Khéng cung cdp/Not Khong cung
DUONG THI HONG NHI Wife provide cap/Not provide
VU HOANG MINH Con rudt Khéng cung cip/Not Khéng cung
VU HOANG MINH Biological | provide cap/Not provide
child
VU DUONG PANG KHOI Con rudt Khéng cung cip/Not Khdng cung
YU DUONG DANG KHOI Biological | provide cp/Not provide
child
VU NGOC NGA Em rujt Khéng cung cap/Not Khéng cung
VUNGOC NGA Qichan provide cép/Not provide




VU THI THANH NGOQC
VU THI THANH NGOC

Em rudt

Sister

Khéng cung cép/Not Khéng cung
provide cAp/Not provide

yana £
Toi cam ket:

T underiake to:

e Chiju tréch nhiém vé tinh chinh xdc, trung thue va hop 1y cée théng tin ¢& nhin dugc

céng bé:

Be responsible for the accuracy, truthfulness and reasonableness of the personal
information disclosed,

Khéng vi pham céc quy dinh vé tmg cir thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat theo Diéu 1¢ Cong
ty C6 phin VNG vé phép ludt hién hanh.

Not violate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Supervisors
according to the Charter of VNG Corporation and current laws.

Thye hién nhif::m Vi mt CE'IE}? trung thlirc, trung thanh, cin trtpngqv.':‘l vi lgi ich cao nhét
ctia Cong ty Co phin VNG néu duoce biu lam thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat.

Perform my duties honestly, loyally, prudently and in the best interests of VNG
Corporation if elected as a member of the Board of Supervisors.

Ngay 29 thing &5 nim 2025
Date 29 month Jq_{-?.?ﬂl‘i
Negwbi lkhai
Declarant
(ky, ghi rd ho tén)

(signed, clearly stating full name)
.-d""_f--

VU THANH LONG
VU THANH LONG



SO YEU LY LICH
CURRICULUM VITAE

7 Théng tin ci nhiin:
Personal informaiion:
I Ho vatén: NGO VI HAI LONG
Full name: NGO VI HAI LONG
2. Gioi tinh: Nam
Gender; Male

3. CCCD /Hb chiéu sb: Negdy edp: - .. __
Noit cép: b ~ } o
1D/ Passport No.: Date of issue:

Place of issue.

4.  Ngay thang ndm sinh:
Date of bivth:

5. Noi sinh: Ha Ngi
Place of birth: Ha Noi

6. Qude tich: Viét Nam
Nationality: Vietnamese

7. Ho khau thudng tra;

Place of resident: .
8. Diachilién hé:

Contact acddress: .

9. Trinh d8 chuyén mén: Cir Nhan Luat va Ludt Su
Qualification: Bachelor of Law and Lawyer
10. Qua trinh ¢ong téc;

Work experience:
NAm Noi hoc tip, lam viée Chire danh
Year Place of education, work Title
Tir nm 2004 dén nam | Dai Hoe Ludt Thanh Phé Hé Chi Minh Sinh vién
2008 Ho Chi Minh City University of Law Undergraduate

From 2004 to 2008




Tir ndm 2008 dén nam
2009
From 2008 to 2009

Cong Ty CH Phan Kién Tric Xay Dung
C.AD

C.A.D Architecture and Construction Joint
Stock Company

Nhin vién
Employee

Tir nam 2009 dén nim

Céng Ty TNHH Ché Bién Thuc Phim va

Nhaén vién ban kiém

2010 Banh Keo Pham Nguyén soat ngl bé

Fram 2009 to 2010 Pham Nguyen Confectionery Company Employee — Iniernal
Limited Control department

Tirnédm 2010 dén nim | Cong Ty Cb Phin VNG Trudng Phong Phip

2024 VNG Carporation Ly

From 2010 to 2024 Legal Manager

Tir nam 2024 dén nay | Coéng Ty Cd Phin VNG Trudng Nhém Gidy

From 2024 to present | VNG Corporation Phép va Tuén Thu,

VNGGames
Game Licenses &
Compliance,
FNGGanes
Manager

11. Chirc vy (bao gém thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat, céc chire danh quan 1y khac) hién nay dang
nam tai cic cong ty, té chirc (liét ké cu thé chire vy vé tén cong ty, td chire lién quan):
Positions (including members of the Board of Supervisors, other managerial titles)
currently held in companies and organizations (specifically listing positions and names of
related companies and organizations):

STT Chire vu Tén cong ty, to chire
No. Title Name of company, erganisation
I Trudng Nhém Gidy Phép va | CONG TY CO PHAN VNG

Manager

Tufn Thi, VNGGames
Game Licenses &
Complianee, VNGGames

VNG CORPORATION

12.  Lgiich lién quan dbi v&i Cong ty C6 phin VNG: sb luong ¢b phan Céng ty C8 phén VNG
thude s& hitu ¢4 nhan, dai dién sé hitu: 225 ¢b phan, chiém 0,000782% von diéu I6.




Related benefits for VNG Corperation: the number of shares of VNG Corporation owned
by individuals and representatives owned: 225 shares, accounting for 0.000782% of
charter capital.

11, Thong tin quan hé gia dinh: (bao g(z_’)m bé dé, me dé, bb nudi, me nudi, bd ::héing, me

chong, bd vo, me vo, vo, ching, con dé, con nudi, con dau, con ré, anh rudt, chi rudt, em
rudt, anh ré, em ré, chj dau, em déu)
Family relations information: (including biological father, biological mother, adoptive
Jather, adoptive mother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, mother-in-law, wife,
husband, biological ehild, adopted child, daughter-in-lav, son-in-law, biological brother,
brother-in-law, biological sister, sister-in-law)

Hop tén Quan hé CMND/Can cwoe Pia chi
Name Relationship | cong dan/H6 chiéu, Address
ngay cdp, noi cip
ID card/Citizen
ID/Passport, date of
issue, place of issue
NGO VI LAM SON B6 dé Khong cung cap/Not | Khong cung
NGO VI LAM SON Biological provide cap/Not provide
Jather
PHAM BICH NGQC Me dé Khong cung cép/Not | Khong cung
PHAM BICH NGOC Biological provide chp/Not provide
maorther
NGUYEN THI BINH Me vo Khéng cung cap/Not Khong cung
NGUYEN THI DINH Mother-in- provide chp/Nof provide
lerw
VO HOANG BAO VI Vo Khong cung cip/Nor | Khbng cung
VO HOANG BAO VI Wife provide chp/Not provide
NGO HOANG MINH KHUE | Condé | Khong cung cap/Not | Khéng cung
NGO HOANG MINH KHUE | Biological provide Cépr’NG." provide
child
NGO VI MINH bUC Con dé Khéng cung cAp/Not | Khéng cung
NGO VI MINH DUC Biological pravide cép/Not provide
child




NGO TH] MINH TAM Em rudt Khéng cung cap/Not Khéng cung
NGO THI MINH TAM Bialogical provide cip/Not provide
sister

THi cam két:
I undertake to;

e Chju trach nhiém vé tinh chinh xéc, trung thuc va hop Iy cic théng tin ¢4 nhan dugc cong

bo;

Be responsible for the accuracy, truthfulness and reasomableness of the personal
information disclosed;

Khéng vi pham cde quy dinh v& timg cit thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt theo Didu & Cong ty
Co phan VNG va phap ludt hién hanh,

Notviolate the regulations on candidacy of members of the Board of Supervisors according
to the Charter of VNG Corporation and current lavws.

Thue hién nhiém vy mot cach trung thuc, trung thanh, cén trong va vi loi ich cao nhit cia
Cong ty Co phin VNG néu duoe bau lam thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat.

Perform my duties honestly, loyally, prudently and in the best interests of VNG Corportion
if elected as a member of the Board of Supervisors.

Npay A4 thang o5 ndm 2025

Date )¢ month “ﬂ: ¢2ﬂ25
Ngwoi khai
Declarant
(ky, ghi ra ho tén)

(signed, clearly St‘g;i ng full nam —
'/;

NGO VI HAI LONG

NGO VI HAI LONG
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S&/No: 17/2025/TB-VNG
Ngay 30 thing 05 nim 2025
30 May, 2025

THONG BAO
NOTIFICATION
Viv: Danh sich ing e vién thanh vién Hoi ﬂi’ing Quan Tri va Ban Kiém Soat
nhiém ky 2025 — 2030

Re: List of candidates for members of the Board of Directors and Board of Supervisors for
the office term 2025 - 2030

Kinh giri: Quy Cé dong Céng Ty Cé Phan VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company®)

Hoi Bong Quan Tri (“HPQT™) xin trén trong 111ﬁng' bao téi toan thé Quy Cé dong vé danh
sach cac tmg cr vién thanh vién HPQT va Ban Kiem Soat (“BKS") cho nhiém ky 2025 —
2030, cu thé nhur sau:
The Board of Directors (“BOD ") respectfully informs to all Shareholders the list of candidates
nominated for members of the BOD and Board of Supervisors (“BOS”") for office term 2025 -
2030, in particular:
: Bén (04) tng ctr vién thanh vién HDQT:;
Four (04) candidates for members aof the BOD:
o Ong Lé Hong Minh
Mr. Le Hong Minh
o Ong Vuong Quang Khai
Mr. Vuong Quang Khei
e Ba Christina Gaw
Ms. Christina Gaw
e Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat
Mr. Edphawin Jetiirawat

Trong d6, Ba Christina Gaw va Ong Edphawin Jetjirawat 12 Wing cir vién thanh vién déc ldp va
khong didu hanh HBQT.

Inwhich, Ms. Christina Gaw and Mr. Edphawin Jetjirawat are candidates for independent and
non-exectitive members of the BOD.

2i Ba (03) (mg ctr vién thanh vién BKS:

Three (03) candidates for members of the BOS:

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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o Ong Hoang Anh
Mr, Hoang Anh

s Ong Vii Thanh Long
Mpr. Vu Thanh Long

e Ong Ngd Vi Hai Long
Mr. Ngo Vi Hai Long

3. Théng tin cdc g et vién: Cu thé tai hd soimg cir vién dinh kém.
Information of the candidates: Details in the attached candidate s profife.

Céng ty xin théng béo dé cac Quy Cb dong dirge biét.
The Company hereby would like to inform as such for Shareholders’ information.

Tran trong.
Respectfully yours.

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

T HONG MINH

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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Sé/No.: 12/2025/TTr —VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 ndm 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
PAT HOI PONG CO PONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: Théng qua viée stia doi Didu Lg Cang Ty
PROPOSAL
TO 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re.: Approving the Company’s Charter amendment

Kinh giti: Quy Cd dong Cong ty ¢6 phin VNG (“Cong Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company”)

Nhiim dim bio Diéu Lé Cong Ty cép nhit va tudn thii véi cie quy dinh phép ludt hién hanh,
phit hop va tao diéu kién thudn loi cho hoat dong ciia Céng Ty, Hoi Pong Quan Tri (“HPQT™)
kinh trinh Pai Hoi Dong Co Pong (“DHDPCP”) théng qua viée stra ddi Pidu L8 Cong Ty nhur
chi tiét tai Dy thao Diéu Lé Sira Doi dinh keém.

To ensure the Charter of the Company to be updated and compliant to the Vietnamese
applicable laws and regulation, aligned with and facilitated to the Company's operations, the
Board of Directors (“BOD”) would like to seek the approval of General Meeting of
Shareholders (“GMS") for the amendment of the Company's Charter as per Drafi Amended
Charter attached herehy.

Uy quyén thye hién
Authorization for execution

PHDCD tiy quyén cho Ngudi dai dién phép luét cia Cong Ty:
The GMS authorizes the Legal representative of the Company fo:

(i)  ky ban hanh Piéu L& Sira Pdi ctia Cong Ty;
sign and promulgate the Amended Charter of the Company,

(i)  quyét dinh ndi dung hé so, tai lidu nop 1én che co quan Nha nude cé thdm quyén nhim
diing ky céc sira ddi tai Pidu Lé ciia Cong Ty,
decide the contents of dossiers and documents submitted to competent authorities in
respect of registration of the amendments to Company's Charter;

(i) thue hién céc cong viée, thil tuc cin thiét khac dé trién khai ndi dung di duoc PHDCD
chép thudn theo T& trinh nay.
perform other necessary steps and procedures fo execute the matters which have been
approved by the GMS in accordance with this Proposal.

[Phén con lai clia trang ndy dugc bd tréng. Phin chir ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows/

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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Trén trong,
Respectfully yours,

TM. HOI PONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ELICH/ CHAIRMAN

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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(k)

]

(m)

()

(©)

(P

(q)

“Nam Tai Chinh” c6 nghia Ia, lién quan dén bt k¥ chii thé ndo, Nam Tai
Chinh ctia chii thé d6 bt diu tir ngay 01/01 va két thic vao ngay 31/12 cia
cing niam duong ljchs

“VAS" ¢6 nghia 13 Chufn mye Ké toan Viét Nam, ding dé chi tip hgp cac
nguyén tac ke toan duge cllép nhan rong rai va dang duge ap dyung thong nhat
trong pham vi tai phén cia Viét Nam;

“Luft Doanh Nghiép” cd nghia 14 Luit Doanh Nghiép s6 59/2020/QH14
duoc Quée Hoi théng qua ngay 17/6/2020 c6 higu Iyc thi hanh t ngay 01
théng 01 niim 2021, dugc sta doi, bé sung, thay thé tai timg thoi diém:

“Luit Chirng Kho#dn™ c6 nghia 13 Luit Chimg Khoan sd 54/2019/QH14 dugc
Qude Hai théng qua ngay 26/1 112019, e6 higu lye thi hanh tir ngay ngay 01
théng 01 nim 2021, dugc sira dbi, bd sung, thay thé tai timg thoi diém;

“Ngudi Quin Ly Doanh Nghigp” ld ngudi quéan Iy Cong Ty bao gdm Chii
Tich Hai Déng Quan Trj, Thanh vién Hoi Ding Quan Tri; Tong Gidam Poc va
ca nhén giif chirc danh quén 1y khic co thim quyEn nhén danh Cong Ty ky
giao dich ctia Cong Ty theo Biéu Lé Cing Ty,

“Giao dich véi Bén C6 Lién Quan” ¢6 nghia la bét ky giao dich ndo duoe
giao lét gitra Cong Ty va mat trong nhitng nguoi sau day:

i. Thanh Vién Hai Dong Quén Tri;

i, Téng Gidm Déc, (cic) Phé Tong Gidm Dde va Ké Toan Trudng cia
Céng Ty;

fii. Thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt ciia Cong Ty;

iv. C6 Pong, ngubi dai dién uy quyén clia C6 Déng sé hitu trén mudi
phén trdm (10%) tong s& CO Phén cia Cong Ty va nhiing Negudi Co
Lién Quan cua ho;

V. Doanh nghi¢p ma: (i) ¢6 thanh vién HGi f}ong Quan Trj, thanh vién
Ban Kiém Soit, Tﬁng Giam Déc va N guoi Quan Ly Dc:anh Nghiép
khéc cua Céng Ty ¢ s& hitu phin von gop hoac Co Phan: (ii) hoac
nhitng Neudi Co Lién Quan ctia ho ciing ¢ hitu hodic s& hitu riéng C6
Phin hodic phin vin gop trén mudi phin tdim (10%) Vén Didu Lé; va

Vi, Bt ky Nguoi Co Lién Quan nao cla bat ky ngudri ndo néu tai muc i.
dén mue iii.
“Ngwoi C6 Lién Quan” ¢6 nghia 13 bt ki ¢i nhin hoiic td chirc ndo duge

quy dinh trong Khoan 23, [}iéu 4 ctia Ludt Doanh Nghiép va Khoan 46, Diéu
4 Luft Chimg Khodn, cu thé bao gbm:
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i, C4 nhén va bé dé, me d&, b nudi, me nudi, bé chong, me
chong, bo vo, me vo. vo. chong, con de, con nudi, con diuw, con
ré, anh rudt, chi rudt, em rubt, anh r€, em ré, chj diau, em déu
cia ¢d nhén do;

ii5. Cong ty me, cong ty con: va

ii6.  Quan h& Hop ding trong d6 mot nguoi la dai dién cho ngudi
lcia.

(r) “l;.‘ﬁ Dong” co nghia la géc chi sor hitu hode (cac) Co Bong cna Cong Ty va
bat ky chi sé hitu C& Phén ndo khéc ctia Cong Ty vio timg thii digm;

(s)  “C Phin” c6 nghia la cdc C3 Phin phé théng cia Cong Ty;

(1) “Cong Ty Con”™ c6 nghia la bit ki Céng Ty ndo hién dang hofic sau niy s&
thudc quyén sir hirn hode kiém sodt trire tiép hodc gian hép clia Céng Ty,

(u) “USD” ¢ nghia la don vi tién t& hop phéap etia Hop Ching Quéc Hoa Ky
(V) “Vigt Nam” 1a nurde Codng Hod Xa HHi Chii Nghia Viét Nam; va

(w)  “Ban Tong Gidm Doc” nghia 1a cdc thanh vién quan ly cua Cong Ty, bao
gn]'l'l nhung khéng gidi han, Téng Gidm Ddc va cae Phé Tong Giam Pée duge
b6 nhiém tiy timg thii diém theo Piéu Lé nay.

1.2, Trong Didu L& ndy, cac tham chifu 16§ mot hoge mot 50 quy dinh hode van ban khac
bao gém ca nhitng sira d6i hodie viin ban thay the.

1.3.  Cac tigu dé (chuong, didu cia Pidu LE ndy) duge st dung nham thudin tién cho viée
hiéu ni dung va khong anh huémg téi ndi dung eta Didu Lé nay.

1.4, Céc tir hodic thudt ngir ndo duge dinh nghia trong Luft Doanh Nghiép va Luat Ching
Khodn (néu khong mau thudn v&i chn the hodc ngir canh) s& cé nghia twong tr trong
Piéu Lé.

I. TEN, HINH THUC, TRU SO, CHI NHANH, VAN PHONG DAI DIEN VA THOI
HAN HOAT DONG CUA CONG TY

Piéu 2. Tén, hinh thive, tru s&, Chi nhanh, Van phong dai di¢n va Thi han hoat déng
ctia Cong Ty

2.1.  TénCéng Ty

- Tén tiéng Viét: CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN VNG
- Tén tiéng Anh; VNG GROUP JSC

- Tén giao djch: VNG GROUP

- Teén viét tat: VNG GROUP

Pitu LE Sira Bl - Cong Ty C6 Phiin Tip Doan VNG 3



Xir Iy dir liéu, cho thué va cac hoat dong lién quan

Chi tiét: dich vu truy cdp dir liéu va thong tin trén mang, dich vu
s ly dir liéu va thing tin trén mang. Xay dung co sd dii liéu,
I el cor s& dit liéu, khai thac co sd dit ligu. (CPC 843); va dich
vu thiét ké. tao khéng gian va thivi gian guang cao rén internet,
(trlr cac hoat dong lién quan dén an ninh, hoat ding bao chi va
hoat dgng thu thip tin te dwdi moi hinh thac)

6311

Chi tiét:

- Pai ly cung cép dich vy internet.

- Cung ::?lp dich vy truy nhép internet (ISP).

- Cung cap dich vy ing dung internet trong bwru chinh, vién
théng (OSP buu chinh, OSP vién théng) (trir ban fai ha ting
vién théng, mang cung cip).

- Cung cép dich vu néi dung théng tin trén mang vién théng di
dong.

- Dieh vu dién toan dam méiy,

- Dich vu ndi dung théng tin 50.

- Dich vu vién théng cong thém cia dich vy vién thing co bin
trén Internet.

(Dich vy truy cép Internet [AS, khong c6 ha t?lmg mang}

(trir cde hoat dong lién quan dén an ninh, hoat déng bdo chi va

hoat ddng thu thap tin tle dudi moi hinh thic)

6150

J"'/j//.

s
- "
\_,/\/

Quang cao

Chi tiét: Quéng cio thuong mai (CPC 871)

(T 6 chitc kinh .f:é- e6 von dau e mede ngoai khang dwec thiee hién
qrmiﬂg cda thieoc ld va T kehang dieee thiee hién hoat dong in
dn va phdt hank cde an phim)

7310

Hoat déng vui choi giai tri khae chua duge phin vao diu

Chi tiét; - Kinh doanh trd choi dién tir- Cung cép dich vy trd
choi dién tr trén mang (trir hoat dong kinh doanh tré choi dién
tir co thudng danh cho ngudi nurde ngodi vi kinh doanh trd choi
dién tr ¢6 thudng trén mang) (CPC 964)

9329 (Chinh)

Djch vy théng tin khac chua durge phin vao dau

Chi tiét: Cae dich vu théng tin qua dién thoai (dich vu nhén tin,
dich vy PCS - Personal Communication Service) (Dich vu vién
thong khdc khong c6 ha tng mang)

(trir céc hoat ding lién quan dén an ninh, hoat dong bdo chi va
hoat déng thu thap tin tirc dudi moi hinh thire)

6399
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29,376.974 Cd Phin. Vin Diéu Lé nay co thé duge didu chinh tiy timg thiyi diém theo
céc thay doi trong co cdu von cua Cong Ty,

5.2, Céng Ty co thé taing/giam Vin Picu Lé khi duge Dai Hai Bdng C& Dong théng qua
va phil hop vdi cée quy dinh cia phap luit.

5.3, Tén, dia chi, sb luong C& Phén va cde chi 1‘[&1 lkhac yé C6 Péng Séng Lap duge néu
tai phy lyc dinh kém. Phy Ine nay la mét phan cia Biéu Lé nay.

54.  Cd Phin phd rhmlg phm dirge tru tién chao bén cho cic C6 Péng hién hitu theo ty 18
trong tmg voi ty 18 sérhiru Co Phin phé théng cta ho Ironf, Cong Ty, trir truting hop
Bai Hii Bmw Cd Pong quyét dinh khac. Néu sd C6 Phan dy dinh phat hanh khing
duge cie C6 Pong ding ky mua hét, s& Cb Phén con lai s€ do Hoi Dmlg Quén Tri cia
Long Ty quan ly. Hgi Dong Quan Trj co rhe phén phm s0 Cb Phén do cho Cé Béng
ctia Céng Ty hodc ngudi khéc theo cac dteu k1¢n va cich thire ma Hoi Bdng Quan Tri
thiy 1 phit hop, nhing khéng duoc ban s6 Co Phan d6 theo cac dicu kién thuan i
hon so v nhﬁng diéu kién dd chio ban cho cac C6 Dang hién hit, trr trwdmg hgp
Dai Hai Bing C6 Pong cd chip thuéin khac,

5.5. Céng Ty co thé mua lai Cc‘r)q Phén do chinh Céng Ty da phat hinh theo nhiing céch
thire duge quy dinh trong Dieu L nay va phap luat hién hanh.

5.6, Cong Ty co thé phat hinh céc logi chimg khoan khac khi dugc Dai Hoi Béng Co
Pong théng qua va phi hgp véi quy dinh cia phép luét.

5.7.  Gioi han sé hivu nwie ngoii. Tit cd q’ i) C& Phin hodic vn chi s& hitu khéc trong
Cong 1y, (u} chimg khodan co thé chuyen ddi thanh C6& Phan, chitng khoan hodc phén
vin cb phin khéic o quyén biu quyét trong Cong ty, va (iii) quyén chon, ching
quyEn hodc cée quyen khic dé mua chirng khoan duge quy dinh tai mue (i) wa (ii), di
¢b dinh hay du phong, da dao han hay chua hoin thanh, theo hgp déng, theo phap
ludt, cong bang hodc theo eich khée (goi chung 14 Chimng Khodn Von) sé phai tudn
theo cac gioi han sau.

(a) Trong moi truomg hop, ty 1§ s& hifu nude ngodi t6i da (FOL) cia Céng Ty
khéng viret qua ty 1€ ti da cho phép theo quy dinh cia Phap ludt;

(b) Cong Ty theo quyét dinh cua minh s& tur chéi tién hanh bat k¥ th tuc ding kv
doanh nghigp hojc LﬁEI phép theo lugt dinh nao dé tao hicu lirc cho bt ky vige
chuyén nhwong C6 Phén hodic Chimg Khodn Vn hofic cdc giao dich khac cd thé
din dén ty 1€ sé hitu nuée ngoai trong Cong Ty vuot qua mie FOL.

Piéu 6. CH Phiéu, S6 ding ky Co Dong va cac chimg chi chirng khoan khac

6.1. Mot chimg chi do Céng Ty phét hanh hodc bt toén ghi 56 xde nhiin quyén s& hitu ctia
mét hodic mot s6 CO Phan ciia Cong Ty duoe goi 14 C6 Phidu.

6.2. CbPong cia Cong Ty duge cip Co Phidu tuong tmg véi s6 CA Phén va loai Cé Phin
s¢r hifu.

Pitu LE Sira Doi — Cang Ty €6 Phin Tap Boan VNG I
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7.5

1.6

C6 Phin duge xem la da duge Cong Ty phat hanh khi da dm:rc thanh todn déy dn wa
nhing thing tin vé nguti mua da duge ghi diing, ghi da}' di vio Sb ding ky C
Bing; ke tir thdv diém do, nadi mua Co Phin tré thanh Cd Bong cia Cong Ty,

Trong trutong hop chi mét st C6 Phan trong Co Phiu ghi tén duoc chuyén nthirgng,
Cé Phifu trde dé s& bi hiy bé va Céng Ty s& phat hanh C& Phidu méi ghi sb C&
Phiin con lai.

Céc diéu kién, phuong thic va thi tye dé Cong Ty chie ban €S Phin ra céng ching
sé tufin thii cde quy dinh cia phap lut vé chimg khodn.

Cé Phan duge phat hanh theo CI]meng ITrinh Phat Hanh Cé Phiéu Cho Newdi Lao
Bong (ESOP) s& chiu cdc han ché chuyén nhugng theo quy dinh _hién hénh cia Luft
Chimg Khoan va Chinh Sach ESOP ciia Cong Ty, duge sira doi, bo sung tiy timg théi
digém,

Ditu 8. C6 Dong yéu chiu Céng Ty mua lai C6 Phin

8.1

8.2

8.3

Co Béng biéu quyét phin dbi quyét dinh vé vige t6 chire lai Céng Ty hofic thay ddi
quyén, nghia vu ctia Co Dong quy dinh tai Di€u L§ ndy cb quytn y€u cau Cong Ty
mua lai C& Phén ciia minh.

Yéu cﬁu do phai bing van ban, trong do néu 16 tén va dia chi cia C 5 Dong, s6 lrgng
C6 Phén timg logi, gid dy dinh ban va 1y do yéu ciu Cong Ty mua lai. Yéu céu do
phai dugc g dén Céng Ty trong thivi han muai (10) J1gﬁ}f ké tir ngiy Dai Hai Dong
C6 Déng thong qua nghi quyét vé cde vin dé dé cap tai Biéu ndy.

Céng Ty s& mua lai C6 Phén theo yéu ciu ctia C6 Dong quy djnh tai khoan | Diéu
nay pht hop vii quy dinh va phap [udt hién hanh.

Diéu 9. Mua lai Co Phan theo Quyét dinh cqia Cong Ty

Theo quy dinh va phap ludt hién hanh, Céng Ty ¢6 quyén mua lai khong qué ba muoi phﬁn
tram (30%) tdng s6 C6 Phan phd théng dd ban, mot phan hodc todn b cic C Phin loai khac
da bdn theo quy dinh sau day:

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

HGi Déng Quan Trj ¢6 quyén quyét dinh mua lai khéng qua mudi phin tram (10%)
thng s CH Phin cia timg logi da ban trong moi mudi hai (12) thang. Trong cde
truong hop khae, viée mua lai Cb Phin do Pai Hoi Bﬁng o) Pong quyét dinh.

Tuén theo céc diéu kién r:.ua Dicu 9 1, trong pham vi phap luat ap ::Eung hl¢n hénh cho
phép, Céng Ty c6 foan quyén quyét dmh mua lai toan b s6 C6 Phan cia C6 Pong la
nhén vién hode ting 14 nhin vién cia Cong Ty, can el theo Chinh Séch ESOP cia
Céng Ty tiy timg thoi diém,

Hai E)f?mg Quan Trj sé quyét dinh gia mua lai Cb Phan.

Tuén theo cac didu kién ctia Biéu 9.1, Céng Ty ¢ qu;.rén mua lai C6 Phan ciia tirng
Cd Pong tuong (mg véi t¥ 1& C6 Phin timg C6 Déng ndm gitt trong Cong Ty. Thil tue
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12.4

12.3

12.6

12.7

Cé Phin bi thu hdi duoe coi Ia cae CO Phin duge qnyen chiio ban. Hoi Pdng Quan Tri

¢ thé trye tiép hodc uy quyén bén, tai phin phéi s6 C& Phan dé chc- ngwii da nam gilr
C6 Phan b] thu hdi hodc cho {6 chire, cA nhdn khac theo nhimg diéu kign va cach thire

ma Hoi Bong Quan Tri thiy 1a phi hop.

Co Pong i gilr Co Phén bi thu hdi phai tir bd tr eéch Cé6 Pong déi voi nhitmg Ch
Phin do ké tir ngay thu hoi cho dén ngay thuc hién thanh toan theo quyét dinh cua
Hoi Bong Quan Tri. Hoi Bong Qua‘m Tri cd todn qu»éu quyét dinh viée cudmg ché
thanh todn fodn b gia tr C6 Phiu vao thoi diém thu hoi.

l"hong bao thu hoi durge giri dén ngudi ndm gitt C6 Phan b thu héi trude thoi dlém
thu héi. Viée thu hdi vn ¢6 hiéu luc ké ca trong trudmg hop c6 sai s6t hodc bit cdn
trong qué trinh giri thing baa.

Vige thu hdi tidn thanh toan Cé Phan mua lai hofic ¢6 tire xdy ra trong hai trudng hop
sau:

(a) Néu viée thanh toan C6 Phin mua lai duoc tién hanh teai voi quy dinh fai Piéu
10: hoac

(b) Néu viée thanh todn ¢d tire duge tién hanh trdi véi quy dinh tai Diéu 11,

Trong trudng hop do, tit cd cae C6 Pong phai hoan tré cho Cong Ty sb tién hodc tai
san khac da nhan. Tr lwng hop co Co Béng khong hoan tra so tién hodc tai san da
nhin cho Cong Ty thi Cé Bang do va T'hanh vién Hi_3| Béng Quan Trj phai cing lién
déi chiu trach nhigm vé cac khodn ne clia Cong Ty trong pham vi gia tri cia s tién
hode tai san dé tra cho C5 Pong ma chua duge hoan lai.

V. CO CAUTO CHUC QUAN LY

Piéu 13. Co céu 16 chive quén 1f

Co cdu 16 chite quéan I gdm:
(a) Dai Hoi Dén g C6 Dong;
(b)  Hoi Péng Quan Tri;

(¢)  Thng Giam Déc;

(d)  Ban Kiém Soat.

VL €O PONG VA PAI HQI PONG €O PONG

Didu 14. Quyén ciia Co Bong
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4.4

(e) Yéu cAu Ban Kiém Soat kiém tra timg vin dé cy thé lién quan dén quan ly.
diéu hanh hoat ﬂ@ng cua Céng Ty khi xét lh"w can thiét. Yéu chu phai thé hién
béng viin ban v cé ddy di ndi dung theo quy djnh cia phap ludt;

() Cac quyén khic duge quy dinh boi phip lufit hién hanh va Didu Lé nay.

Cb Béng hode nhom Co BPong st hit tr mudi phﬂn tram (10%) tong sb C6 Phén phﬁ
thong trd lén co quyén dé Clr ngudi vio Hoi Dong Quan Tri hoge Ban Kiém Soat,
Viéc dé cir ngum vio Hoi L}ong Quan Trj hofic Ban Kiém Sodt s& duge thue hign theo
quy dinh tai Biéu 115.5 Ludt Doanh Nghiép va cdc quy dinh hién hinh, va cédc sia
dbi, bb sung iy timg thei diém.

Diéu 15. Nghia vu ciia Cd Dong

C6 Péng co cie nghia vy sau:

15.1

15.2

Tudn thi Didu L& va cdc quy ché ciia Cong Ty, quyét dinh ciia Dgi Hoi Ping Co
béng, Hoi Dong Quan Tri.

Thanh toén tidn mua C6 Phan da ding ky mua v&i Céng Ty trong thii han quy dinh
béri phédp lufit hodic theo cam két ey thé bang vin ban.

Cung cip dia chi chinh xéc khi ding ky mua CO Phén,

Chiu trdch nhiém c4 nhan khi nhan danh Céng Ty duéi moi hinh thire dé thyc hién
mdt trong cdc hdnh vi sau day:

(a) Vi pham phép ludt;

(b) Tjén hanh kinh doanh va cée giao dich khac dé tu loi hode phue v loi ich cia
t6 chire, cd nhin khic; va

(<) Thanh toan céc khoan ng chira dén han triréic nguy co tai chinh ¢d thé xay ra
d6i vai Cong Ty.

Didu 16. Pai Hpi Ddng CH Pong

16.1

Dai Hai Dong Co Déng bao gbm tht ca cac C6 Pong co quyén biéu quyét v i co
quan ¢6 thim quyén qu:,rct dinh cao nhit ciia Céng Ty. Pai hoi hing nam duge goi la
Dai Hji Thudomg Nién vi cac dai hoi khic duge goi la bBai Hoi Bt Thutmg. Dai Hai
Béug Cé Ddng Thudmg Nién duge 16 chiic méi ndm mét 01) lan. Pai Haéi Dang Cd
Péng phai hop thuémg nién trong thoi han bén (04) théng ké tir ngay ket tln::: Wim
Tai Chinh. Truémg hop Pai Hoi E)E‘:-ng Cb Déng Thudmg Nién khong thé tién hanh
trong khodng thivi gian ndy, Hoi Dong Quéan Tri c6 thé gia han t6 chiic Pai Hai Pong
Cé Péng Thutmg Nién, nhung khéing qué sau (06) thang, ké tr ngay két thiic Nam
Tai Chinh. Pai Hji Dong C& Pong Thudmg Nién khéng duge t6 chire dudi hinh thic
liy ¥ kién bing van ban.
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Pidu 17. Quyén va nhiém vy ciia Pai Hji Pdng C6 Pong

17.1  Dai Hoi Pong C6 Pong o6 quyen:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)
(f)
(£)

(h)

(i)

()]

(k)

U]

(m)
(n)

(0)
(P}

Théng qua dinh huéng phét trién cia Céng Ty;
Quyét djnh loai Ca Phan va tong s6 Cb Phén ctia timg logi duoc quyén chao
ban, ty 18 ¢chiét khiu hodc gia chiét khdu Cé Phén chio ban cho ngudi méi gi6i

hodc ngudi baa ldnh;

Bép, mién nhiém, bai nhiém thanh vién Hoi Bfmg Quén Tri, thinh vién Ban
Kiém Sodt;

Quyét dinh diu tir hofie ban sb tai san cia Cong Ty hodc chi nhanh cia Cong
Ty hodc cdc giao dich mua ¢6 gi trj bing hode lén hon nam muoi phﬁn trém
{50%) téng gia trj tai san duge ghi trong Bio Céao Téi Chinh dugc kiém todn
gin nhiit ciia Céng Ty:

Quyét dinh sira @61, bd sung Diéu Lé Cong Ty;

Théng qua Bdo Céo Tal Chinh hang nam;

Quyét dinh mua lai trén mudi phin trim (10%) téng s6 C6 Phan da ban cua
mai logi;

Xem xét va xir 1 ede vi pham ctia Hoi Dong Quan Tri, Ban Kiém Sodt gy
thiét hai cho Cong Ty va C6 Péng Cong Ty:

Quyét dinh tb chiic lai hoge gidi thé Céng Ty;

Théng qua bio cdo ciia Hoi Dong Quan Trj dénh gia thuc trang cong tac quan
Iy kinh doanh & Céng Ty

Théng qua bao cdo ciia Ban Kiém Sodt vé quan 1§ Cong Ty cfia Hoi Ddng
Quan Tri, Tong Giam Bdc;

Théng qua s6 lugng thanh vién cia Hoi Dong Quan Tri, Ban Kiém Soat;
Lya chon Céng Ty Kiém Toén;

Thong qua tong sb tién thir lao cia cic thanh vién Hoi Dong Quéan Tri va Ban
Kiém Sodt;

Théng qua bio céo viec HAi Ddng Quan Tri bé nhiém Téng Gidm Péc;
Thing qua Cong Ty hodc cdc chi nhénh cia Cong Ty ky két hop ddng voi

nhung ngudi duge quy dinh tai Khoan 1 Biéu 167 Luat Doanh Nghiép vai gia
tri bing hodc 1ém hon ba muoi lam phin trim (35%) tong gi4 trj tai san cua
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iii. Newdi ty quyén da hiy bé thim quyén elia ngudi thue hién vige Gy quyén.

Néu Cong Ty nhin duge thong bio bang viin ban vé mt trong cdc trudmg hvp quy
dinh iai Didu 18.3 trong vong 48 gitr trude gitr khai mae cude hop Pai Hoi Bing Co
Pong, thi viée ty quyén van ¢d hiéu lue,

Didu 19. Triéu tip Pai Hii Pdng C6 Péng, chwong trinh hop va théng biao hop Pai Hai
Pong Co Dong

19.1

19.3

19.4

19.5

Pai Hoi Brﬁng tCé Béng duge triéu tdp hop theo cée quy dinh tai céc Pidu 16.2, 163
va 16.4 cia Diéu Lé nay.

Nguoi triéu tip Pai Hi Dong Co Dong phai thye hién nhiing nhiém vu sau diy:

(a) Lip danh séch cac Céd Ddng cd quyen dur hop va biéu qu}ret khoug sdm hon
nim (05) ngay trudc ngdy gii giﬁy moi hop Dai Héi Déng C6 Dcng Céng ty
phai céng b lhﬁng tin vé viée chudn bj danh sach C6 déng cé quyen tham gia
hop Dai Héi Bdng Co Péng it nhét hai muoi (20) ngay trude ngay ding ky
cudi cting;

(b) Chuén bj cl}ucrqg trinh hop, ngi dung, tai liu cuge hop, dy thac nghj quyét dbi
vii ting van dé trong chwong trinh hop theo quy dinh cua phap ludt va céde
quy dinh cia Céng Ty;

(c) Xéc dinh thoi gian va dija diém td chirc dai hoi; va

(d) G théng bio hop Dai Hoi Rong C6 Déng dén tht ca cac C4 Pong co quyén
du hop.

Thung bao moi hr;np va cde 14l liéu dinh kém phai duge givi cho tht ca cac Cb Pong
ﬂong thai cong b trén trang thong tin dign tir (website) cia Céng Ty, Théng bao maoi
hop phai dwge gui chim nhét hai muei mt (21) ngdy trude ngay hop Pai Hoi Pong
Cé Bﬂng (tinh tir ngay ma thnng bao duge giii hofc chuyén di mét cach hgp 1€, duge
trd cude phi hogie duge bo vao hom thu). Trong truémg hop tai ligu khong duge gui
kem thong bio hop, théng bao méi hop phai néu rd dia chi trang théng tin dién tir dé
cdc C6 Pong cb thé tiép cin.

Cé Béng hode nhém C6 Dong duge dé cip tai Pifu 14.3 Piéu L§ nay co quydn dé
xuéit cde vin dé dua vio chuong trinh hop Pai Hoi ﬂfmg Co Pong, P& xudit phai duge
lam bing viin ban va phéi duge givi cho Céng Ty it nhét ba (ﬂ3} Ngay Lam Viée truréie
ngdy khai mac E)a| HQ[ Péng Co béng. Dé xuit phm bao g j,mn ho va tén C6 Pong, s6
lwong va loai C6 Phin nguoi d6 nim giit, va ni dung d& nghj dua vao chuong trinh
hop.

Ngudi riéu tap hop Dai Hoi Péng C6 Pong ¢é quyén tir chéi nhimg dé xudt lién quan
dén Pidu 19.4 trong céc trudmg hop sau:

(a) Pé xudt duoe gii dén khéng ding thai han hodc khéng di, khong ding noi
dung;
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khién dé Pai Hoi Béng C6 E}ﬁng bau chil toa cude hop trong s& nhimg ngudi dy hop
v nguiri co phidu biu cao nhat lam chi toa cudc hop.

Trong cdc truomg hop Khic, ngudi ky tén tri¢u tdp hop Dai Hoi Péng C6 Bung dréu
khién Dai H6i Péng C& Péng biu chi toa cude hop va ngiréi ¢b phicu béau cao nhét
durge cir lam chi toa cude hop,

21.5 Chii toa 14 ngudi ¢ quyen quyét‘djnh vé trinh tu, thii tuc va cdc sy kign phét sinh
ngoai chwong trinh cta Bai Hoi Bong Cé Pang,

21.6  Chi toa dai hoi cé thé hodin cude hop Pai Hai Béng C6 Pang theo quy dinh ciia Luat
Doanh Nghiép.

21.7  Negudi triéu tap hop Dai Hoi Ddng C Dong cb quyén yéu ciu ce Co Déng hoic dai
dién duoe uy quyén tham du Dai Héi Ddng CElI Pong chiu sy kiém tra hodc cac bién
phap an ninh ma Hoi E'-‘CIIIE Quan Trj cho la ¢in thiét. Trudng hop c6 C6 Bong hoic
dai dién duge ny quyen khéng chiu tudn thi nhimg quy dinh vé kiém tra hodic cdc
bign phap an ninh néu trén, nguoi tri¢u tap hop Dai H61 Péng C Péng, sau khi xem
xét mot cach cén trong, eo theé tir chdi hode true xudt C6 Dong hode dai dién néu trén
tham gia dai hi,

Didu 22. Théng qua quyét dinh cua Dai Hji Pong C6 Pong

e
221 Ba Hoi Béng C6  Pang co quyen thong qua bét ky qu}ft:t dinh nio thude tham
bing hinh thire biéu quyét taj cude hop hode 1dy ¥ kién bang van ban.

22,2 Tuin theo Diéu 14.4, trong trudmg hop biéu quyét truc tiép tai cude hop thi:

{a) Quyét dinh cia Pai Hoi Pong Co Pong vé vin dé uy dinh fai Diéu 17. E(b),
(d), (e), (l), (p)s (t) va (u) duge thing qua khi dugc so Co Ping dal dign it nhit
sdu muoi lam phén trim (65%) téng s6 phiéu biéu quyét cia tit ca Cd Péng
dyr hop chap thuan;

(b) Quyet dinh eia Bal HOi E)ﬁng Cd Péng vé cac vin dé con lai (bao gdm viée
bd nhiém thanh vién Hoi Pdng Quan Tri va Ban Kiém Soat) dugre thong qua
khi durgre s C6 Déng dai dign hon ném muoi phin triim (50%) téng sb phiéu
bidu qu:,fét ctia tat ca C6 Péng dy hop chip thuén.

22.3  Trong trudmg hgp ldy ¥ kién C6 Pong I::ang vin ban thi quyf:t dinh cua Pai Hoi Pong
C6 Dong duge théng qua néu duge s{i Co Pong dai dién hon nam muoi phan {ram
(50%) lfmg 50 Ebh1éu tham gia biéu quyét chip thudn. Phiéu tham gia biéu quye! durge
hiéu 1a phiéu lay ¥ kién do le? Ty guri chu Cd Pong, duge Cb Pong dién ddy di
théng tin, néu 13 ¥ kién biu quyet va gt vé Céng Ty ding thoi han quy dinh.

Pitu 23. Thim quy@n v thé thire Ly ¥ kién Cd Dong biing viin bin dé thang qua quyét
dinh caa Dai H{i Dong Co Ping

Thém guyén‘va thé thire 14y ¥ kién C6 Pong bing vin ban dé thong qua quyét dinh clla Pai
Hoi Bong Co Pong duge thye hién theo nhitng quy dinh sau day:
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26.3,

26.4.

20.5.

26.6.

Nhigm ky cia Héi Pong Quéan Tri la nam (05) ndm. Nhiém ky cia thanh vién Hi
Péng Quan Tri khong qué ndm (05) nam; thanh vién Hoi Bdng Quan Tri ¢d thé duoe
bau lai vdi s nhiém kv khong han ché. Trong trudémg hop mét thanh vién dwge béu
vao Héi Ddng Quan Tri (khéng phén biét 1a béu bd sung hay thay thé), vao giira
nhiém ky, thi nhigm ky cia thanh vién mé&i sé 14 théi gian con lai cia nhiém ky Hoi
Bi.'mg Quién Tri.

C6 Péng hodic nhém C6 Dong s& hing tir mudi phan tram (10%) mng sb CH Phau phn
thang co quyén dé eir ngudri vao Hoi Dong Quan Tri. Theo quy dinh tai Diéu 1483
Ludt Doanh Nghigp, thanh vién Hoi Ddng Quan Tri sé duge Dai Hgi Déng Cd Béng
béu theo phwong thire biéu quyét Kkhong dén phreu va fudn theo ngudng bléu quyet
quy dinh tai Pidu 22.2 va 22.3 cia Didu I8 nay, Tai mﬁu cuge hop Dai Hi Dﬁng Cd
Dong ma thanh vién Hoéi DPdng Quéan Trj s& duge hﬁu tat ¢4 CH Bédng co quyén bi¢u
quyét tai cude hop do déu co qu}rén biu quyét sﬁ C& Phén thude ¢ hitu cia C6 dong
d6 cho bao nhiéu img clr vién twong duong vdi sn thanh vién ctiia Hoéi Ddng Quan Tri
dugc bau, C6 déng khéng dugc phin b tit cd s6 phiéu biu cia minh cho mot (mg cir
vién duy nhét va phdi bo phiéu cho nhiéu tmg vién riéng 12 twong duong véi s6 thanh
vién ciia Héi Efing Quan Trj duge béu.

Trudng hop b lirgng cac img vién Hgi Pang Quan Tri théng qua dé cilr va img ctr vén
khéng di 6 luong can thiét, Ho1 Ddng Quan Tri duong nhiém cd thé dé cir thém tmg
cir vién hodc to chire dé cir

Thanh vién Héi Déng Quan Trj khong con tu cdch thanh vién Hoi Péng Quén Tri
trong céac trudmg hop sau:

(a) Thanh vién dé khéng di tr cach lam thanh vién Hoi Déng Quan Trj theo quy
dinh coa Ludt Doanh Nghiép hode bi luit phap cam khong duoc lam thanh
vién Hoi Pdng Quén Tri;

(b) Thanh vién d6 gii don bing vin ban xin tir nhidm dén tru s& chinh cia Cong
Ty;

(c) Thanh vién do bj mét, han ché nang lirc hanh vi dén sir;

(d)  Thanh vién dé khong tham dy cdc cude hop cia Hoi Pdng Quéan Tri lién tyc
trong vong séu (06) thing ma khéng cé su chip thuin cia H6i Pong Quan Tri;

(e)  Thénh vién dé b bai nhiém theo quyét dinh cia Dai Hoi Péng Co Dong; hodic

(D Thénh vién dé vi pham phép lut, bi khoi tb theo quyét dinh ciia Co quan Nha
nude cé thim quyeén.

Hai Bﬁng Quén Trj ¢b thé b nhigm ngudi khac tam thi 1am thanh vién Héi Dﬁng
Quan Tri dé thay thé ché trdng phét sinh va thanh vién md&i nay phai duge chip thufin
tai Pai Hai Dong C6 Péng gan nhat. Sau khi duoe Dai Hai Hf‘mg Cod béng chap
thudn, viée bd nhiém thanh vién méi dé duge coi 1a ¢d higu lye vao ngay duoe Hoi
Péng Quan Trj bd nhiém. Trong trudng hop thanh vién mdi khéng duge Bai Hoi
Péng Cd Péng chip thudn, moi quyét dinh cia Héi Pdng Quan Trj cho dén trwde

Diéu Lé& Stia Doi — Coing Ty C6 Phiin Tip Poan VNG 25

RN



(h)

(i}

I\

(k)

(1)

(m)
(1)

(0)

()

()

)

(s)

®

B6 nhigm, mién nhiém, bai nhiém Téng Gidgm Pde. Viée bai nhiém néu trén
khong duge trai vdi cdc quyen theo hop dong lao dong cua ngurdi bi bai nhigm
(néu co);

Quyét dinh co cdu 6 ehire cia Cong Ty; quyét dinh lhs.mh lap Cong Ty Con,
thanh lip chi nhanh, van phong dai dién va vige gop von hodc mua Co Phan;

Duyét chuong trinh va noi dung hop Dai Hoi Béng Cé Dong: mv;u tip hop
Dai Hii Béng CH Déng hoge thuc hign cdc thi tue thu thip ¥ kién bang van
ban dé Pai Hoi Bdng Cb Béng thong qua cic quyét dinh;

Trinh bio céo tai chinh kiém todn han g nam l&n Pai Hoi Dong Cd Pén g

Pé xuft mire ¢d tie hang nam va xac dinh mie cd fie tam (ng: to chirc viée
chi tra cb tic:

D& xuit vige té chire lai holic giai thé Cong Ty;

X4c dinh cac muc tidu hoat déng trén co s& che muye tidu chién lugre duge Bai
Hoi Bong C6 Péng théng qua:

Giai quyét cac khiéu nai ¢ia Cong Ty ddi voi Ngudri Quan Ly Doanh Nghlép
ciing nhu quyét dinh lya chon dai dién cia Cong Ty dé giai quyét cic van dé
lién quan 161 ede thi tue phép 1§ déi vai Ngudi Quan Ly Doanh Nghigp do,

Pé xudt viéc phat hinh trai phidu chuyén dbi va cic chimg quyén cho phép
ngudri sé hitu mua Co Phié iéu theo mire gia dinh trude;

Béo cdo Dai Hi Béng C6 Déng viée Hoi Déng Quan Trj bd nhiém Téng
Giam BPoce;

Bét k¥ hop déng hodc giao dich nao ¢d lién quan dén mdt khoan vay hodc ban
tai san cna Cong T:.f co glé trj 1ém hon mudi phén trim (10%) nhung khéng
vuot qua ba muoi lam phan tram (35%) tong gif tri t4i san duge ghi nhfin
trong Bao Céao Tai Chinh gin nhit cta Cong Ty, gitta Cong Ty va mdt Cd
Doug ndm gift it nhat niim muoi mét phan trim (51%) tﬁn;, s& C6 Phin co
quyén biéu quyét trer 18n, holic ngudi ¢6 lién quan cia C6 Péng dé nhu quy
d|nh tai Nghj Dinh 155/2020/ND-CP ngay 31 thang 12 ndm 2020 va céc sua
ddM, b sung tiy timg thoi diédm;

Viéde mua hodc bén ¢d phén hode gop von, hode thye hién bét ¢t khoan diu tir
ndo, hode mua ban cic edng ty khong thuée VNG Group, co gia trj mdi giao
dich wwén 1.000.000 USD (Mdt triéu P6 La M¥) nhung khdng vugt qua ba
muroi [Am phﬁn trim (35%) tdng gid tri thi san duge ghi nhén trong Béo Céo
Tai Chinh gan nhat;

Vige dinh gid cde tai san gop vao Cong Ty khong phai bing tlén lién guan dén
vigc phat hanh Cﬂ Phiéu hodic tréi phiéu ciia Cm:tg Ty, bao gom ving, quyén
sit dung dat, quyén s& hiru tri tué, cng nghé v bi quyét cong nghé;
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28.3,

28.4.

(e) Chil toa hop Dai Hai Dong Cb Déng;

(f Thye hién viée ghi nhén va sira ddi cac théng tin clia céc C6 Doug trong SO
ding ky C6 Déng va chiu trdch nhidém thyre hign va gidm sat viée a..ap Cb Phiéu
cho cée C6 Pong; va

(z) C6 nhitng quyén va trach nhiém khac quy dinh tai Diéu Lé nay va phép luat
hién hanh.

Trudmng hop Chu Tich Hoi Déng Quan Tri ving mit thi Chi Tich Héi Pdng Quéan Tri
phai uy quyen bang van ban cho mét thanh vién khic dé thyue hién cic nhigm vy cia
Chu Tich Hoi Pong Quan Tri theo todn quyén quyét dinh ctia minh. Truémg hop
kh{mg cd thanh vién nao duge uy quyen thi cac thanh vién con lai s& chon ra mdt
ngudi trong sb cée thanh vién con lai dé tam thoi giii chire vu Chi Tich Hai Béng
Quan Trj theo nguyén tic da sé qua ban.

Trutmg hop Chu Tich Hoi jf)éng Quéan Trj tir chire hode bi bai nhi¢m, Hoi Dong Quén
Tri phai biu nguriyi thay thé trong thii han mudi (10) ngay.

Didu 29. Cfic cude hop cna Hoi Pong Quéan Tri

29.1.

253,

29.3.

29,4,

Cudc hop diu tién cla nlnf:m ky Hgi Dong Quan Trj d& bau Chi tich va ra céc qu;,'et
dinh khac thuge tham qujfén phai duge tién hanh trong thdi han bay (07) Ngay Lam
Viée, ké tir ngay két thiic béu cir Hai Pdng Quén Tri nhiém k¥ d6. Cude hop nay do
thanh vién cd s«:- ph;eu béu cao nhét tridu tip. Truong hop ¢b nhidu hon mat (01)
thanh vién co s6 pl‘llﬂl bau cao nhat ngang nhau thi cic thanh vién nay bAu mét ngudi
trong s ho triéu tip hop Hoi Dong Quan Tri theo nguyén tic da sb.

Chii Tich Hi Bdng Quan Tri phai triéu tip cic cude hop Hoi Péng Quan Trj thudng
k¥, 1ap chwong trinh nghi su, théi gian va dia diém hop it nhat nam (035) ngdy trudce
ngdy du kién hop. Chi Tich c6 thé triéu tdp hop bét ky khi ndo thiy can thiét, nhung it
nhét 12 m&i quy phéi hop mot (01) lin.

Chi Tich Haéi Béng Quan Tri triéu tip cée cude hop bét thirdimg Khi thﬁy edn thiét vi
lgi fch cia Céng Ty. Ngoai ra, Chu Tich Hoi Pdng Quén Trj phai tridu tip hop Hoi
Béng Quan Tri, khéng duge tri hoén néu khong ¢6 Iy do chinh déng, khi mét trong su
cac ﬂﬂl twong dudi ddy dé nghi bing van ban trinh bay muc dich cude hop va cée van
d& cén ban:

(a) Téng Giam Déc hodc it nhat ba (03) Ngwdi Quan Ly Doanh Nghiép khac;

(b) it nhit hai (02) thanh vién Hoi Pong Quan Tri;

(c) Ban Kiém Sodt hoic thanh vién doe 1ap Hoi Béng Qudin Tri.

Cée cude hop Héi Ddng Quan Tri néu tai E}leu 29.3 phai duge tién hanh trong theri

han bay (7) Ngay Lam Viée sau khi cé dé xudt hop. Truong hop Chii Tich Hai Béng
Quan Tri khong chdp nhin triéu tip hop theo dé& nghi thi Chi tich phai chiu trach
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29.14.

29.15.

2916,

29.17.

khong biét ban than va ngudi lién quan cd loi ich vao thoi diém hop dong, gino dich
duge ky v Cong Ty, thanh vién Hoi Bnng Quan Tri nay phai cdng khai cac lgi ich
lién guan !.au L.ur.f}n hop dau tién cna Héi Pong Quan Trj duge t6 chire sau khi thanh
vién ndy biét ring minh ¢ lgi ich hodc s& ca lgi ich trong giao dich hodc hop ddng
lién quan.

. Hoi Bdng Quén Tri théng qua cde quyét dinh va ra nghj quyét trén co so y Igié|1 tan

thanh cia da so thanh 'vién Hai E)Emg Quan Trj cé'mat {trén nam miroi phf&n trﬁ;n
(50%)). Truong hop so phiu tén thanh va phan d6i ngang bing nhau, phidu biéu
quyet ciia Chi Tich Hai Bong Quan Tri & phiéu quyét dinh.

Cuge hop coa Hai Béng Quén Trj co thé to chite theo hinh thire héi dam troe tuyén
bang video hojic cudc goi hoi dam giita cic thinh vién cia Hoi Béng Quan Tri khi tit
cd hoge mot st thanh vién dang & nhimg dja diém khac nhav vai diéu kién Ia moi
thanh vién tham gia hop déu cb thé:

(a)  Nghe timg thanh vién H6i Ddng Quan Tri khac cing tham gia phat biéu trong
cude hop; va

(b) Phat biéu véi tit ca ede thanh vién tham du khde.

Bija diem cude hop duge t6 chire theo quy dinh nay 14 dja diém md nhom thanh vién
Hii E}r:mg Quan Tri déng nhit tip hop lai, hodic néu khéng cé mét nhém nhu vy, la
dia diém ma Chu toa cude hop hién dién.

Céc quyét dinh duvc thing qua trong mot cude héi dam bing mét trong cée hinh thic
néu trén duge to chire va tién hanh mot cich hop thie ¢é hiéu lue ngay khi két thic
cude hop nhung phai duge khing dinh bang cic chit ky trong bién ban cia tit ca
thanh vién Hai Péng Quan Trj tham dy cufic hop nay.

Nghi quyét theo hinh thire lay ¥ kién bing van ban dugce théng qua trén co s ¥ kién
tan thanh ciia da s thanh vién H6i Pbng Quéan Trj cd quyén biéu quyét, vdi chir ky
cua thanh vién Hai E'Sng Qudm Trj trén Nghj quyét bartg vén ban lam bﬁng chimg.
Nghi quyét nay c6 hiéu lye va gia trj nhu nghj quyet duge cac thanh vién Hoi Péng
Quan Tri théng qua tai cude hop dugc tridu tip va 16 chirc theo théng I¢,

Cha Tich Hi Brﬁng Quén Tri ¢ trach nhiém chuyén bién ban hop Héi Pdng Quan
Trj cho cée thanh vién, Bién ban hop Hbi Bong Quan Tri ¢6 ngén ngit chinh la tiéng
Viét va phdi c6 chir ky ciia tdt ¢a cde thanh vién Hpi Ddng Quan Trj tham dyr cude
hop hodic Bién ban duge lip thanh nhiéu bén va moi bién ban ¢6 chit ky cia it nhét
mét (01) thanh vién Hoi Béng Quén Trj tham gia cude hop.

Héi Béng Quan Trj c6 thé thanh lép va Oy quyén cho céc tiéu ban truc thude. Khi cde
titu ban nay duge thanh 1gp, Cé Péng hofic nhém Cd Péng sé hitu trén murdi phin
tram (10%) tong s6 C4 Phin phd thong tmn% thii han lién tuc it nhit sdu (06) thang
¢6 quyén bd nhiém mot thanh vién vao mai ticu ban,
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31.3. Téng Gidm Pdec chiu trich nhigm tru¢e H6i Dng Quan Trj va Dai Hoi Péng C6
Bong ve viée thue hién_nhiém Vi va quyén han duge giao va phai bde cdo cac co
quan nay khi duge yéu cau.

31.4. Tung Giam Bc:n:. s& b6 nhiém mdt hode mot s6 ca nhan thye hién nhiém vy cia Pho
Toéng Giam Bic dé hé try viée quin 1y va v@n hanh cua mot hofic mgt so linh vue
kinh doanh cita Cong Ty. Céc Phé Téng Giam Péc sé chiu trach nhigm trude Ionf,
Giam Bde va trirde phap ludt khi thyue hién ede nhiém vu duge Tfmg Gidm Dée giao
pho. Téng Giam Bdc va cie Phé Tong Gim bée duoe goi chung 1a Ban Tong Giam
Bac.

31.5. Trong truémg hop vi tri Téng Gifm Pbe bj khuyét vi bit ky Iy do nio lién quan dén
quan ly, Hoi Bﬁng Quan Tri s& chi dinh mgt trong sb céc thanh vién Hoi DPing Quan
Tri yvivhodc thanh vién cua Ban Tong Giam Doc tam thi tiép nhin va thue thi cic
quyen han, nghia vy va trach nhiém cta Tnng Giam Doc nhu quy dinh tai Didu Lé
nay. Viée chi d|nh s& duy tri hidu lye cho dén khi Tﬂng Gidm BDC mi duge bo nhigm
hop 1€ bai Hoi Déng Quan Trj theo quy dinh ciia Diéu Lé Sia DAi nay.

IX. BAN KIEM SOAT

Piéu 32. Thanh vién Ban Kiém Sosit

32.1.  Sb lwong thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt clia Cong Ty 14 ba {_DB) thanh vién. Cac thanh *
vién Ban Kiém Soat khéng phai 13 ngudi trong bd phin ké todn, tai chinh cia Lﬂn’g/ 33
Ty va khéng phm la thanh vién hay nhédn vién cua Cong Ty Kiém Toan déc lap danﬁ‘
thue hién viée kiém toan Bao Céo Tai Chinh cia Céng Ty. Ban Kiém Soat phai
hon matnira (1/2) 56 thanh vién thudmg tra & Viét Nam,

32.2. Thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt khong nhét t!liét phai 1d C& Péng hodc ngudi Jao déng cia
Cong Ty nhung phai cd tiéu chudn va diéu kign sau day:

(a) Tir hai muoi mét (21 ) tudi trd 1én, c6 ddy da ning lue hanh vi dén su v khang
thude doi twong bi cam thanh lap va quan Iy doanh nghiép theo quy dinh cia
Ludt Doanh Nghiép;

(b) Khéng phai la vg hodc chdng, cha, cha nudi, me, me nudi, con, con nudi, anh,
chi, em rudt cia thanh vién Hai Bﬁng Quan Trij, '[‘érng Giam Béc va ngubi
quan ly khac; va

(c) Khéng duge giltr cde chite vu quan ly Cong Ty.

323. Céc thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt biu mdt ngudi trong s6 ho lam Trwong Ban Kiém
Soat. Trudng Ban Kiém Soat ¢6 cac quyén va trich nhi¢m sau:

(a) Triéu tdp cude hop Ban Kiém Sodt;

{b) Yéu ciu Hoi Bang Quan Tri, T&ng Giam Dde va cic Ngudi Quan L¥ Doanh
Nghiép khéc cung cép cdc thong tin lién quan dé bao cao Ban Kiem Soat; va
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(b) KKiém tra tinh lwp Iy, hop phap, tinh trung thye v mie dd cén trong trong
quan Iy va didu hanh cac hoat déng kinh doanh va trong td chirc cong tac
théing k&, ké to4n va 1ap Bdo Céo Tai Chinh;

(¢)  Thim dinh céc béo cdo tinh hinh kinh doanh, Bao Cdo Tai Chinh hing nim va
chie béo edo danh gid cong tic quan Iy ctia Héi Pong Quén Tri;

(d) Trinh béo cao tham dinh Bao Cao Tai Chinh, bdo cdo tinh hinh kinh doanh
hﬁng ndm cua Céng Ty va t||nh béo cdo ddnh gid cong tac quan 1y cia Hoi
E}ﬁng Quan Trj 1én Bai Hoi Donu Cd Béng tai cuge hop thomg nién;

(e) Xem xét sb ké todn va cac tai lidu khac ciia Cong Ty, cée hoat dong quan Iy va
dleu hanh cia Cong Ty W‘m bit ky khi néo néu xét thﬁw cén thiét hodc theo
quyét dinh ciia Dal Hi Donﬂ Cd Béng hojic theo yéu cau ciia C6 Béng hodc
nhém C Déng sér hitu tir nam ]Jhan tram (5%) tdng s6 C& Phén phd théng cia
Céng Ty. Viéc kiém tra cfia Ban Kiém Soat khéng dugc can tré ede hoat dong
binh thutmg cda Hi Béng Quéan Trj va khong duge giy gian doan diéu hanh
cdc hoat dgng kinh doanh hang ngay cia Céng Ty;

() Kién nghi Hm Dnng Quén Trj holic Dai HOi Dung C Péng céc bién phap sta
d6i va cai tidn co cdu té chite, quan 1y va didu hanh hoat déng kinh doanh cia

Cong Ty,

(g) Khi phat hign cd thanh vién Hi Pdng Quan Tri hodc Tong Gidm Pée vi pham
nghia vy ctia ngudi quan Iy Cong Ty theo quy dinh cua phap luat va Diéu Lg
niy thi Ban Kiem Sodt phai thong bdo ngay bing vin ban cho Hoi Déng Quan
Tri va yéu céu nguai co hanh vi vi pham phai chim dirt viéc vi pham dé va cé
gidi phap khic phue hiu qua; va

(h)  Thue hién cée quyép va nhiém vu khac theo quy dinh eta phép ludt va quyét
dinh cta Pai Hi Pang Cé Déng.

33.2. Thanh vién Hoi Déng Quén Tr, Tong Gidm Pbe va Ngudi Quan Ly Doanh Nghigp
khde phéi cung cap fat ca cae thong tin va tai liu lién quan dén hogt ddng cia Céng
Ty theo yéu ciu cia Ban Kiém Soat,

33.3, M thi lao cia cdc thinh vién Ban Kiém Soédt do Dai Hoi Pong C6 Pong quyét
dinh.

X. NHIEM VU CUA THANH VIEN HQI PONG QUAN TRI, THANH VIEN BAN
KIEM SOAT, TONG GIAM POC VA NGUOI1 QUAN LY DOANH NGHIEP KHAC

Diéu 34. Trach nhiém cfn trong

Thanh vién Hoi Bong Quan Tri, thimh vién Ban Kiém Soit, Tr:’.'-ng Gidm Db va Nguai Quéan
Ly Doanh Nghiép khic cé Erac:h nhiém thure hién cac nhiém vy cua minh, ké ca nhirng nhiém
vy véi tr cach thanh vién cée tiéu ban cia Hoi Dong Quén Trj néu c6, mdt eich trung thye vi
lgi ich cao nhét ciia Céng Ty va véi mite dé can trong ma mét ngudi than trong phai ¢6 khi
dam nhiém vi tri tuong duong va trong hoan canh twong tuw.
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Thanh vién Hoi Déng Quéan Tri, thanh vién Ban Kiém Soat, Tf"mg Gidm Béc, N gLl
Quan Ly Doanh Nghiép khée va nhimg Ngudi Cé Lién Quan vai cic thanh vién neu
trén khong duge st dyng cic théng tin chua duge phép cong bé ciia Céng Ty hodc tict
[6 cho ngudi khac dé thire hién ede giao dich 6 lign quan.

Diéu 36, Trdch nhiém vé thiét hai va boi thwdmg

36.1.

36.2.

36.3,

Thanh vién H6i Béng Quan Tri, thanh vién Ban Kiém Sodt, T61:g Gidm Dic v
Negudi Quan Ly Doanh Nghiép khae vi pham nghia vy, trach nhiém trung thyc va can
trong, khéng hodn thanh nghia vu cta minh voi sy mén cdn va ning lyc chuyén mén
phai chju trach nhi¢m vé nhirng thiét hai do hanh vi vi p]':am cuiia minh gay ra.

Coéng Ty s& dén bii cho nhiing ngudi dﬁ dang hodc co thé trds thanh mot bén lign quan
trong cdc vu khigu nai, kién, khdi to (bao gnm cac vy viée dan syu, hanh chinh va
khong phal 1 cdc vu kign do Céng Ty la ngudi khai kién) néu ngudi d6 di hojc dang
la thanh vién Hbi Dong Quién T11 Ngudi Quan Ly Doanh Nghigp, nhan vién hode 14
dai dién duoe Cong Ty uy quyén vai didu kién ngudi do da hianh dong trung thue, cén
tmng, min can vi lgi fch hodce l{hﬁng chﬁng lai lgi ich cao nhét cua Cong Ty, trén co
s& tudn thi ludt phap va khéng 6 bing chimg xéc nhén ring ngudi do da vi pham
nhiing trach nhigm cia minh.

Chi phi hﬁ: thudmg bao gom céc chi phi phét sinh (ké ca phi thué ludt su), chi phi
phén quyét, cde khoan tién phat, cic khodn phai thanh toan phat sinh trong thyc té
hofie dwge coi la mire hop 1y khi gidi quyét nhitng vu viéc nay trong khudn khé ludit
phép cho phép. Cong Ty cb thé mua bao hidm cho nhiing nguoi dé dé duge bai
thwdng trong nhiing trudng hop rii ro néu trén.

X1. QUYEN PIEU TRA SO SACH VA HO SO CONG TY

Pién 37. Quyén diéu tra sb sich va hd so

L )

37.2.

3.3,

Co Péng Imac nh6m C6 Péng ndm gift tir ndm phan trim {“r%} tong s6 Co Phan phé
théng co quyen tryce tlép hodic qua ngudi duge ty quyén, gai vin ban yéu ciu duge
kiém tra danh sach C& Péng, céc bién ban hop Pai Hi Dgng Ch Péng va sao chyp
hoge trich lue céc hé so dé trong gm‘ lam wéc vé tai viin phong cia Cong Ty, Yéu ciiu
kiém tra do dai dién duoc uy quyan ctia Cb Pong phai kém theo giay uy quyf:n cia
Cco béng mé ngudi d6 dai dién hodic mft ban sao cdng ching cia gidy Uy qu;-fén niy.

Thénh vién Hai Dung Quén Tri, thanh vién Ban Ktéin Sodt, Tf}ng Giam Pde va
Nguoi Quéan Ly Doanh Nghigp khaj: co quyén klem tra s6 ding ky C6 E)nng ctia Cong
Ty, danh séch C6 Déng va nhimg sb sich va hd so khéc ctia Céng Ty vi nhimg muc
dich lién quan t&i chire vu clia minh vai didu kién cac thong tin nay phai duoc bao
mat.

Cong Ty phai luu Didu L2 ndy vi nhimg ban sita dbi bd sung Ditu L¢, Gifly chimg
nhén dang ky doanh nghio:p, cac quy che, cac tai ligu chimg minh quyen s& hi tai
sdn, nghi quyét Pai Hoi Dﬂng C6 Déng va Hoi Pong Quan Trj, bién ban hop Pai Hoi
Pdng C6 Péng va Hai Ddng Quan Tri, cic bio cao etia Hai Dong Quan Tri, c4e bao
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DPiéu 41, Ché d6 ké toan

41.1. Ché dd ké toan Cong Ty sir dung l& Ché do K& toan Viét Nam (VAS) hodc ché do ké
todn khac duge Bo Tai chinh chép thuan.

41.2. Céng Ty lap sb sich ké toan bing tiéng Viét. Céng Ty lwu giti hé so ké toan theo loai
hinh ciia c4c hoat dong kinh doanh ma Céng Ty tham gia. Nhimg hd so ndy phai
chinh xde, cip nhét, c6 hé théng va day di dé chitg minh va giai trinh cac giao dich
ciia Cang Ty,

41.3. Cong Ty sir dung Déng Viét Nam (hodc ngoai € tu do chuyén ddi trong truong hop
dirge co quan nha nude ¢o tham quyén chap thudn) lam don vi tién t¢ ghi s6 ké toan.

XIV. BAO CAO THUONG NIEN, TRACH NHIEM CONG BO THONG TIN
Diéu 42 . Bao Cdao Tai Chinh

42,1. Cong Ty phai lap ban Bao Cde Tai Chinh ndm thee quy dinh cta phédp ludt ciing nhu
che quy dinh cha U¥ ban Chimg khodn Nha nuée va béo cho phai duge kiém ton.
Trong thivi han chin muoi (20) ngay ké tir khi két thic m8i Nam TaJ Chinh, Cong Ty
phai nép Bao Céo Tai Chinh hang nam cho co quan thué ¢6 tham quyen, Uy ban
Chimg khodan Nha nwde, co quan ding ky kinh doanh va clc co quan khde theo véu
céiu etia phap ludt hién hanh.

42,2, Bao Cio Tai Chinh nim phai bao goém bao cdo két qua hoat déng kinh doanh phan
4nh mat cach trung thye va khach quan tinh hinh vE 13i 16 ciia Cong Ty trong Nam Tai
Chinh, bang cén déi ké todn Q11ﬁn anh J:nﬁt céch trung thue va khich quan tiph hinh
hoat déng ctia Cong Ty tinh dén théi diém lip bo cdo, bio cio luu chuyén tién 8 va
thuyét minh Bao Cao Tai Chinh.

42,3, Céc Bao Cao Tai Chinh d}rc,rc kiém toan (bao gom ¥ kién cta kiém toan vién) cua
Céng Ty phai duge cdng bd theo cde quy dinh cia phap luét.

Diéu 43. Bio cio thudng nién

Cong Ty phai lip va cong bé Bao céo thuomg nién theo cac quy dinh cua phap luat vé chimg
khoan.

XV. KIEM TOAN CONG TY
Diéu 44, Kiém toan

44.1. Dai Hbi Béng Cé Péng chi dinh mét Céng Ty Kiém Toan déc lip hodc théng qua
danh sach cde Cdng Ty Kiém Toan déc lip va uy quyén cho Héi DPdng Quan Tri
quyét dinh lya chon mot trong sb cae don vi ndy tién hianh cic hoat dong kiém toin
Céng Ty cho Nim Tai Chinh riép theo. Céng Ty phai chufin bj va gli Bdo Cao Tai
Chinh nim cho Céng Ty Kiém Toan ddc 1ap sau khi két thie Nam Tai Chinh.
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(¢)  Thué va cc khoan nip cho Nha nuéc;

(d)  Cac khoan vay (néu cd);

(e) Céhe khoan no khédc ciia Cong Ty;

S6 du con lai sau khi da thanh toan tit ca cac khoan ng tir mye (a) dén (e) trén diy

diroe phén chia cho cac Cé Ddng. Cac C6 Phin wu dai, néu co, dwoe vu tién thanh
todn frude.

XVIIL GIAI QUYET TRANH CHAP NOI BO

Diéu 49. Giai quyét tranh chiip nji b

49.1,

49.2,

493,

Truémg hop phét sinh tranh chip hay khi'éu nai ¢o lién quan tdi hoat ding cua Cong
Ty hay tGi quyén va nghia vu ciia cdc Co Dang theo quy dinh tai Biéu Lé Cong Ty,
Lufit Doanh Nghiép, cac ludt khéae hode cae quy dinh hinh chinh quy dinh gitra:

(a) C6 Déng véi Céng Ty: hode

(b) €6 bdng véi Hoi Bong Quan Tri, Ban Kiém Soét, Téng Gidm Déc hay Nguoi
Quan Ly Doanh Nghiép cao cip.

cac bén lién quan cb g?;ng giai quyét tranh chép do théng qua thuong lugng vi hoa
gial, Trir trudng hop tranh chap lién quan t¢1 HOi Pong Quén Tri hay Cha Tich Hoi
Déng Quan Tri, Chi Tich H&i Pong Quan Tri cha tri vife giai quyét tranh chép Vil
yéu cdu timg bén trinh bay cic yéu t6 thyc tién lién quan dén tranh chip trong vong
ba muwoi (30) Ngay Lam Vige ké tir ngdy tranh chép phit sinh. Trudng hop tranh chép
lién quan &1 Hoi B&ng Quz’m Tri hay Chii Tich Hoi Déng Quan Tri, bit et bén ndo
clng co thé yeu cau Hji Boug Quan Trj chi dinh mét chuyén gia doc lap dé hanh
déng vi tu cdch 13 Trong tai cho qua trinh gidi quyét tranh chép.

T!'Lrbng hop khing dat diroe q_u:.fét c‘lirnh hoa giai trong vong sdu (06) tudn tir khi bét
dau qué trinh hoa giai hode néu quyét dinh cuia trung gian hoa giai khéng duge céc
bén chip nhin, bit cir bén ndo ciing ¢6 thé dua tranh chip d6 ra gii quyét tai Trong
tai.

Cac bén tu chiju chi phi cia minh ¢d lién quan t&i tht tuce thueong lwong va hoa giai,
Vige thanh todn cae chi phi cua Toa dn duge thye hién theo phén quyét cia Tda 4n.

XIX. BO SUNG VA SUA DOI PIEU LE

Diéu 50. BS sung va siva ddi Picu Lé

50.1.

Viée bé sung, sira doi Dicu Lé nay phai duge Dai Hoi Bdng C6 Dang xem xét quyét
dinh.
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PHU LUC

Theo GJ}{;? ching whin ding ky doanli nghiép ciia Céng Ty Cé Phitn Tip Poan VNG duve
cilp lin didu ngdy 09/09/2004

TEN COPONG | QUOC [NOTBANG KY HQ KHAU THUONG TRU| g0 0O
STT SANG LAP TICH PHAN
| [ £ HONG MINH Viét Nam 260 Dign Bien Pha, Phudmng 4, Quén 3 262.500

L | Viét Nam [476/234A 1/6 Au Co, Phuomg 10, Quén Tén
2 | CAOTOAN MY Binh 75.000
i Viét Nam |58 Dinh B§ Linh, Phudmg 5, Quén Binh Thanh

3 TRINH BAO 75.000
p NGUYEN VigtNam 1918 Poin Hoang Vinh, Phuémg 5, Thi xd

THANH BINH Bén Tre, Tinh Bén Tre
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L DEFINITION

Article 1. Definition

1.1 In this Charter. the following terms shall be construed as follows:

.

“Affiliates™ means, in relation to any party. any Subsidiary or Parent Entity of
that party and any Subsidiary of any sucli Parent Entity, and other entities which
that party has significant influence but are not its Subsidiaries or joint ventures, in
each case from time 1o time;

“Auditing Firm" means a firm of independent public accountants, which shall be
any of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, PricewaterhouseCoopers, KPMG, and Ernst &
Young:

“Business Day"” means days in week from Monday to Friday other than public
holidays, compensatory leave in accordance with the provision of Vietnam State:

“Charter” or “Amended Charter” means this document including all attached
appendices and documents amending, supplementing this decument from time to
time;

“Charter Capital” means the amount of capital that is contributed or committed
to contribute within a definite period by members or Shareholders of the Company
and stated in Article 5 of this Charter;

“Date of Establishment™ means the date on which the Company was issued with
the initial Enterprise Registration Certificate;

“VND” or “Vietnam Dong™ means the lawful currency of the Socialist Republic
of Vietnam;

“Duration of Operation™ means the duration of operation of the Company stated
in Article 2 of this Charter;

“Encumbrance™ means any interest or equity of any person (including any right
to acquire, option or right of pre-emption or conversion) or any mortgage, charge,
pledge, lien, assignment, hypothecation, security interest. title retention or any
other security agreement or arrangement, or any agreement to create any of the
above;

“Financial Statements” means the audited financial accounts or the unaudited
financial accounts if the audited financial accounts have not been released or does
not exist for the relevant period;

“Fiscal Year”™ means, with respect to any entity, the fiscal year of such entity,
commencing on 1 January and ending on 31 December of the same calendar year:

“VAS"™ means Vietnam Accounting Standards which refers to set of generally
accepted accounting principles applying consistently within the jurisdiction of
Vietnam;
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m. “Law on Enterprises” means the Law on Enterprise No.59/2020/QH14 passed by
the National Assembly on |7 June 2020 and taking effect on 1 January 2021, as
amended or replaced from time (o time;

n, “Law on Seeurities” means the Law on Securities No, 54/2019/QH 14 passed by
the National Assembly on 26 November 2019 and taking effect on | January 2021,
as amended or replaced from time to time;

0. “Managers of an Enterprise” means a manager of the Company, comprising the
Chairman of the Board of Directors. member of the Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer and other managerial position, who is authorized to enter into
transactions of the Company in the name of the Company as stipulated in the
Charter of the Company:

p: “Related Party Transaction” means any transaction entered info between
Company and any of the following persons:

i. A member of the Board of Directors;

ii. The Chief Executive Officer, Vice President(s) and the Chief Accountant
of the Company;

iii. A member of the Board of Supervisorsof the Company;

iv. A Shareholder, authorised representative of Shareholders, holding more
than ten percent (10%) of the total Shares of the Company: or their Related
Persons:
V. The Enterprise has: (i) the members of the Board of Directors, the members
of Board of Supervisors, the Chief’ Executive Officer and other Managers —
of an Enterprise of the Company holding capital contribution or Shares; (ii) 490
their Related Persons jointly owning or separately owning Shares or 2y
contributed capital of more than ten percent (10%}) of Charter Capital; and S T
PHAN
vi. Any Related Person of any of the persons covered by i to i N (-,
q. “Related Person” means any individual or organization stipulated in Article 4.23 J
of the Law on Enterprises and in Article 4.46 of the Law on Securites, including: =t
b C!
b=

i Item 23, Article 4, Law on Enterprises: Related Persons means
organizations and individuals that have direct or indirect relationships with

an enterprise in the following cases:

il. Parent company, its Managers and the legal representative of parent
company and other persons who are competent to appoint Managers

of parent company;

iz, Subsidiary company. and any Manager and the legal representative
of the Subsidiary company;
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Persons or group of persons who are capable of dominating the
decision-making process or operations of an enterprise through
management bodies in that enterprise;

Enterprise Managers, the legal representative, and inspectors:

Wife. husband. father, adoptive father, mother, adoptive mother,
children, adopted children, sibling, brother- in- law or sister-in-law
of an enterprise manager or a member or Sharcholder holding
dominant capital share or Shares:

Individuals who are authorized representatives of those specified at
paragraphs il, i2, i3, i4 and i5 of this Clause;

An enterprise in which the persons as stipulated in paragraphs il,
i2, 13, i4, i3, 16 and i8 of this Clause holding Shares lo the level that
they can control the decision-making process of the management
bodies of such enterprise;

Any group of persons who agree to co-ordinate to take over Shares
of capital contribution, Shares or interests in the Company or
control the decision-making process of the Company;

ii. ltem 46, Article 4, Law on Securites: Related Person means an individual
or organization with interactive relations in the following circumstances:

il

3.

14,

ii5.

iih.

An enterprise and its insiders;

An enterprise and any organization or individual owing more than
len percent (10%) of the number of voting Shares or capital
contribution of such enterprise;

An organization or individual who in a relationship with another
organization or individual directly or indirectly controls or is jointly
controlled by such other organization or individual, or is subject to
the same control with such other organization or individual;

An individual and his/her biological parents, adoptive parents,
parents-in-law, spouse, offspring, adopted children, daughter-in-
law, son-in-law, siblings, brother-in-law or sister-in-law;

A parent company and its subsidiaries; and

A contractual relationship in which one person is the representative
of the other;

r. “Shareholders™ means the owners or Sharcholder(s) of the Company and any
other owners of Shares of the Company from time to time;

s, “Shares” means ordinary Shares of the Company;
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t. “Subsidiary” means any company which is currently or subsequently owned or
controlled directly or indirectly by the Company;

U, “USD” means the lawful currency of the United States of America;

v. “Vietnam™ means the Socialist Republie of Vietnam; and

w. “Board of Management” means management members of the Company,
including but not limited to the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Presidents, as
appointed from time to time pursuant to this Charter.

1.2 In this Charter, any reference to one or more other provisions or documents includes their
respective amendments or replacements.

1.3 HMeadines (chapters and Articles of this Charter) are used for convenience only and shall
not affect the contents of this Charter,

1.4 Words or terms defined in the Law on Enterprises and Law on Securities (if they do not
contradict to the subject or context herein) will have the same meanings in this Charter.

1L NAME, FORM, HEAD OFFICE, BRANCH, REFRESENTATIVE OFFICE AND
DURATION OF OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 2, Name, form, head office, branch, representative office and Duration of

Operation of the Company

2]

22

2.3

24

Amended Charter - YING Group J5C

Name of the Company:

= Name in Vietnamese: CONG TY CO PHAN TAP DOAN VNG
- Mame in English: VYNG GROUP JSC

Transaction name: VNG GROUP

Abbreviated name: VNG GROUP

The Company is a shareholding company, having legal entity status in compliance w ith
applicable laws of Vietnam.

Registered office of the Company is Lot Z06 Street No.13, Ward Tan Thuan Dong, District
7, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Legal Representative of the Company:

2.4.1. The Company shall have a legal representative holding the position of Chairman
of the Board of Directors or Chief Executive Officer, as determined by the Board
of Directors and duly reflected in the most recent Enterprise Registration
Certificate of the Company.

2.4.2. The legal representative of the Company shall exercise their rights and fulfill their

obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Charter and applicable laws.

2.4.3. The Company might have more than one legal representative as appointed by the

Board of Directors, in which case, each representative shall have respective power

and duties as decided by the Board of Directors.
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2.5

I1.

The Company may establish branches. representative offices, and business offices in order
Lo carry out the objectives of the Company in accordance with the decisions of the Board
of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer to the extent permitted by laws.

The Duration of Operation of the Company shall be indefinite from the Date of
Establishment, except for termination of operation in accordance with Article 47 of this

Charter,

OBJECTIVES, SCOPE OF BUSINESS AND OPERATION OF THE COMPANY

Article 3. Objectives of the Company and lines of business

31

3.2

Objectives: The Company is established for the purpose of raising and effectively using
capital in the business for profit; creating stable work and employment for employees:
increasing dividends of Shareholders; contribution to the State budget and development of
the Company.,

Lines of husiness:

Lines of business VSIC Code

Computer consultancy and system administration (CPC 8§49) 6202

No.
I
2.

Real estate activities with owned or leased property 6810
(except for the construction of cemetery infrastructure to transfer
land use rights associated with infrastructure)

Details: Real estate business,

Data processing, hosting and related activities 311
Details; services for accessing data and information on the network,
services for processing data and information on the network. Database
building, database storage, database mining. (CPC 843) and services
for the design and provision of advertising space and time on the
Internet,

(except for activities that related to security, press activities and
news gathering in any form)

Other telecommunications activities G190
Details;

- Internet services provider agent.

- Providing Internet accessing service (ISP}, providing service of
internet applied in post and telecommunication (OSP Post, OSP
telecommunication).  (except: resell  telecommunications
infrastructure, network supply)

- Provision of information content services on mobile
telecommunications networks,

- Cloud computing services.

= Digital information content services.

- Value-added  telecommunications  services to  basic
telecommunications services on the Intemnet,

(IAS internel access service, without network infrastructure)
(except for activities that related to security, press activities and news

gathering in any form)
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5. | Advertising 7310
Details: Commercial advertising (CPC 871)

(Foreign-invested economic organizations are not allowed to advertise
tobacco and alcohol; they are not allowed to carry out printing and
publishing activities)

6. | Other amusement and recreation activities n.e.c: 9329 (Main)
Detail:

- Games;

- Online game services.

(except for the business of award-winning video games for foreigners
and the online prize-winning video games)

(CPC 964)

7. | Other information services n.e.c: 6399
Details: Telephone information services (messaging service, PCS
service - Personal Communication Service)  (Other

telecommunications services without network infrastructure)

(Except for activities that related to security, press activities and news
gathering in any form)

8. | Agency, intermediary, auction (CPC 621) 4610

Details: commission agent buying and selling phone cards, internet
cards, and game cards. (CPC 621)

(except for products that foreign investors and foreign-invested
economic organizations are not allowed to export, import, distribute
according to the provisions of law)
9. | Computer programming 6201
Software production, consulting and supplying soltware
(CPC 849)
(except for products that foreign investors and foreign-invested
economic organizations are not allowed to export, import, distribute
according to the provisions of law)
10. | Portal Services 6312
Details:

- Establishing social networks;

- Establishing news aggregator sites (excluding press

activities);
- E-commerce websites;
- E-commerce trading platforms.

11. | Other supporting service activities related to transportation 5229
Details: Activities of airline ticket agencies

12. | Sound recording and music publishing activities 5920

13, | Activities of insurance agents and brokers 6622

14. | Call-related service activities 8220

3.3 Lines of business of the Company might be changed, amended from time to time, however,
this will not be necessary to change this Charter.

Article 4. Scope of business and operations

The Company may carry out business activities onshore and offshore as in compliance with laws
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and this Charter,

IV. CHARTER CAPITAL, SHARES AND FOUNDING SHAREHOLDERS

Article 5. Charter Capital, Shares and Founding Sharcholders

n
s

5.4

LA
Lh

5.6

3.7

The Company’s Charter Capital is VND293.769,740,000 (in words: Two hundred ninety-
three billion, seven hundred sixty-nine million, seven hundred forty thousand Vietnamese
Dong). The face value per Share is 10.000 (ten thousand) Vietnamese Dong. The total
number of Shares is 29,376,974 shares. This amount may be adjusted from time to time in
accordance with changes in the Company's capital structure.

The Company may change its Charter Capital upon approval of the General Meeting of
Sharcholders and in accordance with laws.

Names, addresses. number of Shares owned and other details of founding Shareholders are
stated in the Appendix hereto. This Appendix is a part of this Charter.

Ordinary Shares shall be firstly offered to existing Shareholders in proportion o their
pereentage of ownership of ordinary Shares in the Company, unless otherwise decided by
the General Meeting of Shareholders, If the Shares intended to be issued are not fully
subscribed by Shareholders, the remaining Shares shall be managed by the Board of
Directors, The Board of Directors may distribute these Shares to Shareholders of the
Company or to other persons in a manner that the Board of Directors deem appropriate
provided that the conditions offered to such persons are not better than those offered to
Shareholders, unless it is otherwise approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders,

The Company may buy back its Shares in a manner stipulated as per this Charter and
applicable laws.

The Company may issue other types of securities upon approval of the General Meeting
of Shareholders and in accordance with laws.

Foreign ownership limit. All (i) shares or other equity interests in the Company, (ii)
securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares. voting securities or other equity
interests in the Company, and (iii) options, warrants or other rights o acquire the securities
described in clauses (i) and (ii), whether fixed or contlingent, matured or unmatured,
contractual, legal, equitable or otherwise (collectively, Equity Securities) shall be subject
to the following limitations:

(@) In no eventthe foreign ownership limit (FOL) of the Company be more than
maximum percentage as permitted by the Vietnamese law:

(b) The Company at its discretion shall reject to conduct any corporate registration or
statutory licensing procedure to effect any transfer of shares or Equity Securities or
other transactions which may result in the foreign ownership ratio in the Company
exceeding the FOL.

Article 6. Share Certificates, Register book of Shareholders, and other securifics
certificates
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6.1 A certificate issued by the Company or book entries evidencing the ownership of one or
more Shares of the Company shall be called a Share Certificate.

6.2  The Shareholders of the Company shall be issued with Share Certificates corresponding
to the number of Shares and class of Shares awned.

Share Certificates must have information required by Law on Enterprises.

6.3 Within seven (D7) days from the date of submission of a complete application for transfer
of Share ownership as stipulated by the Company or within five (05) Business Days from
the date of full payment of the subseription price as stipulated in the Share issue plan of
the Company and once the Company has received the approval of the competent bodies,
the owner of Shares shall be issued with a Share Certificate. The owner of Shares is not
required to pay the Company any expenses for printing the Share Certificate.

6.4 Where a Share Certificate is damaged, erased, lost, stolen or destroyed, the owner of such
Share Certificate may request issuance of a new Share Certificate provided that such owner
must provide evidence of ownership of Shares and pay any related expenses fo the
Company,

6.5  The Company’s Register book of Shareholders shall be established and managed in
accordance with the applicable laws from time to time.

6.6 A Register book of Shareholder must contain the main contents and shall be retained in
accordance with the laws.

67  Bond certificates or other securities certificates of the Company (excluding offer letters,
temporary certificates and similar documents) shall be issued with the seal and sample
signature of the legal representative of the Company.

Article 7. Offer and Assignment of Shares

7.1 All Shares shall be freely assigned unless otherwise stipulated by this Charter and law.

7.2  The Board of Directors shall determine the price at which Shares shall be offered for sale
by the Company. The price at which Shares shall be offered must not be lower than the
market price at the time of offering or the most recent value, except in the following cases:

{a) Initial Offering of Shares to non-founding Shareholders upon the Company’s
incorporation;

(b)  Shares offered to all Shareholders in proportion to their respective shareholding in
the Company;

(c) Shares offered to brokers or underwriters. In this case, the amount of discount or
specific discount rate must be approved by the Shareholders representing at least
sixty-five percent (65%) of the total number of Shares with voting rights:

(d) Shares offered to the Employees; and

(ey  Other cases as decided by the General Meeling of Shareholders.
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1.3 Shares shall be deemed to have been issued by the Company when thev have been paid up
and the information of the purchaser has been properly recorded in the Register book of
Shareholders; from such point of time. the purchaser of Shares shall become a Shareholder
of the Company.

7.4 Where only a parl of Shares in a bearer Share Certificate are assigned, such Share
Certificate shall be cancelled and the Company shall issue a new Share Certificate
recording remaining number of Shares.

:--.I.
[=4]

The conditions, methods and procedures for public offering of Shares by the Company
shall comply with the legislation on securities.

7.6 Shares to be issued under the Employee Stock Ownership Program (ESOP) shall be subject
to transfer restrictions in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Securities Law
and the Company’s ESOP Policy, as amended from time to time,

Article 8. Buy-back of Shares as demanded by Shareholders

8.1. A Sharcholder voting against the re-organization of the Company or against a change to
the rights and obligations of Shareholders stipulated in this Charter of the Company may
require the Company to redeem its Shares.

8.2, Such demand must be made in writing and specified with the name and address of the
Shareholder, the number of Shares ol each class, the intended selling price, and the reason
for requiring redemption by the Company. Such demand must be sent to the Company
within ten (10) days from the date on which the General Meeting of Shareholders passed
a resolution on a matter referred to in this Article.

8.3.  The Company shall buy back from Shareholder, at his/her request as provided in Clause |
of this Article in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations..

Article 9. Buy-back of Shares as a result of Company’s decisions

In accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the Company shall be entitled to buy hack
no more than thirty percent (30%) of total number of its issued ordinary Shares, a portion or all of
its issued Shares of other classes in accordance with the following provisions:

9.1. The Board of Directors shall have right to decide on a buy-back of no more than ten percent
(10%) of total number of Shares of each class already issued for every 12 months. In other
cases, the buy-back of Shares shall be decided by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

9.2. Subject fo the conditions set forth in Article 9,1 and to the extent permitted by applicable
laws, the Company shall have the full authority to buy back all Shares held by any
Sharcholder who is or was an employee of the Company. in accordance with the
Company's ESOP Policy,

9.3.  The Board of Directors shall decide the price for redemption of Shares.
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9.4,  Subject to the conditions of Article 9.1, the Company may buy back a number of Shares
from every Sharcholder corresponding to his/her equity proportion in the Company. The
procedure for the Share buy-back in this case shall comply with the Law on Securities and
any amendments thereto from time to time,

Article 10, Payment conditions and handling of buy-back Shares

10.1 The Company may make payment for the buy-back Shares to Shareholders in accordance
with the provisions of Article 8 and Article 9 ol this Charter where immediately subsgquerit
to such payment the Company shall still be able to pay off all due debts and other property
liabilities,

10.2  All Shares that are bought back in accordance with the pravision of Article 8 and Article
9 of this Charter shall be considered unsold shares,

10.3  Share Certificates certifying the ownership of redeemed Shares must be cancelled
immediately after the respective redemption price is paid.

Article 11, Payment of Dividends

11.1  The Company may only pay dividends to Shareholders when the Company has made
profit, or at other times upon the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders, after
fulfilling its tax and other financial obligations in accordance with the provisions of laws;
making reserves and making up the losses carried forward in accordance with regulations
of laws and this Charter of the Company; and immediately after full payment of dividends,
the Company must still be able to fully pay all due debts and other property liabilities.

11.2 Dividends may be paid in cash, by Shares of the Company or other assets. In case of
payment in cash, the payment must be made in Vietnam Dong,

11.3  The payment of dividends shall be carried out in compliance w ith the applicable laws and
regulations on public companies, as amended from time to time.

11.4  Where Shares are transferred at a time during the completion of the Shareho Iders list and
the dividends payment, the transferor shall receive dividends by the Company.

Article 12, Revoeation of Shares, recovery of payment for redeemed Shares or dividends

12.1. Where a Shareholder fails to pay in full and on time the amount payable to purchase
Shares, which are issued by the Company, the Board of Directors shall provide a notice
and has the right to request such Shareholder to pay the unpaid amount together with
interest on such amount and expenses arising from failure to pay in full to the Company.

12.2.  The above-mentioned payment notice must specify the new deadline for payment (at least
seven (07) days from the date of sending the notice) and place for payment, and the notice
must clearly state that the number of Shares which have not yet been paid for in full shall
be revoked in the case of failure to make payment properly as requested.

12.3.  The Board of Directors has the right to revoke Shares which have not yet been paid for in
full and on time in a case where the requirements in the above-mentioned notice are not
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Y.

satisfied.

Revoked Shares shall be treated as offerable Shares. The Board of Directors may directly
or indirectly through an authorized representative sell or re-issue such Shares to the
persons who owned the revoked Shares or to other entities on conditions and in the
manners the Board of Directors considers appropriate.

Shareholders holding revoked Shares must forfeit their right as Shareholders with respect
to such Shares from the date of revocation to the date of payment as decided by the Board
of Directors. The Board of Directars has full powers to decide the enforcement of payment
of the total value of Shares at the time of revocation,

A revocation notice shall be sent to the holders of Shares to be revoked prior to the time
of revocation, The revocation shall remain valid even il there is any error or negligence
during the course of sending the notice.

The recovery of payments for redeemed Shares or dividends shall occur in the following
two circumstances:

(a) Where a payment for redeemed Shares is made in contravention of Article 10: or
(b) Dividends are paid in contravention of Article 1.

In such case, all Shareholders shall surrender to the Company the monies or other assels
received, Where a Shareholder fails to do so, that Shareholder and all members of the
Board of Directors shall be jointly liable for the debts of the Company within the amounts

or assels already paid to Shareholders but have not surrendered.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF MANAGEMENT

Article 13, Organizational structure of management
The organizational structure of management comprises:

VI

(a)  General Meeting of Shareholders;
(b) Board of Directors;

(c) Chief Executive Officer;

(d) Board of Supervisors.

SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 14.  Rights of Shareholders

14.1.

Sharcholders are the owners of the Company and have the rights and ebligations
corresponding to the number and class of Shares owned by them. The Shareholders shall
only be liable for the debts and other finaneial obligations of the Company to the extent of
the amount of capital they have contributed to the Company.

Subject to the other Articles ofthis Charter, ordinary Shareholders shall have the follow ing
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rights:

{a)

(b)

(e)

(d)

(&)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

To participate, speal and exercise the right to vote directly at the General Meeting

of Sharcholders or through an anthorized representative(s); or at online General
Meeting of Shareholders and exercise the electronic voting right in accordance
with regulations of the Company:

To receive dividends at the rate as decided by the General Meeting of Shareholders;
To freely transfer their Shares in accordance with this Charter and applicable laws;

To be given priority in buying newly issued Shares or other convertible securities
in proportion to the amount of ordinary Shares held by each Sharcholder in the

Company.

To review, search or make an extract of his/her own information in the list of
Shareholders who are qualified to attend the General Meeting of Sharcholders and
request correction of inaccurate information;

To review, search and make an extract or copy of the Company’s Charter, the
minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders and resolutions of the General

Meeting of Shareholders;

Where the Company is dissolved or goes bankrupt, to receive part of the remaining
property in proportion to the Shares contributed to the Company afier the Company
has made payment to its creditors and the Sharcholders holding redemable
preference Shares of the Company, if any, in accordance with laws;

To request the Company to buy back Shares in the cases stipulated in the Law on
Enterprises and this Charter; and

Other rights stipulated in this Charter, in accordance with the resolutions of the
General Meeting of Sharcholders and by laws.

14.3. A Sharcholder or a group of Shareholders holding five percent (5%) or more of the total
ordinary Shares shall have the following rights:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

To sight, consult and make an extract of the book of minutes and resolutions or
decisions of the Board of Directors, mid-year and annual finaneial statements,
reports of the Board of Supervisors, and contracts and transactions which must be
passed by the Board of Directors and other data except for data relating fo
commercial secrets or business secrets of the Company;

To request the convening of a General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with
Articles 115.3 of the Law on Enterprises;

To request the Board of Supervisors to inspect each specific issue related to the
management and operation of the Company where it is considered necessary, The

request must be made in writing and contain the information required by laws;

Other rights stipulated in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and
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14.4.

this Charter.

A shareholder or group of Shareholders holding ten percent (10%) or more of the total
ordinary Shares has the right to nominate candidates for the Board of Directors or the
Board of Supervisors. The nomination of candidates to the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors shall be carried out in accordance with Article 115.5 of the Law on
Enterprises and other applicable regulations, and its amendments from time to time,

Article 15,  Obligations of Sharcholders

A Shareholder shall have the following obligations:

15.1.

15.4.

To observe this Charter and the regulations of the Company, resolutions of the General
Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors.

To pay in full for the Shares subscribed for within the timeline permitted by law or as per
commitment in writing.

To provide the correct address when subscribing for Shares.

To bear personal liability when committing in the name of the Company in any form the
following acts:

(a) Violating law;

(b)  Conducting business and other transactions for self-seeking purposes or  interests
of other organizations or individuals: and

(c) Paying undue debts when the Company is facing possible financial risks.

Article 16,  General Meeting of Shareholders

6.1,

16.2.

6.3,

All Shareholders with voting rights shall make up the General Meeting of Shareholders
that acts as the highest decision-making body of the Company. The annual meeting shall
be called the annual General Meeting of Shareholders and other meetings shall be called
the extraordinary meetings. The annual General Meeting of Shareholders shall be
organized once every year. The General Meeting of Shareholders must hold an annual
meeting within four (04) months from the end of a Fiscal Year. In case the annual General
Meeting of Shareholders cannot be held within such timeline, the Board of Directors may
extend the time-limit for holding an annual meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders, but no later than six (06) months from the end of the Fiscal Year, The
General Meeting of Shareholders shall not be held by the way of collection of written
opinions.

The Board of Directors shall convene the annual General Meeting of Shareholders and
shall choose an appropriate place in the territory of Vietnam. The Board of Directors has
the right to decide to hold the online General Meeting in accordance with the Regulation
for Online General Meeting of Shareholders approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders from time to time.

The Board of Directors must convene an extraordinary meeting of the General Meeting of
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Shareholders in the following cases:

{a)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

The Board of Directors considers that it is necessary for the benefits of the
Company:

The number of remaining members of the Board of Directors, Board of Supervisors
is less than the number of members required by law or less than half of the number
of members required by this Charter;

A Shareholder or a group of Sharcholders stipulated in Article 14.3 of this Charter
requests in writing to convene the General Meeting of Shareholders. Such request
must contain the information required by laws;

The Board of Supervisors requests o convene a meeting if the Board of
Supervisors has a reason to believe that a member of the Board of Directors or a
Manager of an Enterprise has committed a material breach of their obligations
stipulated in Article 165 of the Law on Enterprises or that the Board of Directors
acts or intends to act outside the scope of its powers; and

Other cases as stipulated by laws and the Charter.

16.4. Convening of an extraordinary meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Article 17.

The Board of Diréctors must convene a meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders within thirty (30) days in any of the cases stipulated in Article
16.3(c), (d) and (e):

Where the Board of Directors fails to convene a meeting of the General Meeting
of Sharcholders in accordance with Article 16.4(a), then within next thirty (30)
days, the Board of Supervisors must, in place of the Board of Directors, convene a
meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with Clause 3 of
Article 140 of the Law on Enierprises;

Where the Board of Supervisors fails to convene a meeting of the General Meeting
of Shareholders in accordance with Article 16.4(b), then within the next thirty (30)
days the requesting Shareholder or group of Shareholders as stipulated in Article
16.3(d) has the right to convene, in place of the Board of Directors and the Board
of Supervisors, a meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance
with Clause 4 of Article 140 of the Law on Enterprises; and

In this case, the Shareholder or group of Sharcholders convening the General
Meeting of Shareholders has the right to request the business registration body to
supervise the sequence and procedures for convening and conduct ofa meeting and
making decisions by the General Meeting of Shareholders. All expenses for
convening and conduct of a meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders shall
be reimbursed by the Company.

Rights and duties of the General Meeting of Shareholders

17.1 The General Meeting of Shareholders has the following rights:
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{a

f—

(b)

(el

(d)

(e)

(2)

(h)

(th

(m}

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)

To approve the development strategy of the Company;

T decide the classes of Shares and total number of Shares of each elass (o be
offered: discount rate or discount price of Shares offered to brokers or guarantors:

To elect, remove or discharge members of the Board of Directors and members of
the Board of Supervisors:

To make investment decisions or decisions on sale of assets of the Com pany or its
branches or on purchase transactions valued at fifty percent (50%) or more of the
total value of assets of the Company and its branches recorded in the most recent
audited Financial Statement of the Company;

To make decisions on amendments to the Charter of the Company;
To approve annual Financial Statements:

To decide redemption of more than ten percent (10%) of the total number of Shares
of each class already sold,

To consider and deal with breaches by the Board of Directors, the Board of
Supervisors which caused damage to the Company and its Shareholders;

To decide re-organization or dissolution of the Company:

To approve report of the Board of Directors on the evaluation of the business
management in the Company;

To apprave report of the Board of Supervisors regarding corporate governance by
the Board of Directors, the Chiel Executive Officer:

To approve the number of members of the Board of Directors and the Board of
Supervisors;

To appoint an auditing company:

To approve total remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors;

To approve report of the Board of Directors appointing the Chief Executive
Officer;

To approve the Company or any branch of the Company enters into a contract with
any person stipulated in Article 167 of the Law on Enterprises with a value of thity-
five percent (35%) or more of the total value of assets of the Company and its
branch recorded in the most recent audited Financial Statements:

To approve the transaction as provided under Clause 4, Article 293 of Decree No.
155/2020/ND-CP dated 31 December 2020 implementing the Law on Securities,
and its amendments from time to time;
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(1) To approve internal regulations on corporate governance, operating regulations of
the Board of Directors, operating regulations of the Board of Supervisors;

(s) Ta decide the rate of annual dividend for each class of Shares;
(t) To approve the change in the Company’s business lines;

(1) To approve the change in the internal management structure of the Company as
stipulated in Article 13 of this Charter; and

(v)  To approve other matters as stipulated in this Charter and other regulations of the
Company.

172 A Shareholder shall not be entitled to vote in the following cases:

(a) Approval of contracts stipulated in Article 17.1 (d), (q) of this Charter when such
Shareholder or a Related Person of such Shareholder is a party to such contract,
and

(h)  Redemption of Shares held by such Sharcholder or a Related Person of such
Shareholder except where such redemption is made in proportion of ownership of
all Shareholders.

Article 18, Authorized representatives

18.1 Shareholders entitled to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with
laws may authorize their representative(s) to attend. In the event more than one
representative is appointed, then the number of Shares and the number of votes authorized
to each representative must be specified.

18.2 The authorization to a representative to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders must
be made in writing on the standard form as provided by the Company. The person
authorized to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders must submit the written
authorization before entering the meeting room.

18.3 The voting slip of the person authorized to attend the mecting within the scope of
authorization shall be invalid when the Company receives a written notice at least forty
eight (48) hours prior to the time of opening of the General Shareholders Meeting in the
following cases:

(a) The principal dies, or his capacity for civil acts is lost or is restricted:

(b) The principal has rescinded the appointment of authorization;

(c) The principal has rescinded the authority of the person carrying out the
authorization.

184  The authorization still remain effective if the Company receives a written notice relating
to any one of these cases in Article 18.3 within less than 48 hours prior to the time of
opening of the General Meeting ol Shareholders.
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Article 19, Convening of the General Meeting of Shareholders, agenda and notice of
meeting of General Meeting of Shareholders

19.1

19.4

The General Meeting of Shareholders shall be convened in accordance with Articles 6.2,
16.3 and 16.4 of this Charter,

The convenor of the General Meeting of Shareholders must carry out the following duties:

(a) Make a list of Shareholders entitled to participate in the meeting and to vote no
earlier than (05) days on which the notice of invitation to the meeting of the General
Meeting of Shareholders is sent. The Company shall disclose information about
the preparation of the list of Shareholders entitled to participate in the meeting of
the General Meeting of Shareholders at least twenty (20) days prior to the last
registration date:

(b) Prepare the agenda, contents, materials for such meeting, draft resolutions for each
issue in agenda as stipulated in accordance with laws and the rules ofthe Company:

(e) Determine time and venue of the meeting; and

(d) Send meeting invitations to all Sharcholders eligible for participation in the
meeting,

The meeting invitations and enclosed materials must be posted on the website of the
Company as well as forwarded to Shareholders. Such invitation must be sent no later than
twenty one (21) days prior to the dale of the meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders (calculated from the date on which the notice is validly sent or delivered, the
date on which the postal charge is paid, or the date on which the notice is put in the
mailbox). In the case enclosed materials are not attached with the meeting invitation. such
invitation must specify the website address in order to enable the Shareholders to access
such malterials,

A Shareholder or group of Shareholders referred to in Article 14,3 of this Charter has the
right to propose any matter to be included in the agenda of a meeting of the General
Meeting of Shareholders. The proposal must be made in writing and must be sent to the
Company at least three (03) Business Days prior to the opening day of the General Meeting
of Shareholders. The proposal must contain full names of the Shareholders, number and
class of Shares held by them, and the items proposed to be included in the agenda.

The convenor of the General Meeting of Shareholders has the right to reject any proposal
defined in Article 19.4 in the following cases:

(a)  Such proposals are not forwarded within the specified time limit or contain
incarrect or insufficient information;

(b The proposed matters are not within the deciding competence of the General
Meeting of Shareholders; and

(e)  Other cases that are not in accordance with the applicable laws.
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19.6  Any resolution of the General Meeting of Sharcholders passed with one hundred percent
(100%) votes shall be deemed to be valid even if the General Meeting of Shareholders was
not convened in accordance with the sequence and procedures, or the items voted on were
not included on the agenda.

Article 20.  Conditions for conducting meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders

20.1 A meeting of the General Meeting of Sharcholders shall be conducted where i is attended
by a number of Shareholders that represent more than fifty percent (50%) of the voling
Shares.

202  Where the number of attendees required is insufficient within thirty (30) minutes from the
opening time of the meeting, the convenors shall cancel the meeting. The General Meeting
of Shareholders must be reconvened within thirty (30) days from the intended date of
holding the first General Meeting of Shareholders. The reconvened General Meeting of
Shareholders shall be conducted only when the attendees represent at least thirty-three
percent (33%) of the voting Shares.

20.3 Where a meeting convened for the second time is not able to be conducted due to an
insufficient number of attendees required to be present within thirty (30) minutes from the
opening time of the meeting, the General Meeting of Shareholders may be convened for a
third time within twenty (20) days from the intended date of conducting the second
meeting: and in such case, the meeting shall be conducted irrespective of the number of
attending Sharcholders or authorized representatives. The General Meeting of
Shareholders re-convened under this Article 20,3 shall have the right to make decisions on
all matters proposed to be passed at the first convened General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 21, Procedures for conducting and voting at General Meeting of Shareholders

21.1 On the date of holding the General Meeting of Sharcholders, all eligible participating
Shareholders will be registered to attend the meeting,

21.2  Upon registration, participants shall be provided with voting slips for the issues to be voted
in the meeting agenda.

213 Shareholders or authorized persons who eome after the meeting opened shall be entitled
to register and vote after registration. The chairman must not stop the meeling for the
latecomers to register; in this case the effect of votes that have been done shall not be
affected.

214  The Chairman of the Boatd of Directors shall chair meetings convened by the Board of
Directors. Where he is absent or temporarily loses the ability to work, the Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors will be the chairman of the meeting. If there is no Vice Chairman,
or if the Vice Chairman is also absent or unable to perform his/her duties, the remaining
members shall elect one of them to be the chairman of the meeting. In the case none of the
members may act as the chairman, the highest ranking member of the Board of Directors
shall guide the General Meeting of Shareholders to elect a chairman of the meeting from
participanting members and the member who receives the highest number of votes shall
chair the meeting,

In other case, the person who signed the decision to convene a meeting of the General
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Meeting of Shareholders shall guide the General Meeting of Shareholders to elect the
chairman of the meeting, and the persin who receives the highest number of votes shall
chair the meeting.

I
-JI

The chairman has the right to decide the procedures and events arising outside the agenda
of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

21.6 The chairman may delay a meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders in accordance
with the Law on Enterprises.

21.7  The person who convenes a meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders shall have
rights to require the Shareholders or authorized representatives attending the General
Meeting of Shareholders to pass security check if the Board of Directors considers
necessary. Where any Shareholder or authorized representative refuses the securily cheek
mentioned above, the convenor may, after careful consideration, may reject or expel such
Shareholder or representative from the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 22, Passing resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders

22,1 The Shareholders' Meeting shall have rights to pass any resolution within its competence
by voting at meetings or by giving written opinions.

22.2  Subject to Article 14.4, in case of voting at meetings:

(a) A resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders on any of the matters
stipulated in Articles 17.1 (b), (d), (e), (i), (p). (1) and (u) shall e passed when it is
approved by a number of Sharcholders representing at least sixty-five percent
(65%) of the total voting Shares of all attending Shareholders: and

(b) A resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders on other matters {including
appointment of members of the Board of Directors and Board of Supervisors) shall
be passed when it is approved by a number of Shareholders representing more than
fifty percent (50%) of the total voting Shares of all attending Shareholders.

2%
]
fad

In case of giving written opinions, resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders
shall be passed by more than fifty percent (50%) of the total legitimate voling slips.
Legitimate voting slips shall be those sent by the Company to the Shareholders, filled in
within all required information, checked in the voting checkboxes by the Shareholders and
sent back (o the Company within the prescribed timeline.

Article 23, Competence and procedures for collecting written opinions of Shareholders to
pass decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders

The competence and procedures for collecting written opinions of Shareholders to adopt
decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders shall comply with the following provisions;

23.1  The Board of Directors may collect Shareholders' written opinions in order to pass a
resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders stipulated in Article 22.3 of this Charter
at any time when it deems necessary for the interests of the Company.

232 The Board of Directors must prepare written opinion cards, a draft of the resolution of the
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General Meeting of Shareholders, and other explanatory documents for the draft decisions.
These shall be sent to each Shareholder. The Board of Directors must ensure to send and
announce the document to the Shareholders within a reasonable period for their review
and voting and must send at least ten (10) days prior to the expiry date of receipt of writien
opinion forms,

The written opinion cards must contain information required by law.

o]
(]
(]

23.4  Filled-in opinion cards must be signed by Shareholders being individuals or its lawful
authorized representative; or by the authorized representative or the legal representative of
Shareholders being organizations.

Article 24.  Minutes of meeting of General Meeting of Shareholders

The chairman of the General Meeting of Sharcholders meeting is responsible for filing of minutes
of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders
must be published on the website of the Company within twenty-four (24) hours. Prevailing
language of the minutes must be Vietnamese, and the minutes must be certified by the chairman
of the meeting and the secretary, and must be made in accordance with the Law on Enterprises
and this Charter,

Article 25.  Demand for cancellation of resolutions of General Meeting of Shareholders

Within ninety (90) days from the receipt of the minutes of a meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders or the voting result minutes in case of collecting written opinions of Shareholders,
the Shareholders or a group of Shareholders referred to in Article 14.3 of this Charter have the
right to request a court or an arbitrator to consider and cancel such resolution in the following

Cases]

25.1.  The order and procedures for convening the concerned meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders do not comply with the provisions of Law on Enterprises and the Charter.

25.2. The order and procedures for issuing the decision or such decision has some contents in
violation of law or the Charter.

In case a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders is cancelled in accordance with a
decision of a Court or an Arbitrator, the convenor of a meeting of the General Meeting of
Shareholders may consider re-organizing the General Meeting of Shareholders within 30 days in
accordance with the sequence and procedures stipulated in the Law on Enterprises and this
Charter.

VIL THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Article26.  Composition and term of office of the Board of Directors members

26.1 The Board of Directors shall consist of three (03) to eleven (11) members as determined
by the General Meeting of Sharcholders from time to time.

26.2 The term of office of the Board of Directors is five (05) years. The office term of each
individual member shall not exceed five (03) years; members of the Board of Directors
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may be re-elected for unlimited times. In the case a member is elected to the Board of
Directors (irrespective of being elected as a supplement or a replacement) in the middle of
the term, the term of office of that new member shall be the remaining period of the term
of the Board of Directors.

26.3 A Shareholder or a group of Shareholders holding ten percent (10%) or mare of the total
ordinary Shares shall have the right to nominate eandidates to the Board of Directors. As
permitted by Article 148.3 of the Law on Enterprises, members of the Board of Directors
shall be elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders by way ol non-cumulative voting,
and subject to the voting threshold set forth in Articles 22.2 and 22.3 of this Charter, At
each General Meeting of Shareholders at which members of the Board of Directors will
be elected, every Sharcholder entitled to vote at such meeting shall have the right to vote
the number of Shares owned by such Shareholder for as many candidates as there are
members of the Board of Directors to be elected. A Shareholder may not allocate all of
their votes to a single candidate and must vote for as many diserete candidates as there are
menibers of the Board of Directors to be elected.

26.4  Where the number of candidates to the Board of Directors by way of nomination and self-
nomination is still insufficient, the incumbent Board of Directors may nominate acdditional
candidates or hold a nomination.

26.5 The status as # member of the Board of Directors shall be terminated in the following cases:
{a) Such member is ineligible to be a member of the Board of Directors in accordance
with the Law on Enterprises ot is prohibited from being a member of a Board of
Directors by law;
(b) Such member sends a written resignation to the head office of the Company;

(c) Such member is incapable of, or restricted from civil acts:

(d) Such member did not attend any meeting of the Board of Directors for six (06)
consecutive months without consent of the Board of Directors:

(e) Such member is dismissed by a decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders:
or

(f Such member breaches the laws and is prosecuted by the competent State hodies.

26,6  The Board of Directors may appoint another person to be a temporary member of the Board
of Directors in order to fill the vacancy arising, and the new member must be approved at
the nearest meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders. Upon approval of the General
Meeting of Shareholders, the appointment of such new member shall be deemed effective
on the date of appointment by the Board of Directors. In the event the new member is not
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders, any resolution of the Board of Directors
previously passed with that member’s voting shall remain valid and enforceable.

26.7  The appointment of members of the Board of Directors must be announced in accordance
with the Law on Securities,

26.8  Members of the Board of Directors may not be Shareholders of the Company.
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Article 27.

Rights and duties of the Board of Directors

27.1 Business activities and affairs of the Company must be supervised and directed by the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is the body with full authorization to exercise
all rights on behalf of the Company, excluding authorities which belong to the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

272  The Board of Directors is responsible to supervise the Chief Executive Officer and other
Managers of an Enterprise.

273  The Board of Directors has the following rights and duties:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

(H

(e)

(h)

()

To make decisions on medium term development strategies and plans, and on
annual business plans of the Company;

To propose classes of Shares which may be issued and the total number of Shares
of each ¢lass to be issued;

To make decision on offering of the news Shares within the number of Shares of
each class which may be offered; to make decision on mobilizing capital in other
manner,

To make decisions on the price of Shares, bonds and convertible securities of the
Company offered for sale;

To make decision on purchasing or recovering no more than ten percent (10%) of
offered Shares of each class in every twelve (12) months;

To approve transactions or contracts for borrowing, mortgage, loan, guarantees,
payment of compensation by the Company; purchasing or selling the Company’s
assets, where the cumulative annual value of transactions within any single
category equals or exceeds ten percent (10%), but not exceeding fifty percent
(50%) of the total value of assets recorded in the most recent Financial Statement
of the Company from time to time,;

To approve the Company or any branch of the Company enters into a contract with
any person stipulated in Article 167.1 of the Law on Enterprises with a value of
less than thirty-five percent (35%) of the total value of assets of the Company and
its branch recorded in the most recent audited Financial Statements;

To appoint, dismiss or remove the Chief Executive Officer, Such dismissal mus!
not be contrary to the contractual rights (if any) of dismissed persons;

To make decisions on the organizational structure of the Company; to make
decisions on the establishment of Subsidiary companies the establishment of
branches and representative offices and the capital contribution to or purchase of
Shares;
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(k)

(h

()

(n)

(o)

(s)

(1}

{u)

(v)

(w)

To apprave the program and agenda or the General Meeting ol Shareholders; to
convene the General Meeting of Sharcholders or tw conduet procedures for
obtaming written opinions for the General Meeting of Shareholders to adopt its
decisions:

To submit the annual audited Financial Statements to the General Meeting of
Shareholders;

To propose annual dividend rates and to determine provisional dividend rates: to
organize payment of dividends;

To propose the re-organization or dissolution of the Company;

To determine operational objectives on the basis of strategic objectives approved
by the General Meeting of Shareholders:

To resolve claims of the Company against Managets of an Enterprise and to make
decisions o select representatives of the Company to resolve issues relating to legal
proceedings against such Managers of an Enterprise;

To propose the issuance of convertible bonds and securities rights which entitle
owners to purchase Shares at a pre-determined price;

To report the General Meeting of Sharcholders the appointment of the Chief
Executive Officer by the Board of Directors;

Any contract or fransaction involving a loan or sale of assets valued at exceeding
10% but less than 353% of the total asset value recorded in the most recent financial
statements of the total asset value recorded in the most recent financial statements.
between the Company and a shareholder holding 51% or more of the total voting
shares, or a related person of such shareholder as stipulated in Article 293.5 of
Decree No. 155/2020/ND-CP dated 31 December 2020, and its amendments from
time to time:

Purchase or sale of shares or capital contribution in, or make any investments to,
or acquisitions of any in companies outside VNG Group, where the value of a
single investment exceeds USD 1,000,000 (One million United States Dollars) but
less than 35% of the total asset value recorded in the most recent Financial
Statements of the Company from time to time;

Valuation of assets contributed to the Company which are not in cash relating to
the issuance of Shares or bonds of the Company, comprising gold, land use rights.
intellectual property rights, technology and technological know-how:

Decision on buy-back price or on recovery of Shares of the Company;

Business issues or transactions which require approval as decided by the Board of
Directors within the scope of its powers and responsibilities; and

Other rights and obligations as stipulated by the laws, the Company Charter and
resclutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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215

27.6

The Board of Directors shall pass a resolution by way of voting at meetings. oblaining
written opinions. or otherwise suitable for the specific circumstance and issue as
determined by the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Each member of the Board of
Directors shall have one vote. An affirmative written opinion of the member of the Board
of Directors shall be as validity as the affirmative vote in the meeting. An affirmative
written opinion shall be confirmed by the signatures of one or more members of the Board
of Directors. Such written opinion shall be sent by fax or email followed by the original,
and shall be filed at the office of the Company,

Unless otherwise stipulated by laws and the Charter, the Board of Directors may authorize
lower-level staff and Managers of an Enterprise to decide the matters subject to the Board
of Directors approval and implement the works on behalf of the Company.

Members of the Board of Directors (excluding the authorized representatives) shall be
entitled to remuneration for their work. The remuneration for the Board of Directors shall
be determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The total amount paid to each member of the Board of Directors comprising remuneration,
expenses, commission, right to purchase Shares and other benefits conferred by the
Company, its Subsidiaries and Affiliates and other companies in which a member of the
Board of Directors is the capital contribution representative must be disclosed in the annual
report of the Company.

Article 28. Chairman of the Board of Directors

28.1

282

283

The Chairman of the Board of Directors may not act concurrently as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall have the following rights and duties:
{a) To develop working programs and plans for the Board of Directors:

(b) To prepare or organize the preparation of the agenda, contents and materials for
meetings of the Board of Directors; to convene and chair such meetings;

() To arrange for the adoption of decisions by the Board of Directors in other
manners;

() To monitor the implementation of decisions adopted by the Board of Directors;

(e) To chair sessions of the General Meeting of Shareholders;

(f) To execute the record and amendment of the information on Shareholders in the
Register book of Shareholder and be responsible for such executing and
supervising the issuance of Share Certificates to Shareholders; and

(g)  Other rights and duties as provided by this Charter and applicable Laws,

Where the Chairman of the Board of Directors is absent, he shall authorize in writing
another member ta perform the duties of the Chairman of the Board of Directors at his sole
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discretion. In case no member is so authorized, other members shall elect by majority vote
one among themselves to hold the temporary chairmanship of the Board of Directors.

Where the Chairman of the Board of Directors resigns or is removed, the Board of
Directors must elect another person for replacement within ten (10) days.

Article 29.  Meetings of Board of Directors

29, |

29.2

293

29.4

285

29.7

The initial meeting of the term of the Board of Directors to elect the Chairman and adopt
ather decisions under its competence shall be conducted within seven (07) Business Days
after the end of the election of the Board of Directors for such term. This meeting shall be
convened by the member who obtains the highest number of votes. If more than one
member have equal and highest number of votes, the voting members shall elect by
majority vote one of them to convene the meeting of the Board of Directors.

T'he Chairman of the Board of Directors must convene regular meetings of the Board of
Directors, and must prepare the agenda, time and venue of a meeting within at least five
(03) days before the proposed date of such meeting. The Chairman may convene a meeting
at any time considered necessary, but there must be at least one (01) meeting every quarter.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board of Directors must convene a meeting of the Board
of Directors which shall not be delayed without a legitimate reason. when any of the
following entilies makes a written request stating the purpose of the meeting and the
matters to be discussed:

(a) The Chief Executive Officer or at least three ((3) other Managers of an Enterprise;
(b) At least two (02) members of the Board of Directors;
(c) The Board of Supervisors or the independent member of the Board of Directors.

Meetings of the Board of Directors stipulated in Article 29.3 must be conducted within
seven (7) Business Days after the request for a meeting is made. If the Chairman of the
Board does not aceept to convene a meeting as requested, then the Chairman shall be liable
for any loss and damage caused to the Company; the person making the request as referred
to in Article 29.3 may himself/herself convene a meeting of the Board of Directors.

Where an independent auditor makes a request, the Chairman of the Board of Directors
shall convene a meeting of the Board of Directors in order to discuss the audit report and
the status of the Company.

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be conducted at the registered address of the
Company or at another address in Vietnam or abroad as decided by the Chairman and as
agreed by the Board of Directors.

The meeting invitations of the Board of Directors must be sent to the members of the Board
of Directors at least five (05) days before holding the meeting. The notice of the meeting
of the Board of Directors must be in writing and in Vietnamese as the primary language,
and must provide complete information about the agenda, time and venue of the meeting,
accompanied by necessary documents regarding the matters to be discussed and voted on
at the meeting of the Board of Directors and voting slips for the members of the Board of
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29.9

29.10

28,11

29.12

29.13

29.14

Directors who are unable to attend the meeting. The members not directly attending a
meeting have right to vote by sending a written vote.

The invitation shall be sent by post, fax, electronic mail or other guaranteed methods to
reach the address of each member of the Board of Directors as registered with the

Company.

The first meeting of the Board of Directors shall be permitted to implement resolutions if
at Jeast three quarters (3/4) of the members of the Board of Directors are present in person
or via their representatives (authorized representatives) or via remote votes.

In the event the number of attending members is insufficient as stipulated, the meeting
must be re-convened within seven (7) days from the proposed date of the first meeting.
The re-convened meeting shall be conducted if more than half of the members of the Board
of Directors attend.

Voting

(a) Except for the case provided in Article 29.11 (b), each member of the Board of
Directors or authorized representative who is present in his or her capacity as an
individual at a meeting of the Board of Directors shall have one (01) vote,

(k) A member of the Board of Directors shall not be permitted to vote on any contract,
transaction or proposal in which such member or any Related Person of such
member has an interest. A member of the Board of Directors shall not be included
in the quorum required to be present to hold a meeting of the Board of Directors
regarding resolutions on which such member does not have the right to vote.

Any member of the Board of Directors who directly or indirectly benefits from a contract
or transaction signed or intended to be signed with the Company and is aware that he/she
has an interest in such contract or transaction is responsible to disclose the nature and
content of such interest at the meeting where the Board of Directors considers the signing
of such contract or transaction for the first time, Where a member of the Board of Directors
is not aware that such member and his/her Related Person has an interest at the time a
contract or transaction is signed with the Company, such member must publicly announce
his/her related interests at the first meeting of the Board of Directors to be held after such
member becomes aware that he/she has or will have an interest in the relevant contract or
transaction.

The Board of Directors shall pass decisions and issue resolutions on the basis of the
consent of the majority of members of the Board of Directors present (more than fifty
percent (50%)). Where the number of votes for and against is equal, then the vote of the
Chairman of the Board of Dirgctors shall be the casting vote.

A meeting of the Board of Directors may be held by way of a video conference or
teleconference call between the members of the Board of Directors when all or a number
of members are at different places, provided that each attending member is able to:

(a) Hear each other member of the Board of Directors expressing their opinions in the
meeting; and
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{b}) Speak to all other attending members.

The venue of the meeting to be held in accordance with this provision shall be the venue
where the group having the largest number of members of the Board of Directors gathers,
or shall be the venue where the Chairman of the meeting is present if there is no such a

group.

Resolutions to be passed al a meeting via one of the above means which is duly held and
conducted shall immediately take effect after the closing of the meeting, but must be
confirmed by the signatures of all attending members of the Board of Directors in the
minutes.

29.15 A resolution by way of collection of written opinions shall be approved on the basis of the
consent of the majority of members of the Board of Directors who have voting rights, as
evidenced by their signatures on the written resolution. Such resolution shall have the same
effect and validity as a resolution passed by the members of the Board of Directors at a
meeting which is convened and held in accordance with the normal practice,

29.16  The Chairman of the Board of Directors is responsible to deliver the minutes of a meeting
of the Board of Directors to the members. The minutes of the meeting of the Board of
Directors must be prepared in Vietnamese as prevailing language and must bear the
signatures of all attending members of the Board of Directors or the minutes shall be made
into multiple copies and each copy shall bear the signature of at least one (01) attending
member of the Board of Directors.

29.17 The Board of Directors may establish and authorize commitiees. When any of commiittees
is composed in the future, a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders holding over ten
percent (10%) of the total ordinary Shares within at least six {(16) consecutive months shall
have the right to appoint one member in each of these committees.

VIIl.  THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OTHER MANAGERS OF AN
ENTERPRISE

Article 30.  Organization of managerial administration

The managerial system of the Company must ensure that the management team is liable to the
Board of Directors and is under the leadership of the Board of Directors. The Company shall have
one Chief Executive Officer, Vice Presidents, one Chiel Accountant and other positions appointed
by the Board of Directors.

Article 31.  Appointment, removal, duties and powers of the Chief Executive Officer

31.1  The Board of Directors shall appoint or remove the Chief Executive Officer, and shall
enter into a contract which specifies salary, remuneration, interests and other related terms,

31.2  The Chief Executive Officer has the following rights and responsibilities:

{a) To implement resolutions of the Board of Directors and of the General Meeting of
Sharcholders, business plans and investment plans of the Company approved by
the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of Sharcholders:
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315

(b)  Tomake decisions on all matters which do not require a resolution of the Board of
Directors including the signing of financial and commercial contracts on behalf of
the Company, and on the organization and operation of day-to-day business and
production activities of the Company in accordance with the best management
practices;

(c) To appoint, remove and dismiss personnel in the Company; to make decisions on
the number of employees, wage rate, allowances, benefits, appointment, dismissal
and other term relating to their employment contracts,

(d) To recruit employees; to make decisions on salary, allowances and bonus (if any)
for employees of the Company;

(e) The Chief Executive Officer shall annually submit a business and budget plan;
(f) To propose measures to improve the operation and management of the Company:

(g)  To organize the implementation of the business plans and the investment plans of
the Company;

(hy  Tomake recommendations on methods of paying dividend and of handling loss in
business; and

(i) To carry out other activities in accordance with this Charter, the corporate
governance, resolutions of the Board of Directors, the employment contract of the
Chief Executive Officer and the applicable laws.

(i) To decide on the organization, adjustment, or restructuring of the Company’s
departmental management structure, including the establishment, dissolution, and
personnel adjustments of such departments.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to the Board of Directors and the General
Meeting of Shareholders for implementation of assigned duties and rights, and shall report
to such authorities if so required.

The Chief Executive Officer shall appoint one or more individuals to serve as Deputy
General Director to assist in the management and operation of one or more areas of the
Company’s business activities. The Vice Presidents shall be accountable to the Chief
Executive Officer and in accordance with the law for the fulfilment of the duties assigned
to them by the Chiel Executive Officer.

The Chief Executive Director and the Vice Presidents shall be collectively referred to as
the Board of Management.

In the event that the position of Chief Executive Officer becomes vacant for any reason
related to management, the Board of Directors shall appoint one of its members or one
member of the Board of Management to tempaorarily assume the powers, duties, and
responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer as set forth in this Charter. Such
appointment shall remain in effect until a new Chief Executive Officer is duly appointed
by the Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions of this Charter.
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IX.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Article 32.  Members of Board of Supervisors

ad
!‘\-J

32.2

324

32.6

The number of members of the Board of Supervisors of the Company shall be three (03)
people. The members of the Board of Supervisors shall not work in the accounting and
finance department of the Company and shall not be members or employees of the
Auditing Firm which currently audits the Financial Statements of the Company. The Board
of Supervisors must have more than half of its members must permanently reside in
Vietnam,

Members of the Board of Supervisors need not be a Shareholder or the emplovee of the
Company and have criteria and conditions as follows:

(a) Being at least of twenty-one (21) years of age, having full civil act capacity and
not being prohibited from establishing and managing an enterprise as provided by
Law on Enterprises;

(b)  Not being wives or husbands. fathers, adoptive fathers, mothers, adoptive mothers,
children, adopted children. and blood siblings of any member of the Board of
Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise of the
Company: and

(c) Not acting as Managers of an Enterprise of the Company.

The Board of Supervisors shall appoint one (01) member to act as the Head, The Head of
the Board of Supervisors has the following rights and responsibilities:

(a) To convene meetings of the Board of Supervisors:

(b)  Torequest the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and other Managers
of an Enterprise to provide relevant information in order to report to the Board of
Supervisors; and

(c) To prepare and sign reports of the Board of Supervisors afler consulting the Board
of Directors, and to submit the same to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

A Shareholder or a group of Shareholders halding ten percent (10%) or more of the total
ordinary Shares shall have the right to nominate candidates to the Board of Supervisors.

Where the number of candidates for the Board of Supervisors by way of nomination and
self-nomination is still insufficient as required, the incumbent Board of Supervisors may
nominate additional candidates or hold a nomination.

As permitted by Article 148.3 of the Law on Enterprises, members of the Board of
Supervisors shall be elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders by way of non-
cumulative voting, and subject to the voting threshold set forth in Articles 22.2 and 22.3
of this Charter. At each General Meeting of Shareholders at which members of the Board
of Supervisors will be elected, every Shareholder entitled to vote at such meeting shall
have the right to vote the number of Shares owned by such Shareholder for as many
candidates as there are members of the Board of Supervisors to be elected. A Shareholder
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may not allocate all of their votes to a single candidate and must vote for as many discrete
candidates as there are members of the Board of Supervisors to be elected. The term of
office of the Board of Supervisors is five (05) years, the office term of each individual
member of the Board of Supervisors shall not exceed five (05) years; members of the
Board of Supervisors may be re-appointed for unlimited times. In the evenl a member is
elected to the Board of Supervisors (irrespective of being elected as a supplement or a
replacement) in the middle of the term. the term of that new member shall be the remaining
period of the term of the Board of Supervisors.

327 The status as a member of the Board of Supervisors shall be terminated in the following
cases:

(a) Such member is prohibited from being a member of the Board of Supervisorsby
laws;

(b) Such member sends a written resignation to the head office of the Company;
(c) Such member is incapable for civil acts:

() Such member is absent and does not attend the meetings of the Board of
Supervisorsfor six (06) consecutive months without approval of the Board of

Supervisors;

(e) Such member is dismissed from the position of the member of the Board of
Supervisors by a decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 33.  Board of Supervisors

33.1  The Board of Supervisors has the following rights and responsibilities:

(a) To supervise the Board of Directors and the Chief’ Executive Officer in the
management and administration of the Company; be responsible to the General
Meeting of Shareholders for the performance of its assigned duties;

(b) To inspect the lawfulness, legality, truthfulness and prudence in the management
and administration of business activities and in the organization of statistics and
accounting work and the preparation of Financial Statements;

{c) To evaluate reports on business activities, annual F inancial Statements and reports
on evaluation of the management of the Board of Directors;

(d) To submit reports on evaluation of the Financial Statements, and reports on annual
business activities of the Company, and to submit reports on evaluation of the
management of the Board of Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders at
its annual meeting;

(e) To review accounting books and other documents of the Company, and the
management and administration activities of the Company at any time it deems
necessary or pursuani to a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders, or as
required by a Shareholder or group of Shareholders holding five percent (05) or
more of the total number of ordinary Shares of the Company. The investigation of
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the Board of Supervisorsmay not distupt the normal activities of the Board of
Directors and shall not interrupt the administration of the day-to-day business
operation of the Company:

(f) To recommend the changes and improvements of the organizational structure,
management and administration of the business operation of the Company to the
Board of Directors or the General Meeting of Shareholders:

(g) Upon discovering that a member of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive
Officer is in breach of the obligations as a Manager of the Company stipulated in
applicable laws and this Charter, to promptly give notification in writing to the
Board of Directors and request the offender to cease the breach and remedy any
consequence; and

(h)  Toexercise other rights and duties as stipulated by applicable laws and resolutions
of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Lsd
Laat
[ ]

Members of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and other Managers of an
Enterprise shall provide all information and documents relating to the operations of the
Company at the request of the Board of Supervisors.

The remuneration of the members of the Board of Supervisors shall be decided by the
Gieneral Meeting of Shareholders,

Ll
o
tad

X. DUTIES OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MEMBERS
OFBOARD OF SUPERVISORS, THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OTHER
MANAGERS OF AN ENTERPRISE

Article 34, Responsibility to be prudent

Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief Executive
Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise are responsible to perform their duties including
duties in the capacity as a member of a sub-committee of the Board of Directors. if any, in an
honest manner for the best interests of the Company and with the degree of prudence which a
prudent person shall have in order to fulfil his respective positions under similar circumstances.

Article 35.  Responsibility to be honest and to avoid conflicts of inferes(

35.1  Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief
Executive Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise are not permitted to use business
opportunities profitable to the Company for personal purposes; and are concurrently not
permitted to use information obtained by virtue of their positions for their personal
interests or for the interests of other organizations or individuals.

352 Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief
Executive Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise are obliged to notify the Board of
Directors of any interest which may conflict with the interests of the Company and which
they may be entitled to via other economic legal entities, transactions or individuals.

353  The Company shall not provide any loan or guarantee to any member of the Board of
Directors, any member of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief’ Executive Officer, other
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Managers of an Enterprise and their Related Persons or legal entities in which the above-
mentioned persons have financial interests, except where such loan or guarantee has been
approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

354 A contract or transaction between the Company and one or more members of the Board of
Directors or of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief Executive Officer, other Managers of
an Enterprise or their Related Persons, or a company, partner, association or organization
of which a member of the Board of Directors or of the Board of Supervisorsor other
Managers of an Enterprise or their Related Persons are members or are involved in terms
of financial interests shall be valid in the following cases:

(a) With respect to a contract with a value of less than thirty-five percent (35%) of the
total assets recorded in the most recent Financial Statements, the important factors
regarding the contract or transaction as well as relations and interests of a Managers
of an Enterprise or member of the Board of Directors have been reported to the
Board of Directors. At the same time, the Board of Directors permitted to
implement such contract or transaction honestly by majority of votes for of
members of the Board of Directors who do not have any related interest,

(b) With respect to a contract with a value of thirty-five percent (35%) or more of the
total assets recorded in the most recent Financial Statements, the important factors
regarding the contract or transaction as well as relations and interests of a Manager
of an Enterprise or member of the Board of Directors have been disclosed fo the
General Sharehalders who do not have any related interest and have the voting
right with respect to such matter, and such General Sharcholders have voted in
favour of such contract or transaction;

(c) Such contract or transaction is considered as fair and reasonable by an independent
consultancy organization and in any respect relating to the Shareholders of the
Company at the time such transaction or contract is permitted to be executed by
the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors or the
Sharcholders,

Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief Executive
Officer, other Manapers of an Enterprise and their Related Persons shall not use information of
the Company which has not yet been permitted to be disclosed, or shall not disclose information
to others in order to implement related transactions.

Article 36. Responsibilities for loss and compensation

16,1 Members of the Board of Directors, members of the Board of Supervisors. the Chief
Executive Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise who breach their obligations and
responsibilities for honesty and prudence or fail to fulfil their obligations with due
diligence and professional capability shall be responsible for any loss and damage caused
by their breach.

36.2  The Company shall pay compensation to any person who has been. is or is likely to become
a related party in a claim, suit or legal proceeding (including civil and administrative cases
other than those initiated by the Company) if such person was or is a member of the Board
of Directors, Manager of an Enterprise, an employee or a representative authorized by the
Company, provided that such person acted honestly, prudently and diligently in the best
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interests or not against the best interests of the Company on the basis of compliance with
law and that there is no evidence that such person committed a breach of his/her
responsibilities.

36.3  The expenses for compensation shall be comprised of expenses arising (including legal
fees). judgement expenses, fines and payables actually arising or deemed reasonable when
dealing with such cases within the framework permitted by law. The Company may
purchase insurance for such persons in order to cover for the above risks.

XL RIGHT TO INVESTIGATE BOOKS AND RECORDS OF COMPANY

Article 37.  Right to investigate books and records

37.1 A Shareholder or group of Shareholders holding five percent (05%) or more of the total
ordinary Shares, in person or via an authorized representative, may send a written request
to inspect the list of Shareholders and meeting minutes of the General Meeting of
Shareholders and to copy or extract such records during business houts at the office of the
Company. A request for inspection made by the authorized representative of a Shareholder
must be accompanied by a power of attorney of the Shareholder represented by such
person or a notarized copy of such power of attorney.

372  Members of the Board of Directors. members of the Board of Supervisors, the Chief
Executive Officer and other Managers of an Enterprise have the right to inspect the
Register book of Shareholders of the Company, the list of Shareholders and other books
and records of the Company for the purposes relating to their positions, provided that such
information must be kept confidential,

37.3  The Company shall file this Charter, its amendments, the Enterprise Registration
Certificate, any rules. documents proving ownership of assets. resolutions of the General
Meeting of Sharcholders and of the Board of Directors, meeting minutes of the General
Meeting of Sharcholders and of the Board of Directors, reports of the Board of Directors.
reports of the Board of Supervisors, annual Financial Statements, acconnting books and
any other documents in accordance with law at the head office or business locations.

XII. PROFIT DISTRIBUTION

Article 38, Profit distribution

38.1  The General Meeting of Shareholders shall decide the rate of dividends to be paid and the
method of annual dividend payment from profits of the Company, or not paying the
dividends and using for other purposes.

38.2  Inaccordance with the Law on Enterprises, the Board of Directors may decide to advance
mid-term dividends if it is considered that such payment aligns with profitability of the
Company.

38.3  The Company shall not pay interest on payments of dividends or on payments relating to
any class of Shares,
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384 The Board of Directors may request the General Meeting of Sharcholders to approve
payment of dividends in whole or in part by Shares.

38.5 Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Board of Directors shall
approve a resolution determining a specific date to close the list of Shareholders. Based on
such date, any person who has registered as a Shareholder or owner of other securities
shall be entitled to receipt of dividends, Share Certificates, notices or other documents.

38.6  Other matters relating to profit distribution shall be implemented in accordance with laws.

XIII. BANK ACCOUNTS, RESERVES, FISCIAL YEAR AND ACCOUNTING
SYSTEM

Article 39.  Bank accounts, Reserves

39.1  The Company shall open bank accounts at Vietnamese banks or foreign banks permitted
fo operate in Vietnam.

39.2  In necessary cases, the Company may open an offshore bank account in accordance with
laws.

393  After tax and other financial obligations have been fulfilled, and other due property
obligations have been paid off, the Company shall appropriate funds in accordance with
laws and the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article 40.  Fiseal Year

The Fiscal Year of the Company shall commence from the | January and shall end on 31
December each year.

Article 41.  Accounting standards

41.1 The accounting standards used by the Company shall be Vietnamese Accounting (VAS)
or other accounting standards approved by the Ministry of Finance.

41,2 The Company shall prepare accounting books in Vietnamese. The Company shall file the
accounting records in aceordance with the form of business activities conducted by the
Company. Such records shall be accurate, updated, systematic and sufficient to prove and
explain the transactions of the Company.

41.3  The Company shall use Vietnam Dong (or freely convertible foreign currency if approved
by the competent state body) as the currency in accounting.

XIV. ANNUAL REPORTS, RESPONSIBILITIES FOR DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION AND PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT

Article 42,  Financial Statements

42.1  The Company must prepare annual Financial Statements in accordance with law and the
regulations of the State Securities Commission and such statements must be audited.
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Within ninety (90) days from the end of each Fiscal Year, the Company must submit the
annual Financial Statements to the competent tax office, the State Securities Commission,
the business registration body and other authorities as required under applicable law.

422 Annual Financial Statements must contain a report on the resulls of business activities
which reflects the profit and loss of the Company in a Fiscal Year in a true and fair manner,
a balance sheet which reflects truthfully and fairly the operational situation of the
Company as at the time of preparing the statements, a cash flow report and explanatory
notes to the Financial Statements.

423 Audited Financial Statements (including the auditor's opinions) of the Company shall be
made publi¢ in accordance with applicable law.

Article 43.  Annual reports

The Company must prepare and make public its annual reports in accordance with the Law on
Securities.

XV. AUDITING THE COMPANY

Article 44,  Auditing

44.1  The annual General Meeting of Shareholders shall appoint an Auditing Firm or shall
approve the list of independent auditing companies and authorize the Board of Directors
to decide to select one of such companies to conduct the audit of the Company for the next
Fiscal Year on the basis of the terms and conditions as agreed with the Board of Directors.
The Company must prepare and send the annual Financial Statements to the Auditing Firm
after the end of a Fiscal Year.

44.2  The Auditing Firm shall inspect, certify and make a report on the annual Financial
Statements which reflects the income and expenditure of the Company, and shall prepare
an audit report and submit the same to the Board of Directors within three (03) months
from the end of a Fiscal Year,

XVI. SEAL

Article 45, Seal

45.1  The seal must be engraved in accordance with laws.

45.2  The Company shall use and manage the seal in accordance with the applicable laws.
XVIL. TERMINATION OF OPERATION AND LIQUIDATION

Article 46:  Division, separation, merger, consolidation, conversion of the Company

The Company shall implement the procedure of its division, separation. merger, consolidation,
conversion in accordance with applicable laws.

Article 47, Termination of operation
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The Company may be dissolved or terminated in the following cases:

(a) The Company is announced bankruptey by a competent Court in accordance with
applicable laws; or

(b)  The Company is early dissolved as decided by the General Meeting of
Shareholders; or

(e) Other cases as stipulated by laws.

Article 48.  Liquidation

48.1 At least six (06) months prior to expiry of the Duration of Operation of the Company, the
Board of Directors shall establish a liquidation committee consisting of three (03)
members, in which two (02) members shall be appointed by the General Meeting of
Shareholdets and one (01) member shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from an
independent auditing company.

48.2 The liquidation committee is responsible to report its date of establishment and date of
commencement of operation to the business registration body. From such point of time,
the liquidation committee shall represent the Company in all work relating to the
liquidation towards a Court and administrative bodies.

483 Proceeds from the liguidation shall be disbursed in the following order:

(a) Expenses for liquidation:

(b) Wages and insurance costs for employees.
(c) Taxes and other items payable to the State;
(d) Loans (if any):

(e) Other debts of the Company,

Residual upon payment of the debts stated in (a) to (e) above shall be distributed to Shareholders.

The payment of preference Shares, if any, shall be given priority.

XVIII. INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Article 49,  Internal dispute resolution

49.1 Where a dispute or a claim relating to the operation of the Company or to the rights and
obligations of Shareholders stated in the Charter of the Company, the Law on Enterprises,
other laws or administrative regulations between:

{(a) A Shareholder and the Company; or
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(b) A Shareholder and the Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors, the Chief
Executive Officer or the Senior Managers of an Enterprise.

The relevant parties shall attempt to resolve such dispute by way of negotiation and
mediation. Except where such dispute involves the Board of Directors or the Chairman of
the Board of Directors, the Chairman shall preside over resolution of the dispute and shall
require each party to present the real factors relating to the dispute within thirty (30)
Business Days from the date of the dispute arising. If the dispute involves the Board of
Directors or the Chairman of the Board of Directors. any party may require the Board of
Directors to appoint an independent expert to act as an Arbitrator during the course of
dispute resolution.

49.2  Ifa decision on reconciliation is not made within six (06) weeks from the beginning of
the mediation process or if the decision of the intermediary is not accepted by the parties,
then any party may refer such dispute to arbitration for final settlement.

49.3  The parties shall bear their own costs relating to procedures for negotiation and niediation,
The payment of court expenses shall be made in accordance with the award by the Court,

XIX. AMENDMENT TO THIS CHARTER
Article 50, Amendment to the Charter

0.1 Any supplement, amendment to this Charter must be considered and decided by the
General Meeting of Shareholders.

50.2  Where any provision of law relating to the operation of the Company has not been
mentioned in this Charter or where any new provision of law is different from the terms
of this Charter, such provision of law shall automatically apply, and shall gavern the
operation of the Company.

XX. VALIDITY
Artiele 51, Validity

The Amended Charter comprises twenty (20) Chapters and fifty-one (51) Articles that
adjusts and replaces the old Charter passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders of
VNG Group JSC on 30 June 2016, as amended on 24 May 2018, 23 July 2018 and 24 June
2022. This Amended Charter was passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders of VNG
Group on June 2025,

The issues relating to the rights of shareholders from time to time which are not stated in
this Amended Charter shall be governed by the then-effective agreements between the
Company and the shareholders and/or among the shareholders (“Specific Agreements’™),

In the event of any discrepancy between the provisions of this Amended Charter and the
Specific Agreements. the relevant provisions of the Specific Agreements shall prevail.
Provided that such provisions of the Specific Agreements still remain effective. the
Company shall resolve the aforementioned issues in accordance with the Specific
Agreements,
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This Amended Charter is made in four (04) copies (in the English and Vietnamese
languages), each with the same validity. of which:

(a)

(b)

Two (02) copies shall be registered with the business registration body and the
State Securities Committee: and

Two (02) copies shall be kept at the office of the Company.

Copies or extracts of the Charter of the Company shall be valid when they bear the
signature of:

(a)
(b)
(©
(d)

The Chairman of the Board of Directors; or

At least two (02) members of the Board of Directors; or

The legal representative; or

The authorized representative of the legal representative.
VNG GROUP JSC

LEGAL REFRESENTATIVE
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

LE HONG MINH
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APPENDIX 1

According to the initial Enterprise Registration Certificate of VNG initially issued on 9/9/2004

No Name of the Nationality Permanent address Number
Founder
of Share
i s 260 [ ien P 'd 4, Distri
| LE HONG MINH Vietnamese ien Bien Phu, Ward 4. District 3 262.500
: T -
2 | CAO TOAN MY Vietnamese 4?16!._34}\ 1/6 Au Co, Ward 10, Tan Binh 45000
District
Vietnamese |5B Dinh Bo Linh, Ward 5. Binh Thanh Districl
3 | TRINH BAO 75.000
4 | NGUYEN Vietnamese 11918 Doan Hoang Vinh, Ward 5, Ben Tre 5t
THANH BINH Town, Ben Tre province ’
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| By (™ | ANNUAL
1|y cEneraL
B | e | MEETING

Sé/No.: 14/2025/TTr-VNG
Mgay 30 thdng 5 nam 2025
30™ May 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HOI BONG CO DONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Vi Thng qua vige st ddi Tén Cong Ty

PROPOSAL
T 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
Re: Appraving the amendment of the Company's Name

Kinh gii: Quy €6 déng Céng Ty C4 Phiin VNG (“Céng Ty"),
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company”),

Cain cir djnh réng phét trién va chién luge kinh doanh cita Céng Ty trong giai dogn saﬁp tai, Hai
Déng Quén Trj ("HDQT") kinh trinh Dai 116 Déng Cé Dang (“DHDCD™) xem xét vit thong qua
viée sia @i Tén Cong Ty nhu sau:

To align with the Company's business development strategy and plans for the wpcoming period,
the Board of Directors (“BOD") hereby respecifilly submits the proposal to the General Meeting
of Shareholders (“"GMS") for consideration and approval of the proposed amendment 1o the
Company's Name as follows:

1. 'Tén Cong Ty hién tai
Current name of the Company:

e Tén tiéng Viet/Naue in Vietnamese: CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
- Tén tiéng Anh/Name in English: VNG CORPORATION
Tén viét tat/Abbreviated name: VNG CORP

CONG TY
cO PHAN

2. Teén dy kién sau khi sira ddi:
Proposed new name of the Company:

B Tén tiéng Viel/Name in Vietnamese: CONG TY CO PHAN TAP POAN VNG
- Tén titng Anb/Name in English: VNG GROUP JSC
- Tén viét tht/dbbreviated name: VNG GROUP

3. DHBCD iy quyén cho Ngudi dai dién phap lut ctia Céng Ty tién hanh cac cong viée, thi
tue can thiét dé trién khai néi dung di duge PHPCP chiip thufin bao gbm nhung khéng gioi
han & (i) ky toan b tai lidu lién quan dé tinh ndp ce quan dang ky kinh doanh vé (i) ban
hdnh ban Piéu Lé Sira D& vivholic Phy luc cp nhit Diéu Lé Stia P81 twong émg (néu edin).
The GMS hereby resolves to authorize the Company's Legal representalive lo wndertake all
necessary tasks and procedures to implement the content approved by the GMS, including
hut not limited to (i) executing all relevant documents for submission fo the business
registration authority and (i) signing and issuing the Amended Charier and/or the relevant
Annex to the Amended Charter (i necessary).

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEQPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD



ANNUAL
UN G &
MEETING

Trén trong,

Respeetfully yours,

TM. HOI BONG QUAN TR]
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEOPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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MEETING

Sé/No.: 13/2025/TTr -VNG
Ngay 30 thang 05 nam 2025
30" May, 2025

TO TRINH
PAI HOI PONG €O DPONG THUONG NIEN NAM 2025
Viv: Théng qua viéc ban hinh Quy ché ni b vé Qudin trj céng ty
PROPOSAL
TO 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING
Re.: Approving the issuance of the Internal corporate governance regulation

Kinh giti; Quy Cé déng Cong ty ¢b phin VNG (“Céng Ty”)
To: Shareholders of VNG Corporation (the “Company”)

Nhém tuan thi quy dinh tai Nghi Dinh 155/2020/NP-CP huéng din thi hinh Lut Chimg
Khoan va céc quy dinh khéc c6 lién quan eta Lugt Chimg Khoan, Hoi Pdng Quan Tri
(“HDQT?) kinh trinh Dai Hoi Dng Cd Déng (“DHDCD™) théng qua viéc ban hanh Quy ché
ndi bd vé Quén trj Céng Ty (“Quy Ché”) nhu chi tiét tai Dy thao dinh kém.

To ensure the compliance with the provisions of Decree No. 155/2020/ND-CP guiding the
implementation of the Law on Security and other relevant provisions of the Law on Security,
the Board of Directors (“BOD") would like to seek the General Meeting of Shareholders
(“GMS") approval for the Regulations of Internal corporate governance (the “Regulation”),
as detafled tn Drafi attached fo this Proposal.

Uy quyén thwe hién
Aunthorization

PHDCP ty quyén cho HPQT ciia Cong Ty:
The GMS authorizes to the BOD of the Company:

(i)  Ban hanh Quy Ché nay;
To issue this Regulation;

(i)  Thye hién cde cong vige, thit tuc cin thiét khac dé trién khai ndi dung dd dugc PHDCD
chép thuéin theo Tér trinh ndy.
To perform the necessary steps and procedures fo execute the matters which have been
approved by the GMS in accordance with this Proposal.

[Phén con lai clia trang nay duoc bo tréng, Phin chir ky & trang tiép theo]
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally / Signature page follows]
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Tréan trong,
Respectfully yours,

TM. HOI DONG QUAN TRI
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHU TICH/ CHAIRMAN
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QUY CHE NOI BO VE QUAN TRI CONG TY
INTERNAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REGULATION




CHUONG 1. QUY BINH CHUNG
CHARTER I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

Diéu 1.
Article

| 1%

Pham vi diéu chinh va ddi twyng 4p dyung
3 Scope and Subjects of Application

Pham vi diéu chinh: Quy Ché Nai B Vé Quan Tr| Cong Ty quy dinh cdc ndi dung vé vai o,
quyén va nghia vu ctia Dai hi dong b dbng, Hoi dong quan tri, Ban Tf‘mg Giam doc, Ban Kiém
Soat; trinh tw, thi tue hop Dai hoi dong cb dong; dé cir, (mg cir, biu, mién nhi¢m va bii nhigm
thanh vién HGi r]érng quan tri, Ban kiém sodt, Tong Gidm doe, Ban Téng Giam Doe va cde hoat
dong khac theo quy dinh tai Diéu 1 cong ty va cac quy dinh hién hanh khac cia phap ludt.

Scope: The Internal Corporate Governance Regulation regulate the roles, rights and obligations
of the General Meelting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors, the Board of Management, the
Board of Supervisors; the procedures for convening shareholder meetings; the nomination,
candidacy, election, removal and disimissal of members of the Board of Directors, The Board of
Supervisors, the CEQ, the Board of Management, and other activities as regulated in fire Company
Charter and relevant laws.

1.2,  Ddituong ap dung: Quy ché nay duoe dp dung cho cde thanh vién Hoi dong quan tri, Ban ki ém
sodt, Ban Tong Giam Doc va nhiing ngudi lién quan,
Subjecis of application: This Regulation applies to members of the Board of Directors, The Board
of Supervisors, the Board of Management, and related persons.
Biéu 2. Giii thich tir ngiv
Article 2, Definitions . .
21, Quy Ché Quy CE’}E I\i@l E':q Ve Quan Tri Cong Ty ndy vi cdc viin ban, ¢dp nhit
Rizrieletion thay the (neéu cd);
€ This nternal Corporate Governance Regulation and any replacement
documents (if any);
X 3 H :
22 Cong Ty g;;clggy Cojsl-Lén Tép Poan VNG;
Company s
Pai hii dong eb déng Cong Ty,
&y EELECB The General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company;
2.4,  DBHDCD thuong nién Cshop DHECR lh‘uo‘ng itk ;_ g
ACGM Annual General Meeting of Shareholders,
2 Cude Hop PHBCD biit thuéng;
D t ¥ ’
3 Egﬁi}(?f) G Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders;
26. HDQT Hbi Bon g Quin '}‘1‘1, Oj.’:ng Ty; _
ROD The Board of Directors of the Company;
27 TGD Tdng Giam Béc Cang Ty:
Y cmO The Chief Executive Officer of the Company;
sl s
BOM : anagemen
29, BKS Ban Kiém Soat Cong Ty
BOS The Board af Supervisors of the Company
« L - - 5 = 5 A 5
210, DiduLé Bieu Lé Cong Ty va cac ban cdp nht, thay thé (néu cd)



4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

A Shareholder or Proxy ta attend the meeting can regisier their aitendance af the GMS of the
Company prior to the opening date of the meeting (provided that this registration is made
within the time init as specified in the invitations (o the GMS) by sending an email lo the

Company.

(b) Trudmg hop Cé Dang khéng ding ky tham dy hop lrude ngay khai mac, Co Pong vin co thé
dang kv tham dy trye tiép tai BPHDCD.

In ease Shareholders do not regisier to aftend the meeting before the epening date,
Sharehalders can directly register at the vene of the meeting.

{¢) Trude khi khai mac BHPCD, Ban té chirc phai tién thanh thi tue dang ky ch Bfmg Ban td
chire s& phin cdng thye hign kidm tra tu cach Cb Péng (“Ban kiém tra tw cach cb déng”). Ch
Déng hoac Ngudi Pugic Uy Quyen Du Hop tham du cude hop Dai hdi ding cb déng lam thi
tuc dang ky (check-in) véi Ban kigm tra tu cdch ¢o dong trude khi vao tham dur dai hoi va xac
nhén vao danh séch cd ddng tham dur d4 dioe soan sin. Ban kiém tra tw cdch ¢6 déng quyét
dinh thi tye dang k¥ va xdc nhin tham du phi hop véi hinh thite td chirc cube hop PHDCD
fuong (ng.

Before the opening of the GMS, the Organizing Conunitiee shall conducet the registration of the
Shareholder attending the meeting until completion of registration for all Shareholders who
present af the meeting. The Organizing Commitfee will assign one ar more people fo check the
Shareholders’ eligibility to aftend the meeting (“Committee of Checking Shareholders’
Eligibility”). A Shareholder or Proxy shall register at the regisiration desk before affending
the meeting and sign for confirmation on the list of attending shareholders prepared by the
Organizing Committee. The Committee of Checking Shareholders' Eligibility shall decide
proper participation registering procecdres and confirmation to respective format of GMS.

(d) Cb Déng hodic Ngr_rm Bum: Uy Quyén Dir Hop dén sau khi cude hop dd khai mac van duoc
diing ky tham dy va co quyen blEll quyét ngay sau khi dang ky. Truomg hgp nay, higu lyc cta
nhiing néi dung da duge bidu quyét tnrde do khing thay doi,

Shareholders or Proxies who arrive after the opening of the meeting shall still be registered
and have the right io participate in voting immediately after registration. In such case, the
effectiveness of any items which was previously vored on shall not be affected.

Diéu kign tién hinh hop DPHBCD: dugce thye hién theo quy dinh Diédu 20 Diéu Lé;
Conditions for Conducting the meeting of GMS: in accordance with Article 20 of the Charter.

Thé thite hop va biéu quyét tai PHPCB: duge thue hién theo quy dinh tai Diéu 21 Diéu L§;
Forms of Meeting and Voting at the meeting of GMS: in accordance with Article 21 of the Charter.

Cich thire bo phidu:
Voting Methods:

Cd Péng co thé lya chon cac cach thic sau d& bo phiéu:
Shareholders may choose one of the following voting methods;
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4.10.

4.11.

4.12.

Far online GMS meetings: Shareholders shall vote on the online system as guided in Clause
4.7 of this Article. The Vote Counting Commiitee is responsible for supervising the vote
counting results extracted from the system,

(d) Bdi vai hop PHBCP két hgp: ap dung két hop (b) v (¢ );
For the hvbrid GMS meetings: a combination of (b) and (c) shall apply;

(e) Két qua kiém phiéu s& duge cong bb ngay trong budi hop.
The results of the vote count will be announced at the meeting.

Diéu kién 48 nghj quyét duge thong qua: duge thye hién theo didu 22 Diéu L,
Conditions for the vesolution to be passed: comply with Article 22 of the Charter;

Yéu céu huy bo quyét dinh cia BPHDCD: duge thyc hién theo Diéu 25 Dicu L&
Request ta caneel the decision of the GMS: in accordance with Article 25 of the Charier;

Vige lp bién ban hop PHDCD, cong b6 nghi Quyét PHECD: thue hién theo quy dinh Diéu 24
Bieu Lé.

The preparation of the minwtes of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the annowncement of

the Resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders shall comply with Article 24 of the Charter.

CHUONG TIL HQ1 DPONG QUAN TRI
CHARTER III. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Diéu 5. Thanh vién HDQT

Article 5. Menther of the BOD

5.1.  Nhiém ki va s lugng thanh vién HDQT: thye hién theo quy dinh Diéu 26 biéu Lé;
Office term and mmber of members of the BOD: comply with Article 26 of the Charter,

5.2, Tiéu chuan va diéu ki¢n cua thanh vién HDOT: thue hign theo quy dinh tai Ludt Doanh Nghiép;
Qualifications and conditions of nmembers of the BOD: comply with the Emterprise Law,

5.3. Vige dé ct, tng cir, gioi thiéu thanh viéen HPQT duge thie hién nhur saw:

The nontination, candidacy and introduction of members of the BOD shall be carried out as
Jollows:

(a) C6 dong hodic nhom cb dong ndm gif tir 10% (mudi phin tram) ¢d phin phd thong trong thoi
han lién tuc it nhét sdu (6) thing cé quyén dé d& cir cac (mg et vien HBQT/BKS. S0 lueng 1
i vién ma mbi nhém ¢6 quyén dé et phu thude vio sb lwong (mg cit vién do PHPCP quyét
dinh;
Shareholders or groups of shareholders holding 10% (ten percent) of ordinary shares for a
continwous period of at least six (6) months have the right o nominate candidates for the
BOD/BOS. The number of candidates that each group has the vight to nominate depends on
the number of candidates decided by the GMS,

(b) Trutmg hop s& lugng céc (mg cir vién HDQT vi BKS théng qua d& cir va fmg cir van khong
di b luong cdn thiét, HDQT va BKS duong nhiém ¢6 quyén dé cir thém (mg ctt vién hodc to
chire dé cit:

fa i



Thuc hlEI‘l theo phuong thiic bﬁu kllﬁng ddn phiéu: theo dd mbi eb dong co t::rng 50 ]JhIEL]
biéu quyét [uong {g v thng s6 ¢d phan .scr hitu va ¢6 dong khéng co quyén dén hét tng
56 phiéu biu ctia minh cho mot hodic mot s g cir vién;

Implemented by the method of non-cumndative vating: whereby each shareholder has a
total number of votes corvesponding 1o the total number of shares owned and shaveholders
do not have the righi to put all their tatal votes to one or several candidates;

CH Dang ghi s6 phiéu biu cho cic g clr vién ma minh lua chon trong danh séch dé cir
vi fing il

Shareholders write the number of votes for the candidates they choose in the list of
naminations and candidates,

C& Pong béu cho (mg vién ndo thi viét sb phiéu mudn biu cho (ng vién dé vao cdt “Sd
phigu bau™;

Shareholders who vote for any candidate shall write the number of votes they want to vote
Sor that candidate in the colwmn "Number of votes";

Néu C6 Dong khong cé v kién gi vé viée biu cir thi dénh diu vao cbt “Khong cd  kién™;
If the shareholders have no opinion on the election, tick the column "No opinion";

Phiéu béu duge xem la hgp 1& khi;
A vote iy considered valid when:

(i) Sir dung phiéu bau dién tir do Ban T6 Chire clia Cong Ty gl tdi dia chi thu dién tlr
ciia ch dbng tir hé Ihr"jng cia Cong Ty;
Uksing the electronic slip sent by the Ovganizing Committee of the Company fo the
email adedress of the sharveholders from the Company's system,

(i) Phiéu biu phai nguyén ven va khong thé bi chinh stra (d6i véi phicu biu dign tir); va
The ballor must be intact and cannot be edited (for electronic slips); and

(iii) Ghi 16 s6 phigu biu cho timg Gng ctk vién. Tung s& phiéu béu cho cdc (mg cir vién clia
mét Cé Déng khéng vuot quéa tong sb phidu bau duge phép cia Cd Pong do;
Specify the number of votes for each candidate. The total number of voles cast for a
Shareholder's candidates shall not exceed the total number of votes allowed by that
Shareholder;

(¢) Nguyén tac lua chon (g vién tring cir:
Principles for selection of swccessful candidates:

Ngudi triing el thanh vién HDQT va BKS 13 ngudi c6 sb p]ué‘u bfu Iy tir cao xuﬁng thép
cho dén khi di s6 thanh vién HE]QT v BKS va dam bao sb phiéu 16n hon hodie bing 65%
56 phiéu biu ¢6 quyén bidu quyét,

The persons elected as members of the BOD and the BOS are those who receive the highest
mumber of voles in descending order wntil the required number of members is reached,
provided that each receives at least 65% of the total valid votes cast.

-\
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7.3.

HDOT b nhiém it nht 01 ngudi phu trach quan trj Céng Ty dé hd try cong tac quin trj 1gi doanh
nghiép. Ngudi phu trdeh quan trf Cong Ty ed thé kigm thu ky theo quy dinh cia Ludt Doanh
Nghiép. S6 lwong ngudi phy trach quan tri do HBQT quyét dinh:

The BOD appoints at least 11 corporate governance afficer to support the governance ai the
Company. The corporate governance officer may concurrently act as a secretary in accordance
with the provisions of the Enterprises Law. The number of corporate governance officers is decided
by the BOD;

Nguisi phy tréch quan trj Céng Ty khéng duoe déng thii lam vige cho t6 chite kiém toan dugre chép
thuén dang thue hién kidm todn cdc bdo cdo tai chinh ctia Cong Ty;

The carporate governance officer must not concwrently work for an audit agency that is approved
to audit the Company's financial siatenents;

Ngudi phu trach quan tri Céng Ty cb quyén va nghia vu sau:
The corporate governance officer has the following rights and obligations:

(a) Tu vin HRQT trong viée t6 chirc hop PHPCD theo quy dinh va cdc cdng viée lién quan gitra
Céng Ty va Cb Dang;
Acvising the BOD on organizing the GMS in accordance with regulations and related affairs
between the Company and shareholders;

(b) Chudn bj cde cude hop HPQT, BKS va PHDCD theo yéu ciu ciia HPQT hogc BKS;
Preparing meetings af the BOD, BOS and GMS at the request of the BOD ar BOS;
(¢) Tu vén vé thir tyc cia cde cude hop;

Advising on the procedures af meelings;

{(d) Tham du cac culdc hop;
Attending meetings.

() Tur vén th tue 1dp ¢ic nghj quyét ciia HPQT phit hop voi quy dinh ciia phép ludt;
Advising on procedures for making resolutions of the BOD in accordance with the law;

(f) Cung cép ¢dc théng tin tai chinh, bién bin hop HPQT va cic thong tin khidc cho thanh vién
HBOT va thanh vién BKS;
Providing financial information, minutes of the BOD meeling and other information to
members of the BOD and members of the BOS;

(g) Gidm sat va bdo cdo HPQT vé hoat ddng cong bé thong tin cia Cong Ty;
Supervising and reporting to the BOD on the Company's information disclosure activities;

(h) La ddu mdi lién lac voi cac bén ¢6 quyén loi lién quan;
Acting as a point of contact with relevant interested pariies;

(i) Bao mét thong tin theo cdc quy dinh efia phap luat va Pidu Lé;
Confidentiality of information in accordance with the law and the Charter;

(j) Cde quyén va nghia vy khac theo quy dinh etia phép lut va Piéu Lé.
Other rights and obligations as preseribed by law and the Charter.
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10.3.

Diéu 11.

The Company has the Board of Management consisting of a CEQ, and the Vice-Presidents; a Chief
Acemmiant and other titles appointed by the BOD;

Téng Giam Pédc b thé b nhigm, bii nhifm, mién nhigm, ky két hop dmlg lan dgng vdi cie ngudi
qudn 1y khae theo quy d;nh tai Piéu Lé cong ty. Vige bd nhiém, mién nhigm phai duge cong b
théing tin theo quy dinh cia phép luat chimg khodn (néu c).
The CEQ may appoini, remove, dismiss and sign labor contracts with other managers in
aceardance with the company's Charter. The appointment and removal must be disclosed in
accordance with the provisions of the securities law (if any).

Thng Gidm Hbe

Article 11, Chief Executive Officer

11.1.

11.3.

Vai tré, trdch nhiém, quyén va nghia vy cta TGB: thyre hién theo quy dinh tai piéu 31 Didu L&
Roles, respomsibilities, vights and obligations of CEQ: comply with Article 31 of the Charter;

Nhiém kj, tiéu chudn va di¢u kién cta TGD:
Term of office, criteria and conditions of the CEQ:

(a) TGB co nhiém ky khéng qua 05 ndm va c6 thé bd nhiém lai véi sé nhigm ky khang han ché;
CEQ has an office term not exceeding (05 years and can be reappoinfed with an imlimited
number of terms,

(b) Tiéu chudn va didu kién cia TGD: dép (mg tigu chuin v& nguti quan 1y doanh nghiép theo quy
dinh Ludt Doanh Nghiép va phép luft chimg khodn. Ngoai ra, TGP phai dap tmg cde tiéu chudn
ma HDQT dé ra.

Criteria and conditions of the CEQ; meel the standards of business managers in accordance
with the Enterprises Law and the faw on securities. In addition, the CEQ must meel (he
standards set by the BOD.

Vige tmg cir, dé cit, bd nhiém, mién nhiém, bii nhiém, kv két/chdm dit hop ddng lao déng voi
TGB; tién luong va lgi ich khac cia TGD: thye hién theo quy dinh tai Diéu 31 Diéu Lé.

The candidacy, nomination, appointmeni, removal, dismissal, signing/termination of labor
contracis with CEQ; salary and other benefils of the CEQ: comply with Article 31 of the Charter.

Pitu 12. Pho Téng Gidm Bic
Article 12, Fice Presidents

12.1.

Céc Phé Téng Gidm Ddc e6 cde nhiém vy, qu}'én han sau:
The Vice Presidents have the following tasks and powers:

{a) Tham muru, giap viéc Chi tich HDQT, TG trong vige chi dao, diéu hanh hoat dgng cia Cong
tys
Advising and assisting the Chairman, the CEQ in directing and administering the Company's
aetivities!

{b) Thyc hién nhimg nhiém vu dwge HBQT, TGP giao phd,
Performing the tasks assigned by the BOD and the CEO;

11
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have an aititude of avoidance, stagnation or refusal to correct ervors and remedy violations afier
inspection and supervision of the BOS.

Diéu 14,  Phii hop gitta HDQT va Ban TGD
Article 14. Coordination between the BOD and the BOM

14.1.

14.2.

14.3.

14.4,

14.5,

Ban TGB chiu trach nhiém 156 chirc thyue hign cdc ngm quyei quyét dinh cua HPQT, Chu tich
HBQT. Trutng hop trong khi thuc hién nghi quyét, quyét dinh cua HPOQT, phat hién thd:r vin dé
khéng co lgi cho Cong ty thi TGD dai dien Ban TGD bdo cdo voi Chil Tich HE)QT dé diéu chinh
lai nghj quEt quyﬂt dinh d6. Néu HDQT khong di¢u chinh lai nghj qu}'ét quyét dinh thi Téng
Giam doc viin phai thye hién nhung ¢d quyén bao hwu ¥ kién va néu kién nghj tai PHBCD;

the BOM is responsible for organizing the implententation of resolutions and decisions af the BOD
and the Chairman of the BOD, In case while implementing a resolution or decision of the BOD, it
15 found that the problem is not beneficial 1o the Company, CEQ on behalf of the BOM shall report
fo the Chairmean of the BOD to adfust such resolwution or decision. If the BOD does not readjust the
resolution or decision, CEQ must siill implemenr it but has the right to reserve apinions and make
recommendations af the GMS;

Ngoai nhimg vigc thude thim quyén cla HBQT va Chi tich HBQT Ban TGP cé qu}ren chil dﬂng
quyet dmh diéu hanh san xudt kinh doanh cna Céng ty; quyét dinh céc bién phép vugt qud mirc
tham quyén ctia minh trong truémg hop khan edp (thién tai, dich hoa, hod hoan, sy co céde cong
trinh, cdc kién bét kha khing khac vq dé l:ﬁn dung céc co héi kinh dn.::lnh} nhung phéi bao céao ngay
lip Ei'l'c cho Chil tich HDQT vé cdc viin dé va nhimg quyét dinh d6, déng thoi trinh béo cdo tai cudc
hgp gﬁn nhét ctia HDQT vé céac guyét dinh dé;

In addition to matters under the jirisdiction of the BOD and the Chairman of the BOD, the BOM
has the right to proactively decide on the operation of the Company's production and business,
decide onmeaswres beyond their competence in case of emergencies (natural disasters, epidemics,
fires, breakdowns of works, other force majewre events and to take advantage of business
opportunifies) but must immediately report to the Chairman of the BOD on such issues and
decisions, at the same time, submit a report at the latest meeting of the BOD on those decisions;

Chi tich HDQT ¢o thé' méni hode yéu cau HPQT mai thanh vién Ban TGD tham gia cdc cude hop
cha HDQT khi cén thiet;

The Chatrman of the BOD may (nvite or request the BOD to fnvite members of the BOM to
participate in meetings of the BOD when necessary;

Tong giam dbc phéi bao edo voi Chi Tich HDQT vé cac van dé diéu hanh Céng ty. Chu tich HDQT
¢6 quyén yéu ciu hop véi Ban TGD d& xem xét, danh gi4, cho v kién v& cong tac diu hanh cua
Ban TGE;

CEO must report te the Chairman of the BOD on matters of aperation of the Company. The
Chairman of the BOD has the right to request a meeting with the BOM fo consider, evaluate and
give opinions on the administration of the BOM

Céc thinh viégn HBOQT cb qu}f%n nhung khong bét budc tham dy cac budi hop ciia Ban TGD nhung
phéi chju trach nhig¢m tudn thi vige bao vé bi mét kinh doanh cia Cﬁng ty. Cac thanh vién HBQT
phéi thutg xu}ren ndm bt théng tin vé cac don vi thanh vién, don vj trye thuge de thuc hign tdt
chire ndng quén Iy cia HBQT. Tl"ll.t’fﬂ‘lg xuyén ling nghe va xit 1§ kip thoi cic kién nghj ciia cic
dom vi vé céce vin dé thufic thdm qu}'en clia HPOT Cong ty:

Members of the BOD have the right but are not required (o attend the BOM meefings bul must be
responsible for complying with the protection of the Company's business secrets, Members of the
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ANNUAL
U n G ‘ GENERAL
MEETING

QUY CHE BAU CU

THANH VIEN HOI PONG QUAN TRI VA BAN KIEM SOAT NHIEM KY 2025 - 2030
CONG TY CO PHAN VNG
REGULATION OF ELECTION
FOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
FOR THE OFFICE TERM 2025 — 2030 OF VNG CORPORATION

- Can et Lufit Doanh nghiép 2020 sita ddi bd sung nim 2022 va cic vin ban hudng dén thi hanh
(“Luit Doanh Nghiép”),
Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises 2020 amended in 2022 and its guidelines ("Law on
Enterprises”);

- Ciin elr Luét Chitng khodn 2019 sira di bé sung nim 2024 va céc van bian huéng dan thi hanh;
Pursuant to the Law on Securities in 2019 amended in 2024 and its guidelines;

- Cin elir Nghi dinh 155/2020/ND-CP quy dinh chi tiét vé luat chimg khoan (“Nghj Dink 155"); va
Pursuant to Decree 155/2020/ND-CP provides guidance on the Law on Securities ("Decree
F SR I K

- Cin cir Diu Lé cia Cong Ty Cd Phén VNG (“Diéu Lé”).
Pursuant to the VNG Cerporation's Charter (“Charter "),

I, Dii twong va pham vi ap dung:
Entities and scope of application:

- Quy ché niy huéng din cdc dicu kién v thil tuc biu cir thanh vién eiia Héi Béng Quén
Tri (“"HPQT”) va thdnh vién Ban Kiém Sodt (“BKS™) nhiém ky 2025-2030 ciia Céng Ty
C6 Phin VNG (“Cong Ty”);

This Regwdation guides on conditions and procedures about election for members of the
Board of Directors (“BOD") and Board of Supervisors (“BOS") for office term of 20235-
2030 of VNG Corporation (" Company”);

- Céc cb déng tham gia béu cir va tmg cir vién thanh vién HDQT, thanh vién BKS cé trach
nhiém thue hign theo céc ngi dung cia Quy ché nay.
The Shareholders iaking part in election and candidates for the BOD and the BOS
members ave obligated 1o implement this Regulation.

IL  S6lwong, co cAu thanh vién v tiéu chuén img eir vién:
Number, structure of members and candidate standards:

1. Hoi Ddng Quin Tri:
Board of Directors:
1.1. 86 lugng va co cdiu thanh vién (Diéu 2761 Nghi Dinh 155 va Diéu Lé Cong Ty):

BUILD TECHNOLOGIES AND GROW PEQPLE
FROM VIETNAM TO THE WORLD
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Number and structure of members (Article 276.1 of Decree 155 and the Company's
Charter):

Téng s6 thanh vién: tir 03 dén 11 thanh vién;
Total of members: from 03 to 11 members;

Co cu thanh vién HDQT dim bdo sy cén ddi gifia cdc thanh vién diéu hanh vi cée
thanh vién khéng diéu hanh. Téi thidu 1/3 tong s6 thanh vién HDQT phai 1a thanh vién
lhéng didu hanh;

Structure of members of BOD must be balanced in executive member and non-
executive member. At least 1/3 of total members of BOD are non-executive members;

$é lugng thanh vién HRQT déc Lip dam bao ddp (g quy dinh lién quan;

Number of independent BOD member shall subject to relevant regulatory requirement;

Nhiém ky cta thanh vién HPQT: 05 (ndm) ndm;
The office term of the BOD members: 05 (five) years;

Sé lwong tmg vién (g ctt; 04 (bén).
Number of candidates: 04 (four).

1.2, Tiéu chuéin trng cir vién thanh vién HPQT (Piéu 155.1 Ludt Doanh Nghiép):
Qualification of candidates to BOD members (Article 155.1 Law on Enterprises):

- Co du nang lye hanh vi ddn su, khing thude dbi tirgng khong duge quan 1y doanh
nghiép theo quy dinh tai khoan 2 Diéu 18 Luit Doanh Nghiép;
Having fill civil act capacity, not be banned from business administration as
prescribed in Clause 2 Article 18 of Law on Enterprises;

- C6 trinh @6 chuyén mon, kinh nghiém trong quan 1y kinh doanh cfia céng ty v khong
nht thiét phai 14 ¢d déng ciia céng ty; holic
Having gualifications and expervience of business administration and are not
necessavily shareholders of the company; or

- C6 thé ddng thir 14 thanh vién hoi ddng quan trj ciia cong ty khéc, nhng khong qué
05 cong ty.
May concurrently hold the position of members of the board of directors of other
companies but not over five (05) companies.

Ban Kiém Sodt:

Boavrd of Supervisors:

2.1.  Sb6lweng thanh vién BKS (Piéu 168.1 Lugt Doanh Nghiép va Diéu 32.1 Diéu Lé):

Number of members (Article 168.1 Law on Enterprise and Article 32.1 Charter):
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Téng so thanh vién: 03 (ba) thanh vién;
Total of members: 03 (three) members,

Nhiém ky ctia thanh vién BKS: 05 (nam) nam;
Office Term of the BOS members: 05 (five) years;

86 lugng ting vién: 03 (ba).
Number of candidates: 03 (three).

Tiéu chuin Gng cii vién thanh vién BKS (Diéu 169 Ludt Doanh Nghiép, Dieu 286
Nghj Dinh 155 va Diéu 32.2 Diéu L¢):

Qualifications of candidates to the BOS (Article 169 Law on Enterprises, Article 286
of Decree 155 and Article 32.2 Charter):

Tix 21 tudi trd 16n, ¢d di niing lue hanh vi din sy, khong thude di tugng bi céim thinh
1ap va quan 1y doanh nghiép theo quy dinh eiia Ludt Doanh Nghiép;

Being 21 years old or older, having full civil act capacity and not being prohibited
from establishing and managing an enterprise per Law on Enterprises;

Khong phai 1a ngudi lién quan, bao gbm nhung khong giéi han vo hoic chong, cha,
me, cha me nudi, con, con nudi, anh, chi, em rudt ctia thanh vién HPQT, Téng Giam
dbe va ngudi quan 1y khacs

Not a person invelved, including but not limited to spouse, blood parents, adoptive
parents or children and siblings of the members of the BOD, CEQ and other managers

of the Company;

Thanh vién BKS c6 thé lhéng phai 14 ¢d déng hodc ngudi lao déng cia Cong Ty;
Members of the BOS are not necessarily shareholder or employee of the Company:

Thanh vién BKS khong dugce gilt cic chirc vu quan 1y cha chét ena Cong Ty;
Members of the BOS are not key managers of the Company;

Thinh vién BKS khéng phii 13 ngusi 1am vige trong Bo Phin K& Toan, Tai Chinh cia
Cong Ty; hoic 14 thanh vién hay nhén vién cia cong ty kiém toan déc lap thye hién
kiém todn cdc bdo co tii chinh ciia Cong Ty;

Members of the BOS do not work in the accounting and finance departments of
Company; or a member or employee of the independent auditing firm auditing the
financial statements of the Company;

ft nhét 01 thanh vién 13 ké toan vién hodc kiém toan vién va phai cd hon mét nira (1/2)
s thanh vién thudmg trit tai Vigt Nam.

At least one (01) member is an accountant or auditor and must have more than half
(1/2) of the members permanently vesiding in Vietnam.
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Quy dinh vé viéc biu cir thinh vién HDQT va BKS nhigm ky 2025-2030 tai DHDCD
thudng nién 2025 (Diéu 148.3 Luit Doanh Nghiép):

Regulation on the voting the BOD and BOS members for office term of 2025-2030 at the
AGM 2025 (Article 148.3 Law on Enferprises):

31

3.2!

Nguyén the biu e thanh vien HDQT va BKS:
Principles of vofing:

Ping ludt, ding Didu L§;
In accordance with Law and Charter;

Phwong thire bo phiéu kin;
Secret ballot,

Quyén bau -:u‘ dm;rc tinh theu sb cb phan S dai dién s hitu, Két qua bau cir duge
tinh trén sd ¢b phin ¢6 qu],'en biéu quyét ciia cd ddng du hop; va
Voting rights are caleulated according to the number of shares owned and owned by

representatives. The voting results are calculated on the number of voting shares of

altending shareholders; and

M3i 1in biu cir, mét dai biéu cb dong chi duoce sir dung mét phiéu bau twong tng voi
6 phén s& hitu, dai dién s¢ hiru,

At each election, a shareholder delegate may use anly one vote corresponding to the
shares owned or ovwned by ithe represeniative.

Phurong thike biu cii:
Method of election:

Thue hién theo phuong thirc biu khong don phleu theo dé mm ch dong cb tong 50
phiéu bicu quyét ttmrng {ng véi tdng s6 cb phin s& hitu va cd dong khong cb quyén
ddn hét thng s6 phidu bau cia minh cho mdt holie mét s tmg cir vién;

Implementing with the method of non-aecumnlative voting: whereby each shareholder
shall have his total number of votes that is equal to the total number of veting shares
he owns. The shareholder shall not have the right to accumulate all his voies for one
or more candidates;

Cé dcmg thue hién viée bdu et bang hinh thire dién & thong qua hé 1]1{%113 b phiéu
truc tuyen nhut duge huéng din tai Thu mai hop va/hode email cung cap tai khodn va
mat khiu béu cir dién tir;

Shareholders shall cast their votes electronically through the online voting system as
instructed in the Invitation of meeting and/or the email providing the electronic voting
account and password,
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- Viéc bo phiéu bau cir qua hé thong trye tuyén duge bét diu va két thie duoe xde dinh
theo théng bio cua Chu tga tai enge hop. Ké tir thoi didm két thie ba phiéu dién ti,
viée bo phiéu trén hé théng tryc I:uyén sé bj dong, va Cd déng khang co qu}rén thay doi
bat cir ni dung nao da bo phiéu;

Online voting shall commence and conclude as anmounced by the Chairperson of the
meeting. From the time electronic voting closes, the online voting system will be
locked, and Shareholders shall not alter any content of their cast votes,

- Phiéu biu duoe xem la hop 1€ khi:
Voting slip is considered valid, if:

(i) St dung tai khodn vi mit khiu cia tai khodn bé phiéu dién i do Ban td chirc
ciia Céng Ty gt t6i dia chi thw dién tir ma cb déng di ding ky dé thye hién
béu cir dién tir;

Using electronic voting account and password provided by the Organizer of
the Company to the shareholders’ registered email to perform electronic
election;

(i)  Phiéu biu phai la théng diép dit liéu toan ven, khéng bi can thiép vi‘hodc chinh
sira;
Be intact electronic message, and not subjected to any intervention and/or
modification;

(i)  Bhu ding vA di cic vin d& cin bifu quyét va theo chi tiéu da d& ra. Téng sb
phidu biu cho edc tmg cir vién ciia mdt (4 ddng khéng vuot qui tong s6 phieu
béu duge phép clia C6 déng dé; va
Vote correctly and fully 1o all election-reguired matters and in accordance
with the aforementioned specifications. Total number of votes for ithe
candidates from a Shareholder shall not exceed the total number of votes
allowed, and

(iv)  Tuan thi diing cdc quy dinh néu trén vé phuong thire biu cir.
Duly comply with provisions of methods of election set forth.

- Phiéu bau khéng hop 18 la nhitmg phiu biu khang didm bio cic quy dinh néu trén, bao
gdm nhung khang giéi han vugt qud sb tmg vién cin biu; vugt qua tdng s6 phiéu duee
phép biu; phiéu khong do Céng Ty phat hanh; phiéu khang ¢6 chir ky/xée nhén cia ¢b
déng/ dai dién cb déng; phiéu ghi thém néi dung khie vao phiéu bau; phiéu khong ¢6
bét lcy ndi dung v kién nao (phiéu triing).

Invalid ballots ave those that fail to comply with the aforementioned rvegulations,
including but not limited to ballots that exceed the required number of candidates to
be elected; exceed the total number of vetes permitted; not being issued by the
Company; lack the signature/confirmation of the shareholder or authorized
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3.4.

shareholder representative; contain additional content beyond the designated voting

fields; or contain no expressed opinion (blank vote).

Nguyén tic lya chon tng et vién fring et vao HDQT va BKS:
The principle of selection candidates to be elected to the BOD and BOS:

Ngudi tring cit thanh vién HDQT va BKS 13 ngusi ¢ s6 phiéu bau lay tir cao xudng
thip cho dén khi du sb chi tidu thinh vién HPQT va BKS va ddm bio sb phiéu lém
hon hoiic bing 65% sb phiéu biu c6 quyén biéu quyét.

Candidates elected as members of the BOD and the BOS shall be those who receive
the highest number of votes, in descending order, until the required number of BOD
and BOS members is mei, provided that their voles constitute at least 65% of the total
votes cast by shareholders with voting rights.

Trm‘}rng hop c6 tir 02 tng clt vién tré 1én dat cing sb phiéu bau nhu nhau cho thanh
v1c11 cudi cung cia HPQT hodc BKS thi sé tién hanh bau lai trong s6 cdc ling cir vién
¢t s6 phiéu bau ngang nhau hoiic luya chon theo tiéu chi quy ché béu cir,

If there are 02 or more candidates with the same number of voies for the last member
of the BOD or the BOS, they will be re-voted among the candidates with equal voles or
selected by electoral regulation eriteria.

Cong bd két qua tring ci;
Announcing the election resulis:

Cin e vio Bién ban kiém phiéu, két qua bau cir thinh vién HDQT va BKS nhiém ky
2025-2030 duge Ban Kiém Phiéu c6ng bd ngay tai Dai Héi. Két qui ndy sé dwoc ghi
nhin tai Nghi quyét ciia Dai Hi Déng CH Dang.

Based on the minutes of vote counting, election results of BOD and BOS members for
office term of 2025-2030 will be announced at the AGM. This result will be recorded
in the Resolutions of the GMS.

Hiéu lwe thi hanh:
Implementation effect:

Quy ché nay duge doc tai PHDCP trudéce khi tien hinh ba phidu biu cir. Néu quy ché dugc
PHDCP thong qua véi ty 1€ 65% trd 1én s& o hiéu lue bét buéc thi hanh dbi vai tit ca C&

Béong.

This Regulation shall be present at the AGM before voting proceeding. If this Regulation
approved by GMS with 65% or more, it will be effective and enforceable to all Shareholders.

Quy ché nay chi 4p dung cho viée biu ci thanh vién HPQT va BKS nhig¢m ki 2025-2030 va
s& hét hiéu hre khi hoan thanh nhiém vy cia Quy Ché,

This Regulation applies only to the election of BOD and BOS members for office ferm of
2025-2030 and shall be ceased upon completion of its mission.
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